
NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting Cabinet

Date and Time Monday, 18th June, 2018 at 10.30 am

Place Wellington Room, EII Court, The Castle, Winchester

Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk

John Coughlan CBE
Chief Executive
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ

FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website.  
The meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Filming Protocol available on the County Council’s website.

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to Part 3 Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members’ Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is 
discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with 
Paragraph 1.6 of the Code.  Furthermore all Members with a Personal 
Interest in a matter being considered at the meeting should consider, 
having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 4 of the Code, whether such interest 
should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 5 of the 
Code, consider whether it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance 
with the Code.

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 20)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting

4. DEPUTATIONS  

To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12.

Public Document Pack



5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make.

6. END OF YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT 2017/18  (Pages 21 - 66)

To consider a report of the Director of Corporate Resources setting out 
the end of year financial position 2017/18

7. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  (Pages 67 - 116)

To consider a report of the Director of Corporate Resources regarding 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy

8. SERVING HAMPSHIRE - 2017/18 PERFORMANCE REPORT  (Pages 
117 - 146)

To consider a report of the Chief Executive and Head of Law and 
Governance regarding the County Council’s performance for 2017/18

9. THE DIRECTOR OF CULTURE, COMMUNITIES AND BUSINESS 
SERVICES  (Pages 147 - 152)

To consider a report of the Chief Executive seeking Cabinet approval for 
the recruitment of a new Director of Culture, Communities and Business 
Services 

10. CHANGES IN RESPONSIBILITIES FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS  
(Pages 153 - 172)

To consider a report of the Chief Executive regarding responsibilities for 
Executive functions following recent revisions by the Leader of the 
Council. 

ABOUT THIS AGENDA:
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages.

ABOUT THIS MEETING:
The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance.

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses.



This page is intentionally left blank



AT A MEETING of the Cabinet of HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL held at the 
Castle, Winchester on Monday, 16th April, 2018

Chairman:
* Councillor Roy Perry

 Councillor Keith Mans
 Councillor Peter Edgar
* Councillor Liz Fairhurst
* Councillor Andrew Gibson
* Councillor Rob Humby

* Councillor Andrew Joy
* Councillor Mel Kendal
* Councillor Stephen Reid
* Councillor Patricia Stallard

Also present with the agreement of the Chairman: Councillors Bennison, Carter, Heron, 
Huxstep, Latham and Porter.

48.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillors Edgar and Mans.

49.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code. Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they 
considered whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 
5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code.

50.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes from the meeting of 5 February 2018 were agreed

51.  DEPUTATIONS 

No requests to make a deputation had been received. 

It was noted that with the agreement of the Chairman, Councillor Jackie Porter 
would speak on the item relating to a Public Health partnership with the Isle of 
Wight Council and on the item regarding supporting children’s services in 
Buckinghamshire. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



52.  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman reported that Councillor Edgar and Councillor Bolton who had 
both recently been taken ill were making progress and confirmed that the 
Council’s best wishes had been conveyed to them. 

Forthcoming meetings, including with the Chichester Harbour Conservancy, with 
the Romanian Ambassador, and regarding the role of local government in 
education were highlighted. 

Tribute was paid to County Council staff and the numerous volunteers who had 
worked to maintain essential services during recent bad weather. It was noted 
that the weather had caused around £10 million damage to Hampshire roads, 
the repair of which was only partially covered by a £3 million grant from 
government. 

With regard to devolution, the Chairman confirmed that having written to all 
Council Leaders in the greater Hampshire area, the majority had indicated a 
willingness to discuss devolution further following the local elections in May 
2018. 

The Chairman highlighted that the memorial service for former Leader Ken 
Thornber would take place on 26 April.
 

53.  TRANSFORMATION TO 2019: REPORT NO. 3 

Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive providing an update on the 
Transformation to 2019 programme. 

The report was introduced and it was highlighted that following previous 
resolutions of Cabinet, a number of savings targets had been removed from the 
programme and measures had been implemented to achieve the overall savings 
requirement. High confidence was reported in the deliverability of 45 percent of 
the programme. Ongoing work to further improve productivity, including through 
automation was drawn to Cabinet’s attention. Pressures in the provision of care 
for the elderly and in care for vulnerable children were also identified. 

Cabinet welcomed the report and noted that the cumulative savings of £480 
million were not the whole story as further, consequential savings and income, 
such as resulting from energy savings were not included. Members 
acknowledged that meeting the inflationary pressures in key areas of service 
provision as well as achieving savings had resulted in a number of difficult 
decisions. The income strategy, in particular of becoming a provider of services 
to other authorities was praised as being both a reliable source of income and in 
the wider public benefit. 

The recommendations in the report were proposed and agreed. The decision 
record is attached.

Page 6



54.  ADULTS, HEALTH AND CARE - VISION & STRATEGY 

Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults Health and Care regarding 
the department’s vision and strategy. 

In introducing the report, it was confirmed that the vision and strategy had been 
prepared in consultation with partners, that it sought to identify activity to 
manage demand, to support independent living and to promote the use of 
technology enabled care. It was furthermore noted that the development of the 
extra-care programme was underpinned by substantial capital investment. 

Welcoming the report, Cabinet agreed that it showed the Council to be fit for the 
future whilst addressing the financial position. The ability of Hampshire County 
Council to continue to run its own in house care provision was recognised as 
being a result of a strong financial position and ongoing development was a 
good use of the capital programme. A number of examples of technology 
enabled care were discussed and the potential to take this forward in conjunction 
with partners in the NHS, in particular in the area of tele-medicine was identified. 

The recommendations in the report were proposed and agreed. The decision 
record is attached.

55.  DEVELOPING A STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP FOR PUBLIC  HEALTH 
BETWEEN HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL AND THE ISLE OF WIGHT 
COUNCIL 

Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health regarding the 
development of a strategic partnership between the County Council and the Isle 
of Wight Council. 

With reference to the report, it was explained that initially an interim arrangement 
would exist between the two Councils in order that the options for a longer term 
partnership could be explored. The different phases of this were outlined and it 
was confirmed that there would be no detriment to the provision of public health 
in Hampshire. Furthermore, the Isle of Wight Council would retain full political 
control for provision on the Island. The partnership would be on a cost recovery 
basis. 

With the agreement of the Chairman, Councillor Jackie Porter addressed 
Cabinet. She expressed some concern that based on her experience of the 
Children’s Services department, such partnership activity, including the travel 
requirements had the potential to stretch officers beyond their capacity and 
therefore did pose a risk to service delivery. Highlighting areas such as 
breastfeeding, vaccination rates and children’s mental health where 
improvements were needed in Hampshire, Councillor Porter suggested that 
consideration should be given as to whether a long term partnership was right to 
enter into. 

The Executive Member for Public Health confirmed that she was confident 
partnership working with the Isle of Wight Council would not be to the detriment 
of Hampshire. She explained that the initial position was for a six month period 

Page 7



and a further report would come to Cabinet in the autumn. She offered to meet 
with Councillor Porter and the Director to discuss her concerns. 

Cabinet clarified that the cost recovery mechanism did not leave Hampshire 
vulnerable and recognised that partnership work in the Children’s Services 
department had provided opportunities for officers to develop. It was also agreed 
that using the Council’s scale and capacity to support a neighbouring authority 
was the right thing to do. 

With regard to the specific areas identified by Councillor Porter, the Director 
provided clarification around the work being undertaken to support emotional 
wellbeing in young people, working with schools. She explained that 
vaccinations were delivered by Public Health England and there was close and 
pro-active work from the Hampshire team to provide reassurance support to this. 
It was acknowledged that in Hampshire, as in many areas, breastfeeding was 
challenging to support and for this reason was a high priority. It was confirmed 
that the partnership with the Isle of Wight would not reduce any work in 
Hampshire. 

The Chief Executive provided further context, explaining that there was a shift in 
the delivery and commissioning of services across the country and it was in the 
County Council’s interests to use its scale and capacity to become an authority 
that others could call upon for support. Underpinning this strategy was the 
priority of protecting the delivery of service provision in Hampshire. 

The recommendations in the report were proposed and agreed. The decision 
record is attached.

56.  SUPPORTING CHILDREN'S SERVICES IN BUCKINGHAMSHIRE 

Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding support for 
Children’s Services in Buckinghamshire. 

The background of Buckinghamshire’s need for external support following a 
failed Ofsted inspection was outlined to Cabinet. As a result Hampshire County 
Council’s Chief Executive had been identified as the DfE Commissioner for 
Buckinghamshire, with the County Council an improvement partner. In the vein 
of the context provided by the Chief Executive under the previous item on the 
agenda, it was explained that this arrangement fitted with the current drive for 
sector led improvement on a regional basis. The department’s commitments in 
Torbay were coming to an end following the establishment of a long-term 
support solution and therefore it was felt that capacity existed to enter into such 
an arrangement.

With the agreement of the Chairman Councillor Porter addressed Cabinet. She 
felt there was a need for caution on the same basis as she had identified under 
the previous item on the agenda. She noted that it was 80 miles to 
Buckinghamshire and had similar concerns around the pressure on staff 
especially in combination with the need to achieve T19 savings. Councillor 
Porter welcomed confirmation that Hampshire children would remain the priority, 
but found it difficult to see how an impact would not be felt. 

Page 8



The Chief Executive confirmed that in the children’s services environment post 
Haringey, a number of local authorities are likely to need long term support. This 
was the position that the Isle of Wight had found themselves in and in providing 
such support, Hampshire had developed the capacity and experience to be able 
to support other authorities, such as Torbay and Buckinghamshire to assist them 
in the short term and enable them to find their own long term solution. 

Cabinet welcomed the assurance that any risk associated with partnership work 
such as this could be managed and were agreed that Hampshire should provide 
support to others where it was able to do so. It was furthermore noted that other 
large County Councils, such as Essex were in a similar position and Members 
agreed that support within the sector was preferable to outsourcing to private 
companies. 

The recommendations in the report were proposed and agreed. The decision 
record is attached.

57.  CONSTITUTIONAL MATTERS 

Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding an update to the 
Constitution. Noting that this would extend the ability to appoint substitute 
members to Council committees, the recommendations in the report were 
agreed. The decision record is attached. 

Chairman, 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Executive Decision Record 

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 16 April 2018

Title: Transformation to 2019: Report No. 3

Report From: Chief Executive

Contact name: John Coughlan

Tel:   01962 846400 Email: john.coughlan@hants.gov.uk

1. The decision:
1.1. That Cabinet:

a) Notes the changes to the programme content approved by Full Council 
at its February meeting in relation to the removal of £5.3m of universal 
savings proposals covering School Crossing Patrols, Community 
Transport, Bus Subsidies and Household Waste and Recycling Centres 
– section 2.

b) Notes, as a consequence of the above, the adjusted £140m Tt2019 
programme breakdown and the individual Department targets - section 3 
and Appendix 1;

c) Notes the latest Tt2019 programme risk assessment, including the early 
securing of £34m of savings - section 5.

 
d) Notes that 7 service specific Tt2019 public consultations are planned to 

take place before the end of 2018 with 4 of these set to happen in the 
second half of this year - section 5.

e) Notes the progress and strong contributions being made by the three 
enabling projects to the programme; Digital, Productivity and 
Procurement – section 6.

f) Approves a sum of £500,000 from central contingencies to provide 
additional support service capacity as required by the programme and to 
delegate approval for drawing down this funding to the Chief Executive 
in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources and the 
Executive Member for Policy and Resources – section 7.

g) Notes that programme progress will continue to be monitored closely 
and that regular updates will be provided to Cabinet throughout 2018 
and beyond – section 8.

Page 11

mailto:john.coughlan@hants.gov.uk


h) Agrees to continue to lobby Government in respect of new charging 
powers aimed specifically at raising income that will be used to protect 
important universal services into the future e.g. Household Waste 
Recycling Centres, or to enable other specific savings proposals not to 
be implemented or for their impact to be mitigated. 

2. Reason for the decision:
2.1. To provide an update on progress with Transformation to 2019, including the 

early achievement of savings.

3. Other options considered and rejected:
3.1.None.

4. Conflicts of interest:
4.1.Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None.
4.2.Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted: None.

5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel:   None. 

6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: Not applicable.

7. Statement from the Decision Maker: 

Approved by:

--------------------------------------------------

Date:

16 April 2018

Chairman of Cabinet
Councillor Roy Perry

Page 12



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Executive Decision Record 

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 16 April 2018

Title: Adults, Health and Care – Vision & Strategy

Report From: Director of Adults’ Health and Care

Contact name: Paul Archer 

Tel:   01962 846124 Email: Paul.archer@hants.gov.uk

1. The decision:
1.1. That Cabinet:

a) Note and endorse the updated Adults’ Health and Care Vision which is 
focused on maximising independence and people living long, healthy and 
happier lives.

b) Acknowledge and support an accompanying five year Strategy which 
focuses on prevention, independent living and facilitating or directly 
enabling accommodation solutions, building upon the existing corporate 
strategy.

c) Supports those elements of this wider strategy, summarised in Section 5 
and 6 of the report, which capitalise on Hampshire County Council’s unique 
sustained capacity, in finances and personnel, to build on the direct 
provision of high quality care, especially in support of patients leaving 
hospital.

d) Endorse the target achievements that the Strategy is aiming to deliver on, 
noting the dependencies and required contributions from other parts of the 
County Council.

e) Note the development and importance of other related documents that 
together form a suite of significant departmental publications that will guide 
and influence our future actions and activities to support our population, 
work with partners and provide guidance to our providers e.g. service 
specific Market Position Statements.

2. Reason for the decision:
2.1. To affirm the Adults’ Health and Care Vision that is focused on maximising  

independence and quality of life.

Page 13



3. Other options considered and rejected:
3.1.None.

4. Conflicts of interest:
4.1.Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None.
4.2.Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted: None.

5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel:   None. 

6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: Not applicable.

7. Statement from the Decision Maker: 

Approved by:

--------------------------------------------------

Date:

16 April 2018

Chairman of Cabinet
Councillor Roy Perry

Page 14



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Executive Decision Record 

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 16 April 2018

Title: Developing a Strategic Partnership for Public Health between 
Hampshire County Council and the Isle of Wight Council

Report From: Director of Public Health and Director of Adults’ Health and 
Care 

Contact Name: Dr Sallie Bacon, Director of Public Health

Tel:   02380 383329 Email: Sallie.bacon@hants.gov.uk 

1. The decision:
1.1. That Cabinet:
a) Endorse the actions taken up to the date of the report and approve the 

arrangement for Hampshire County Council to take steps in developing a 
strategic partnership between Hampshire County Council and Isle of Wight 
Council for the delivery of Public Health services on the Isle of Wight.

b) Formally approve in principle the headline terms of that agreement as outlined 
in Section 4 of the report.  

c) Formally agree the project management and governance arrangements as 
described in Section 7 of the report.

d) Agree to receive a further report in September 2018 in order to give 
consideration to a more detailed draft agreement for a longer term partnership 
between Hampshire County Council and Isle of Wight Council for delivery of 
Public Health services on the Isle of Wight.   

2. Reason for the decision:
2.1. This decision supports the actions taken up to the date of the report regarding 

the interim partnership and agrees proposals towards a longer term 
agreement between Hampshire County Council and Isle of Wight Council for 
the oversight and delivery of Isle of Wight Public Health responsibilities and 
services by Hampshire County Council

3. Other options considered and rejected:
3.1.None.

Page 15

mailto:Sallie.bacon@hants.gov.uk


4. Conflicts of interest:
4.1.Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None.
4.2.Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted: None.

5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel:   None. 

6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: Not applicable.

7. Statement from the Decision Maker: 

Approved by:

--------------------------------------------------

Date:

16 April 2018

Chairman of Cabinet
Councillor Roy Perry

Page 16



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Executive Decision Record 

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 16 April 2018

Title: Supporting Children’s Services in Buckinghamshire

Report From: Chief Executive 

Contact name: John Coughlan

Tel:   01962 845252 Email: John.coughlan@hants.gov.uk

1. The decision:
1.1. That Cabinet:
a) Notes the report and the developing role of Hampshire County Council as an 

improvement partner in children’s services;
b) Endorses the actions taken to date and approves the arrangement for 

Hampshire County Council to become the Improvement Partner with 
Buckinghamshire County Council, including the role of the Chief Executive as 
the DfE Commissioner for Buckinghamshire and the role of the Director of 
Children’s Services (DCS) overseeing the improvement programme;

c) Notes also the continuing progress of the equivalent relationship with Torbay 
Borough Council.

2. Reason for the decision:
2.1. To approve a newly established formal relationship with Buckinghamshire 

County Council on behalf of the Department for Education.

3. Other options considered and rejected:
3.1. None.

4. Conflicts of interest:
4.1. Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None.
4.2. Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted: None.

5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel:   None. 

Page 17



6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: Not applicable.

7. Statement from the Decision Maker: 

Approved by:

--------------------------------------------------

Date:

16 April 2018

Chairman of Cabinet
Councillor Roy Perry

Page 18



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Executive Decision Record 

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 16 April 2018

Title: Constitutional Matters 

Report From: Chief Executive

Contact name: Barbara Beardwell

Tel:   01962 845157 Email: barbara.beardwell@hants.gov.uk

1. The decision:
1.1. That Cabinet:
a) Recommends to the County Council that provision in the Constitution in 

respect of the appointment of Substitute Members in the case of each 
Political Group represented on Committees and Standing Panels of the 
County Council to which proportionality applies be amended, so that up to two 
Substitute Members per Political Group be appointed in accordance with this 
provision. 

b) That subject to the approval of the County Council delegated authority be 
given to the Monitoring Officer to amend the Constitution to give effect to the 
recommendation at paragraph 1.1 in the report.

2. Reason for the decision:
2.1. To seek Cabinet’s approval to the proposal set out in the report in respect of 

the appointment of Substitute Members to Committees and Standing Panels 
of the County Council to which proportionality applies.

3. Other options considered and rejected:
3.1. None.

4. Conflicts of interest:
4.1. Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None.
4.2. Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted: None.

5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel:   None. 

Page 19



6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: Not applicable.

7. Statement from the Decision Maker: 

Approved by:

--------------------------------------------------

Date:

16 April 2018

Chairman of Cabinet
Councillor Roy Perry

Page 20



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Cabinet
County Council

Date: 18 June 2018
19 July 2018

Title: 2017/18 – End of Year Financial Report

Report From: Director of Corporate Resources – Corporate Services

Contact name: Rob Carr, Head of Finance

Tel:   01962 847508 Email: Rob.Carr@hants.gov.uk

1. Recommendations
RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET
It is recommended that Cabinet:

1.1 Approves the outturn position set out in Section 3.
1.2 Approves the transfer of £6.25m to the Insurance Reserve to increase the 

reserve in line with most recent actuarial review.
1.3 Approves the transfer of £0.5m to the Investment Risk Reserve.
1.4 Approves the allocation of £1.4m of the net corporate savings to enable the 

County Council to provide funding to undertake vital remedial work to the 
county’s road network following the prolonged cold and wet period.

1.5 Approves the transfer of the balance of the net corporate savings of 
approaching £17m to the Grant Equalisation Reserve (GER).

1.6 Approves the increase of service capital programme cash limits for 2018/19 to 
reflect the carry forward of capital programme schemes and shares of capital 
receipts, as set out in Appendix 3.

1.7 Recommends to County Council that:
a) The report on the County Council’s treasury management activities and 

prudential indicators set out in Appendix 2 be approved.
RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNTY COUNCIL
This single report is used for both the Cabinet and County Council meetings, 
the recommendations below are the Cabinet recommendations to County 
Council and may therefore be changed following the actual Cabinet meeting.
County Council is recommended to approve:
a) The report on the County Council’s treasury management activities and 

prudential indicators set out in Appendix 2.

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



2. Executive Summary 
2.1 This report provides a summary of the 2017/18 final accounts.  The draft 

statement of accounts was submitted for audit on the 31 May 2018 and will be 
reported to the Audit Committee in July, in conjunction with the External Audit 
report on the accounts.

2.2 Net service cash-limited expenditure was £10.4m lower than budgeted against 
an overall gross budget of approaching £1.9bn, a variance in the region of 
0.5%.  This position reflects the County Council’s continuing successful 
financial strategy of early delivery of resources from proposals in advance of 
need which provides funding that can then be used to meet the costs of 
change, to cash flow the delivery of savings or to offset service pressures.

2.3 The position for each of the departments is summarised in the table below:

Variance 
(Under) / Over 

Budget
£'000

Adults’ Health and Care                       0
Children's Services - Non Schools                       0
Economy, Transport and Environment (4,982)
Policy and Resources (5,451)
Total Departmental Expenditure (10,433)

2.4 The position for Adults’ Health and Care reflects sustained management 
activity during the year to control spend in the face of well publicised care 
pressures.  In addition, the effective use of the Improved Better Care Fund 
(IBCF), the conclusion of the Transformation to 2017 (Tt2017) Programme and 
the early realisation of £0.7m of savings have all contributed to balancing the 
position at the end of the year.

2.5 The break even position in Children’s Services equally reflects significant 
management activity which has seen work to limit, as far as possible, 
pressures in the Children Looked After (CLA) budget, that continue to grow 
due to increasing activity levels and higher average costs due to the type of 
care being provided and the availability of that care.  This alongside the early 
delivery of resources, use of cost of change reserves and agreed corporate 
support (including an additional £7.2m allocated at the end of the year) has 
resulted in a balanced position.

2.6 The final outturn position for Economy, Transport and Environment (ETE) 
shows savings against the budget of almost £5.0m due to early delivery of 
resources and savings primarily in Highways Traffic and Transport of which 
£0.6m relates to the winter maintenance budget that will be spent in 2018/19 
as part of a remedial programme required following the prolonged very cold 
and wet start to 2018.

2.7 Policy and Resources achieved a saving against budget of approaching 
£5.5m, mainly due to ongoing efficiency savings and the early achievement of 
2019/20 savings.

Page 22



2.8 The net savings within ETE and Policy and Resources have been set aside for 
use by the respective services to meet restructuring and investment costs 
associated with the Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) Programme and beyond, 
in accordance with the current financial management policy and the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

2.9 In addition within ETE it is specifically proposed to again reinvest available 
funding associated with the winter maintenance budget in highways 
maintenance to provide additional one-off resources to supplement existing 
maintenance programmes.  This flexibility was approved in February by 
Cabinet and County Council.

2.10 Schools are facing increasing financial pressure relating to high needs and 
early years, both at an individual school level and within the overall schools’ 
budget.  In 2017/18 the overall position has been balanced through the use of 
the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Reserve however, the balance was not 
sufficient to cover these pressures in full.  As a consequence, the resulting 
DSG deficit of £4.5m will be covered as part of the allocation of school budgets 
in 2018/19 to achieve a balanced position.

2.11 Savings on non-cash limited budgets total £25.1m.  This is mainly as a result 
of treasury management activity (including the achievement a return of more 
than 4% from higher yielding investments) and unused contingencies.  
Contingencies were in the main set aside in recognition of the increased risk in 
the budget due to ongoing pressures within social care, together with the fact 
that a further £98m was removed from the budget in 2017/18.

2.12 This report recommends that of these corporate savings £6.25m be added to 
the Insurance Reserve to increase the reserve in line with most recent 
actuarial review and £0.5m be added to the Investment Risk Reserve.  

2.13 In addition, it is proposed that:

 £1.4m is allocated to provide funding to undertake vital remedial work to 
the county’s road network following the prolonged cold and wet period.  
This additional investment, along with the £0.6m from the 2017/18 winter 
maintenance budget (as referred to above in paragraph 2.6) will 
complement the Government’s one-off pothole grant funding of £3.0m in 
2018/19 to provide a total sum of £5m for this purpose. 

 The balance of approaching £17m is transferred to the Grant Equalisation 
Reserve (GER) bringing the unallocated amount in the reserve up to circa 
£29.4m, in preparation for any future draw required beyond 2020 as set 
out in the MTFS which is presented elsewhere on the Agenda for 
approval.  More detail is set in the table in paragraph 3.52.

2.14 The report contains a small section on reserves and balances highlighting that 
in line with the MTFS, the level of reserves has risen as we prepare for 
planned draws in the period to 2019/20 and beyond.

2.15 The report also recommends approval of:

 The annual report on the operation of the treasury management strategy, 
for subsequent approval by the County Council.

 The County Council’s end of year prudential indicators.

Page 23



 A revised capital financing plan for 2018/19.

3. 2017/18 Revenue Outturn

Service Cash Limits
3.1 The table below summarises the net outturn position for each department 

compared to the final cash limit for the year.  The figures exclude schools 
spending but include cost of change paid for during 2017/18:

Variance 
(Under) / Over 

Budget
£'000

Adults’ Health and Care                       0
Children's Services - Non Schools                       0
Economy, Transport and Environment (4,982)
Policy and Resources (5,451)
Total Departmental Expenditure (10,433)

3.2 The third quarter monitoring position indicated that most departments, with the 
exception of Children’s Services, were anticipating that they would be able to 
manage the large-scale investment required to deliver their planned 
transformation activity and to meet service pressures through the use of cost of 
change and other reserves, along with agreed corporate funding.

3.3 Strong financial management has remained a key focus throughout the year to 
ensure that all departments stay within their cash limits, that no new revenue 
pressures are created and that they deliver the savings programmes that have 
been approved.  Enhanced financial resilience monitoring, which looks not only 
at the regular financial reporting but also at potential pressures in the system 
and the early achievement of savings being delivered through transformation, 
has continued through periodic reports to the Corporate Management Team 
(CMT) and to Cabinet.

3.4 This focus has ensured that at the end of the year the final position is in line 
with expectations and that departments have delivered resources early, which 
will provide funding that can then be used to meet the costs of change and to 
cash flow the delivery of savings or offset service pressures.  

3.5 For Children’s Services, revised funding for growth in Children Looked After 
(CLA) numbers, and in turn the knock on impact for care leavers, was agreed 
in February and that, alongside continued management focus, has enabled the 
Department to deliver a balanced position at the end of the year.

3.6 Key issues across each of the departments are highlighted in the paragraphs 
below and whilst pressures within social care services remain the highest risk 
and most volatile area of the County Council’s budget the impact of successive 
savings programmes along with other service pressures means that all 
departments are facing financial pressure at the present time.

Page 24



Adults’ Health and Care
3.7 Adults’ Health and Care have successfully contained the well publicised care 

pressures and delivered a breakeven financial position in 2017/18.  This has 
been achieved in part through consistent and wider application of a strengths 
based approach to assessing clients care needs alongside the utilisation of 
one off funding; made available through grants and the Improved Better Care 
Fund (IBCF).  

3.8 However, these sources of funding will only mitigate the pressure in the short 
term.  Looking further ahead this non-recurrent funding will cease and over the 
same period it is anticipated that further care provision pressures will arise 
from both increases in demand and complexity of clients’ needs and from care 
costs to ensure market stability.  Together this provides a major budgetary 
challenge to the Department that will require close monitoring and corporate 
support in future years.  

3.9 In addition to meeting existing demand and costs pressures the majority of the 
IBCF funding has been spent on initiatives that support long term change and 
transformation of services, including those that benefit Health and that provide 
stability within the care market.  The full funding allocation of £17m, for 
2017/18 was spent in year by the Department. 

3.10 Although it had been agreed by Cabinet that £13.1m of the Adults 
Transformation to 2017 (Tt2017) savings could be delayed to 2018/19 this has 
not been required.  Earlier in the year there was sufficient confidence to close 
the Tt2017 Programme on the basis that the required further savings were 
guaranteed in 2018/19.  Further to this the outturn position reported now 
indicates that the Department have fully mitigated all of the £13.1m savings in 
2017/18, one year ahead of schedule. 

3.11 The achievement of Tt2017 coupled with the early realisation of £0.7m of the 
Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) Programme has placed the Department in a 
far stronger position as we move into 2018/19 to support both the costs of the 
Tt2019 programme and to cash flow the delivery of their savings. 

3.12 Public Health ended the year with a balanced position, after making a 
contribution to the ring-fenced reserve of £1.7m.  This has been achieved 
through planned work to deliver efficiencies and innovation within existing 
services in advance of future reductions in funding, including holding 
vacancies in the Public Health team and making reductions in contractual and 
non-contractual spend.  The 2017/18 closing balance of the Public Health 
Reserve is £7.8m and it is planned to utilise this reserve over the short term to 
provide investment for further initiatives to drive down recurring costs and to 
offset reductions in the grant that will occur prior to the savings being 
achieved.

Children’s Services
3.13 Children’s Services have seen the number of CLA, including Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) continue to grow during 2017/18, well above 
the levels that were forecast.  In addition, there are other increasing cost 
pressures, particularly in relation to care leavers and the cost of agency staff.

Page 25



3.14 Nationally there is growing attention being focused on the pressures facing 
children’s services and analysis by the Local Government Association (LGA) 
published in the summer last year highlighted that growing demand for support 
is leading to over spends in an increasing number of authorities.

3.15 The Department have applied strong focus to these pressures and the 
reported position is break even, reflecting the pro-active management of the 
services together with early delivery of savings, the use of the departmental 
reserves and agreed corporate support; including additional support of £7.2m 
approved in February as part of budget setting.  However, these pressures 
continue to be areas of some concern in Children’s Services and will be closely 
monitored throughout the current year.  

3.16 Funding has been set aside within contingencies to provide for the projected 
growth in CLA numbers (and in turn the knock on impact for care leavers) in 
2018/19 and beyond.  It is now anticipated that a further increase in funding is 
required to meet the financial consequences of updated growth projections 
and more detail is contained in the MTFS presented elsewhere on this 
Agenda.  

3.17 Other challenges faced by the Department relate to the short supply of 
qualified social workers, an increase in the numbers of care leavers and the 
costs associated with the provision of school transport, mainly relating to those 
with special educational needs.

3.18 Further corporate support has been agreed to help alleviate the pressures 
being felt in these areas as part of the previous MTFS in October 2017, 
including funding to cover costs to grow social worker capacity through 
increased recruitment and improved retention.  These amounts, together with 
the revised funding for growth in CLA numbers (and in turn the knock on 
impact for care leavers) set out in the updated MTFS presented elsewhere on 
this Agenda, alongside continued management focus on the other pressure 
areas, will help the Department to operate from a firmer financial base as work 
on the challenging transformation programme progresses.

Economy, Transport and Environment
3.19 The final outturn position for Economy, Transport and Environment (ETE) 

shows a saving against the budget of almost £5.0m due to early delivery of 
2019/20 savings totalling £1.25m together with more than £3.7m of net savings 
on planned departmental activity.  Included within this result is an amount of 
£0.6m within the winter maintenance budget.

3.20 At their meeting on 5 February 2018 Cabinet agreed to transfer any one off 
resources available within the 2017/18 winter maintenance budget to the 
highways maintenance budget for 2018/19.  The highways maintenance 
budget will therefore be increased by £0.6m to reinvest in highways 
maintenance in 2018/19.

3.21 This additional investment, along with a recommended £1.4m to be allocated 
from the net corporate savings (as referred to in paragraphs 3.46 to 3.49) will 
complement the Government’s pothole grant funding of £3.0m in 2018/19 to 
provide a total one-off sum of £5m for a programme of vital remedial work to 
the county’s road network following the prolonged cold and wet period.

Page 26



Policy and Resources
3.22 Policy and Resources achieved a saving against the budget of £5.5m, after 

substantial transformation costs have been met in year, mainly due to ongoing 
efficiency savings and the early achievement of 2019/20 savings.

3.23 The successful implementation of the Tt2019 Programme and the resulting 
early delivery of savings will be crucial as successive budget reductions mean 
there is less scope to generate savings across the services and high levels of 
investment and resources are required over a longer time period to generate 
further savings.

3.24 Detailed explanations for the outturn position for all departmental budgets are 
provided in Appendix 1.

3.25 The departmental savings will be set aside to meet the future cost of change in 
line with the current financial policy which incentivises good stewardship.

3.26 In addition within ETE the remaining resources associated with the 2017/18 
winter maintenance budget will be set aside to provide additional one-off 
resources in 2018/19 as part of an additional £5m programme of highways 
maintenance.

Schools Budget
3.27 Financial pressures on schools are increasing, both at an individual school 

level and within the overall schools’ budget.  These pressures relate to both 
high needs and early years.

3.28 Pressures on the High Needs Block have mainly arisen due to significant 
increases in the number of pupils with additional needs.  This is a pressure 
that is mirrored nationally and has been seen since the SEND reforms in 2017.  
There are also increases in the amount of funding being provided for each 
pupil on average due to increasing levels of need and these factors have 
created a pressure on the top-up budgets for mainstream schools, resourced 
provisions and further education colleges.  There is also significant pressure 
due to more pupils requiring placements in independent and non-maintained 
schools.

3.29 There is a further pressure within the budget for early years due to an 
unexpected decline in the number of children recorded on the census.

3.30 In total for 2017/18 there was a net over spend of approaching £9.4m against 
the schools budget.  Any year end over spend is usually met from the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Reserve however the balance was not 
sufficient to cover these pressures in full.  As a consequence, the resulting 
DSG deficit of £4.5m will be covered as part of the allocation of school budgets 
in 2018/19 to achieve a balanced position.

Other Budgets
3.31 The outturn for other items contained within in the budget is shown in the 

following table:

Page 27



Variance 
(Under) / Over 

Budget
£m

Capital Financing / Interest on Balances (7.0)
Waste Management (4.3)
Contingencies (12.6)
Other Net Variations (1.2)
Total (25.1)

3.32 The main reasons for these variances are set out in the paragraphs below.

Capital Financing and Interest on Balances (£7.0m Saving)
3.33 These savings reflect the ongoing trend of a very prudent approach to capital 

financing costs and interest on balances and the continuing use of ‘internal 
borrowing’ to fund capital expenditure rather than taking out long term loans at 
this point.  In addition, a return of more than 4% from higher yielding 
investments has been achieved, in line with the approved Investment Strategy.

Waste Management (£4.3m Saving)
3.34 Due to the number of variables associated with the provision of the Waste 

Management contract, separate central provisions are made within the budget 
each year and released in line with changes in waste volumes or contract 
terms.  Whilst waste volumes stabilised in previous years, requiring less to be 
drawn from contingencies, 2014/15 saw the first real increase in volumes for 
several years and the provision in future years was reviewed in light of this.

3.35 The upward trend in 2017/18 has been less than forecast resulting in savings 
against the budget, but continued close scrutiny of waste volumes will be 
required throughout 2018/19 to model and monitor the future costs.

Contingencies (£12.6m Saving)
3.36 The level of contingencies held as part of the 2017/18 budget reflected the well 

documented pressures and risk around demand and costs for the provision of 
social care services, together with the fact that a further £98m was removed 
from the budget in 2017/18.  Through strong management, applied to manage 
demand and supress the additional costs, savings against these contingency 
amounts were realised.

3.37 Other contingencies which were not required in the year related to a central 
provision for carbon allowances and inflation / risk provisions (in particular for 
energy and business rates) which accounted for the balance of the overall 
saving within contingencies.

Other Net Variations (£1.2m Saving)
3.38 This relates to additional unanticipated Section 31 business rate relief grant 

income of £1.3m received in 2017/18, offset by a number of small variances.

Page 28



Allocation of Net Saving
3.39 The net saving totals £25.1m and it is recommended that this amount is 

allocated as set out in paragraphs 3.40 to 3.53 below.

Insurance Reserve
3.40 The Council holds specific reserves to mitigate risks that it faces.  The County 

Council self insures against certain types of risks and the level of the 
Insurance Reserve is based on an independent valuation of past claims 
experience and the level and nature of current outstanding claims.

3.41 Each year the County Council sets aside an insurance provision to meet 
claims resulting from incidents that have occurred during the year, along with 
reserves to cover potential claims arising from incidents in that year but where 
the claims are received in the future.

3.42 Regular actuarial reviews on the overall insurance fund have provided 
assurance that the County Council has been setting aside appropriate levels of 
funding against future liabilities to date.  However, the conclusions of the most 
recent review are that there is a need to adopt a long term approach to 
increasing that fund going forward and the intention is to regularly review the 
Insurance Reserve and to make year end contributions that move the County 
Council towards the level outlined in the latest actuarial assessment.  

3.43 To begin this it is proposed to add £6.25m to the Insurance Reserve which will 
result in a net increase of £5m after the provision for 2017/18 totalling £1.25m 
is set aside.

Investment Risk Reserve
3.44 The Investment Risk reserve was established in 2014/15 to mitigate the slight 

additional risk associated with the revised approved investment strategy as a 
prudent response to targeting investments with higher returns.

3.45 It is recommended that a further £0.5m is added to this reserve to further 
protect the County Council’s funds.  This is prudent given the additional risk 
that is being taken in targeting investments with higher returns and brings the 
total in the Investment Risk Reserve to £2m.

Highways Investment
3.46 It is recommended that £1.4m is allocated to be added to the budget for 

highways maintenance in 2018/19.  This additional investment, along with the 
£0.6m from the 2017/18 winter maintenance budget (as referred to in 
paragraph 3.20) will complement the Government’s one-off pothole grant 
funding of £3.0m in 2018/19 to provide a total sum of £5m for a programme of 
vital remedial work to the county’s road network following the prolonged cold 
and wet period.

3.47 Hampshire experienced two severe winter events during February and March 
2018 with widespread snowfall and localised travel disruption.  Whilst both 
events were successfully managed and network operations restored relatively 
swiftly, the resulting damage to the highway network was extensive with the 
majority of roads suffering pothole and other structural damage.  Immediately 

Page 29



following the snow events a find-and-fix ‘Pothole Busters’ repair programme 
commenced and this has focussed on addressing the many thousands of new 
potholes that have developed with a combination of interim ‘make safe’ and 
also permanent repairs.  Up to 12 ‘Hampshire Highways’ teams continue to be 
deployed across the County undertaking localised pothole repairs and utilising 
handheld technology to accurately record the quantity, quality and extent of 
work that has been carried out.  The ‘Pothole Busters’ initiative will continue for 
the remainder of 2018/19.

3.48 A more detailed network-wide assessment has since been completed and from 
this over 400 sites have been identified as having deteriorated as a direct 
consequence of the winter weather with an estimated cost of around £10m.  A 
restoration plan is in the process of being formulated to target the worst of 
these with a combination of structural patching, full resurfacing and localised 
reconstruction.  This larger package of work, which will utilise the additional 
funding, is expected to start in late May and will continue for the remainder of 
2018/19 although the full restoration of the network to pre-2018 condition will 
require significant additional investment and is likely to take many years.

3.49 The additional funding will also be targeted at sites where there are known 
surface water flooding issues to ensure highway drainage systems remain fully 
functional in the lead up to the autumn and winter months when wetter weather 
can be expected.

Balance of Savings
3.50 It is proposed that the balance of the net savings of £17m be added to the 

Grant Equalisation Reserve (GER) bringing the unallocated amount in the 
reserve up to £29.4m, in preparation for any future draw required beyond 2020 
as set out in the MTFS which is presented elsewhere on the Agenda for 
approval.

3.51 The current strategy that the County Council operates works on the basis of a 
two-year cycle of delivering departmental savings to close the anticipated 
budget gap, providing the time and capacity to properly deliver major savings 
programmes every two years with deficits in the intervening years being met 
from the GER.  Building the provision within the GER will support the revenue 
position in future years, as set out in the MTFS, in order to give the County 
Council the time and capacity to implement the next phase of transformation to 
take us to 2021/22.

3.52 The table below summarises the forecast position for the GER before any 
requirement to balance the budget in 2020/21 or to provide corporate funding 
to cash flow the next stage of transformation which is likely, given the 
experience of Tt2019; although the scale is unknown at this stage:

Page 30



GER
£'000

Balance at 31/03/2018       74,870
2018/19 Draw as per February Budget Setting      (26,435)
Further Budgeted Additions:

MRP “Holiday”       21,000
Planned use:

Cash Flow Tt2019      (40,000)
Unallocated Balance       29,435

3.53 Where possible, the County Council will continue to direct spare one off 
funding into this reserve as part of its overall longer term risk mitigation 
strategy, which has served it very well to date.

4. General Balances and Earmarked Reserves
4.1 The County Council’s reserves strategy, which is set out in the MTFS, is now 

well rehearsed and continues to be one of the key factors that underpin our 
ability not only to provide funding for the transformation of services but also to 
give the time for changes to be properly planned, developed and safely 
implemented.

4.2 We have made no secret of the fact that this deliberate strategy was expected 
to see reserves continue to increase during the period of tight financial control 
by the Government, although it was always recognised that the eventual 
planned use of the reserves would mean that a tipping point would come and 
we would expect to see reserves start to decline as they are put to the use in 
the way intended as part of the wider MTFS.  

4.3 General Balances at the 31 March 2018 stand at £22.4m, and following the 
planned draw in 2018/19 this will reduce to be broadly in line with the current 
policy of carrying a general balance that is approximately 2.5% of the County 
Council’s Budget Requirement (currently a sum of circa £20m).

4.4 In addition to the general balance, the County Council maintains earmarked 
reserves for specific purposes and to a large extent the majority of these are 
committed either to existing revenue or capital programmes or to mitigate risks 
that the County Council faces through self insurance or funding changes by 
government.

4.5 In overall terms the total value of earmarked revenue reserves has increased 
as provision is built up in the GER, ahead of planned draws in line with the 
MTFS.  

4.6 The net impact of the changes in the revenue account during 2017/18 mean 
that the GER will stand at almost £74.9m, which is in line with the financial 
strategy of supporting the revenue spend position as savings are developed 
and delivered on a two year cycle.  Provision is being made for a draw in 
2018/19 in order to give the County Council the time and capacity to 
implement the Tt2019 Programme and to cash flow the safe delivery of the 
programme so as we can complete the transformation to take us to 2019/20, 
and plan sensibly for future years.  

Page 31



4.7 In the period to 2021/22, the unallocated amount remaining in the reserve will 
be £29.4m, as shown in the table at paragraph 3.52.  In preparation for any 
future draw required beyond 2020 further additions will be required to the GER 
as set out in the MTFS which is presented elsewhere on the Agenda for 
approval.  

4.8 Other earmarked reserves will increase due to the timing of receipt of funds in 
advance of their planned use for an intended purpose, in particular in funding 
the capital programme.  Schools balances, over which the County Council has 
no direct control, have decreased and are expected to decrease further in the 
medium term, while reserves held for the Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise 
Partnership (EM3 LEP) have increased as part of a deliberate strategy to 
ensure that major projects are approved based on the outcomes they will 
deliver rather than the speed at which funding provided by the Government 
can be spent.

5. Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators
5.1 The County Council’s treasury management policy requires an annual report to 

the Cabinet on the exercise of the treasury management function, details of 
which are set out in Appendix 2.  Under the Treasury Management Code of 
Practice, the end of year report has to be submitted to the County Council.

5.2 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires that the 
County Council reports its actual performance against the Prudential Indicators 
that were set in its Treasury Management Strategy.  Appendix 2 summarises 
the relevant indicators for the 2017/18 outturn which are in accordance with 
the figures approved by the County Council.

6. Capital Spending and Financing 2017/18
6.1 From the 2017/18 capital programme, schemes to the value of £221.5m were 

committed during the year, leaving £123.1m to be carried forward to 2018/19, 
subject to Cabinet’s approval.

6.2 During 2017/18 capital expenditure of £208.7m was incurred, which can all be 
financed within available resources.  This includes prudential borrowing of 
approaching £33.0 m.  There will also be a further repayment of prudential 
borrowing from capital receipts and other funding sources of more than 
£12.5m.  Further details of the outturn position for capital are provided in 
Appendix 3.

7. Assurance Statement
7.1 The code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK requires the 

County Council to publish, together with its Statement of Accounts, an annual 
governance statement signed by the Leader and Chief Executive.  As part of 
this process, the Chief Internal Auditor provides an independent opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control operating in the 
County Council as a whole.  The Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report and 
Opinion is approved by the Audit Committee.

7.2 The Chief Internal Auditor has concluded that:

Page 32



“In my opinion, Hampshire County Council’s framework of governance, risk 
management and management control is ‘Adequate’ and audit testing has 
demonstrated controls to be working in practice.  Where weaknesses have 
been identified through internal audit review, we have worked with 
management to agree appropriate corrective actions and a timescale for 
improvement.”

8. Pension Fund
8.1 The separate accounts for the Hampshire Pension Fund will also be 

incorporated in the County Council’s Statement of Accounts.  The accounts for 
2017/18 record that the value of the fund’s assets increased from £6.3bn to 
£6.6bn during the year.  The Chief Internal Auditor has provided a separate 
assurance opinion for the Pension Fund and has concluded that:

“In my opinion, based on internal audit work completed ‘Substantial 
Assurance’ can be placed on Hampshire County Council (Pension Services) 
framework of governance, risk management and management control and 
audit testing has demonstrated controls to be working in practice.  Where 
weaknesses have been identified through internal audit review, we have 
worked with management to agree appropriate corrective actions and a 
timescale for improvement.”

9. Statutory Statement of Accounts
9.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 introduced changes to the statutory 

accounting and audit timescales which have had a significant impact on the 
organisation.  The changes came into effect for the preparation of the 2017/18 
accounts.

9.2 This year the statement of accounts must be certified by the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) and submitted for external audit by 31 May, a month earlier than 
previously.  Additionally, the audited accounts for 2017/18 must be published 
by 31 July, two months earlier than the previous timeframe.  

9.3 Adopting an incremental approach, preparatory work has taken place over the 
last two financial years to achieve the new deadlines.  For 2015/16, the 
deadline for CFO sign off of the accounts was brought forward by two weeks 
and for 2016/17 this was brought forward by a further two weeks to allow a trial 
run in anticipation of the changes coming into effect for the production of the 
2017/18 accounts.

9.4 Achieving these challenging timescales has required concerted effort from 
across the organisation.  The timetable was reviewed, following consultation 
with affected parties, and focused on what could be done either differently or 
earlier and what systems or processes could be changed to facilitate the 
achievement of the ultimate objective of a speedier accounting closure and 
production of the statement of accounts.

9.5 Meeting these earlier deadlines has been achieved through hard work across 
all departments in liaison with finance and our external auditors and the 
success this year in meeting the new timescales is noteworthy.

Page 33



Integral Appendix A

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic
growth and prosperity: Yes/No

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent
lives: Yes/No

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse environment: Yes/No
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, inclusive 
communities: Yes/No

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.)

Document Location
Revenue Budget and Precept 2018/19 and 
Capital Programme 2018/19 – 2020/21
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionD
etails.aspx?AIId=6228

Cabinet – 5 February 2018
County Council – 22 February 2018

Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
Transformation to 2019 Savings Proposals
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionD
etails.aspx?AIId=3194

Cabinet – 16 October 2017
County Council – 2 November 2017

Page 34

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6228
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6228
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6228
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=3194
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=3194


Integral Appendix B

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS:

1. Equality Duty
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited under the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, gender and sexual orientation) and those who 
do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
a) The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing 

a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic;
b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
c) Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate 

in public life or in any other activity which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low.

Equalities Impact Assessment:
d) Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely impacted by the 

proposals in this report.

Impact on Crime and Disorder:
The proposals in this report are not considered to have any direct impact on the 
prevention of crime, but the County Council through the services that it provides 
through the revenue budget and capital programme ensures that prevention of 
crime and disorder is a key factor in shaping the delivery of a service / project.

Climate Change:
e) How does what is being proposed impact on our carbon footprint / energy 

consumption?
The revenue budget and capital programme contain measures that will assist 
in reducing our carbon footprint.

f) How does what is being proposed consider the need to adapt to climate 
change, and be resilient to its longer term impacts?
The County Council in designing its services will ensure that climate change 
issues are taken into account

Page 35



Appendix 1

Adults’ Health and Care Department – Revenue Expenditure 2017/18

Major variations in cash limited expenditure – No variance against the adjusted cash limit.

Main Variations

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Director (40) (2.6)
Strategic Commissioning and Business 
Support

(1,179) (6.4) Savings mainly relate to reduced spend on non care contracts, 
grants to voluntary organisations and staff budgets due to difficulty in 
recruiting to vacant posts.

Transformation (159) (3.8) Savings mainly relate to additional income in relation to external 
courses provided by the workforce development team and staff 
budgets due to difficulty in recruiting to vacant posts.

Safeguarding, Quality and Governance (110) (3.0)

Learning Disabilities and Mental Health         7,549       6.5 There are significant pressures on residential, homecare and direct 
payments due to an increase in client numbers and a delay in 
achieving savings.  These pressures were partially offset by savings 
in supported living due in part to costs relating to previous financial 
years not materialising as anticipated.  This position is not reflective 
of the longer term forecast for this service area as the full year effect 
of savings achieved in 2017/18 and new savings planned for 2018/19 
are expected to bring the expenditure within budget from 2018/19. 

P
age 36



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Older People and Physical Disabilities (4,125) (3.3) There were pressures on both nursing and residential budgets due to 

higher client numbers and above budgeted weekly costs however, 
these pressures have been offset by savings in direct payments and 
homecare budgets where client numbers are less than budgeted.  It 
should be noted that the budget includes non recurrent support of 
£5.6m from the Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF).

Internal Provision            411       0.9 The main area of pressure is within the Older Person’s in-house 
homes due to the use of agency staff to cover vacant posts whilst 
permanent recruitment is undertaken.  The County Council is 
required by the Care Quality Commission to have adequate staffing 
levels in order to retain its registration.  This pressure has been offset 
by savings on other staffing budgets and reduced volumes of clients 
being referred to the REACT contract providers.

Contingencies (2,347) (99.1) This mainly relates to the early achievement of Transformation to 
2019 (Tt2019) savings and reduced spend on centrally held budgets. 

Public Health                0       0.0

Total                0       0.0

P
age 37



Appendix 1

Children’s Services Department – Revenue Expenditure 2017/18

Major variations in cash limited expenditure – No variance against the adjusted cash limit.

Main variations

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Schools Budget
Three to Four Year Olds Free 
Entitlement

(564) (1.0) The saving mainly relates to the actual take-up of the additional 15 
hours (30 hours total) per week entitlement for eligible working 
families introduced from September 2017 being lower than estimated 
by the Department for Education (DfE), partly offset by a pressure on 
the standard 15 hours free entitlement for eligible 3 and 4 year olds 
due to the January census return leading to a large reduction in the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding.

Growth Fund (558) (11.2) The position includes savings for infant class size funding, falling 
rolls, temporary classrooms, new / re-organising schools and growing 
schools, due to fewer schools being eligible for funding than 
budgeted.

Special Place Funding         1,282       6.4 This relates to a change in the way post 16 places were funded by 
the DfE in 2017/18 being reflected in the budgets.

Independent and Non-maintained 
Special Schools

        4,203     28.0 The over spend is due to a 21% increase in the number of pupils 
placed in out of county provision (from 321 pupils in March 2017, to 
389 pupils in March 2018), as well as an 18% increase in the 
average cost for SEN only pupils and 8% increase in the costs for 
joint funded pupils..

P
age 38



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
High Needs Top-Up Funding         4,940    11.4 The continuation in the growth of the number of high needs pupils in 

both maintained and special schools has exceeded budgetary 
expectations.  This includes increasing numbers of pupils with 
Special Educational Needs Support Agreements (SENSA), an 8% 
annual increase in pupils with Education Health and Care Plans 
(EHCPs), an 11% increase in the numbers of high needs students in 
further education placements, additional placements in Other Local 
Authority schools and the continuation of the pressure on the service 
for discretionary payments from the previous financial year.
These overs pends have been partly offset by a saving in Education 
Centre top-ups, following the implementation of the strategy to 
reintegrate more pupils back into mainstream education.

SEN Support Services (784) (14.1) This largely relates to the £1m planned contingency, retained to 
offset arising pressures in the high needs block, partly offset by 
staffing cost pressures on the Specialist Teacher Advisory Service 
(STAS).    

Central School Services            293      7.2 An over spend on the redundancy and premature retirement budget 
resulting from the budgetary pressures schools are facing leading to 
restructures and amalgamations that are increasing in-year 
redundancy, associated retirement and pay safeguarding costs.    

Various other (net) (455) (0.1) Various smaller budget savings across the Department.

P
age 39



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Carry Forward of Dedicated Schools 
Grant Deficit

(8,357) (1.1) The total 2017/18 over spend of £8.4m has been offset by a charge 
to the DSG reserve, as allowed by the DfE.  This year, the charge will 
create a “deficit” on the DSG reserve of £4.5m, which it has been 
agreed by Schools Forum will be funded from future years DSG 
funding.

Sub-Total Schools Budget                0       0.0

Non-Schools Budget
Home to School Transport (507) (2.0) Although costs within the Home to School Transport budget are 

rising as a result of increased demand for school age and post-16 
SEN transport, various one-off accounting adjustments relating to 
historic balances have led to a technical saving this financial year. 

Children Looked After (CLA 
placements)

(32) 0.0 Unprecedented activity and cost increases across CLA placements, 
care leavers and Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers (UASC) have 
seen an annual increase in expenditure of 14% on the previous year.  
This has been closely monitored throughout the year, and as a result 
additional corporate funding of £9.5m on an ongoing basis, plus a 
further £7.2m on a one-off basis has been provided to offset what 
would otherwise have been a very significant pressure.
The underlying pressure has mainly arisen on Non-County 
Placements (NCPs), which required over half of the additional 
corporate funding due to a 17% increase in costs, mainly as a result 
of increased activity

P
age 40



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Special Guardianship (SGO) support            584     26.0 The over spend is due to a 16% increase in the number of SGOs, 

from 381 in March 2017 to 442 in March 2018.
On 1 February 2018 the SGO rate was increased to match the 
current in-house fostering rate.  This has a full year cost of £1.2m 
(£203,000 part year cost this financial year), which will be met from 
additional corporate funding.

Respite for disabled children (620) (10.0) Including a saving on short break activities with commitments for 
care support in the community not being fully utilised and the 
continuation from the previous financial year of lower than budgeted 
spend on overnight respite.  

Youth Justice            764     37.5 Lower income at Swanwick Lodge Secure Unit as a result of severe 
staff shortages and problems with the heating system in the unit 
reducing the numbers of available beds below target occupancy 
levels.  This has been offset by a partial return of HCC’s contribution 
to the Hampshire Youth Offending Team (YOT) due to the 
sustainability of the Partnership’s budget, and a reduction in number 
of placements relating to direct remands.

Safeguarding & Young People’s 
Services

        2,269     12.0 The pressure mainly results from the use of social work agency staff 
to cover for the short supply of qualified social workers.  
Corporate support has been agreed to increase the numbers of 
social workers, leading to a reduced caseload for teams and thereby 
increasing retention of social workers and reducing the need for 
agency staff.  This investment commenced in 2017/18.  

Early Achievement of T2019 Savings (755) (100.0) Planned early achievement of savings in relation to the Tt2019 
Programme, used to offset the Department’s other pressures.

P
age 41



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Various other (net) (1,580) (1.0) Various smaller budget savings across the Department.
Contribution from Cost of Change (123)
Sub-Total Non-Schools Budget                0       0.0

Total                0       0.0

P
age 42



Appendix 1

Economy, Transport & Environment Department – Revenue Expenditure 2017/18

Major variations in cash limited expenditure – Savings of £5.0m (4.5%) against the adjusted cash limit.

Main Variations

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Highways, Traffic & Transport (3,813) (6.3) The position reflects savings against the winter maintenance budget 

of £644,000, which Cabinet has agreed in principle to reinvest in 
highways maintenance in 2018/19, providing additional one-off 
resources to supplement existing planned maintenance programmes.
In addition, the annual Bus Service Operator Grant (BSOG) has 
previously been used to support additional investment in improving 
bus passenger amenities, such as offering grants attracting match 
funding for investment in contactless payment.  From 2019/20 the 
annual BSOG is built in to ETE savings proposals to support 
subsidised bus services.  Therefore the 2017/18 BSOG grant of circa 
£1.3m was added to the bus subsidy budget to enable a planned 
early saving of a broadly equivalent amount from the bus subsidy 
budget for 2017/18.  It is planned to utilise the funding resulting from 
this saving to increase ETE’s Cost of Change to help cash flow the 
Department’s Tt2019 overall savings proposals.  It is expected that 
additional cash flow funding will be required, especially in relation to 
realisation of planned savings within the waste management budget, 
following recent Government policy announcements about recycling 
and the proposed deposit return scheme for drinks containers.  It is 
then planned to use BSOG directly to manage the implementation of 
the reduced bus subsidy budget from 2019/20.

P
age 43



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
The outturn also reflects:
 A small saving on highways maintenance with offset by additional 

fee income relating to the HCC capital programme (£860,000 net 
saving)

 £227,000 one-off net benefit in Strategic Transport from a 
technical adjustment relating to previous year fee income from 
road agreements.

 £521,000 savings against the Concessionary Fares budget due to 
fewer journeys being made

 The cumulative effect of various other smaller savings, including 
as a result of active vacancy management.

Economic Development and Research 
& Intelligence

(118) (10.1) The outturn figures reflect in-year savings as a result of staff 
vacancies and the impact of delays in planned expenditure, which 
will now take place in 2018/19.

Waste, Planning & Environment (496) (1.1) The savings predominantly relate to vacancy management and 
additional income including trading for example from the Minerals 
and Waste Planning work for Berkshire authorities (Strategic 
Planning and Environment). In addition, there were minor savings 
against the Waste budget. 

P
age 44



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance      
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Early Delivery of Tt2019 savings and 
General Departmental

(555) (25.5) The identification of opportunities for the early delivery of Tt2019 
savings has resulted in savings of £1.25m being achieved in 
2017/18.  Any early delivery of savings enables the Department to 
fund costs associated with transformation and the delivery of 
remaining savings targets.
This in-year saving was partly used to fund expenditure of £954,000 
on projects delivered during 2017/18, with the balance added to the 
Department’s Cost of Change reserve.
In addition, various ongoing active housekeeping savings of 
£259,000 were achieved across departmental non-pay budgets.

Total (4,982) (4.5)

P
age 45



Appendix 1

Policy and Resources Department – Revenue Expenditure 2017/18

Major variations in cash limited expenditure – Savings of £5.5m (5.0%) against the adjusted cash limit.

Main Variations

Service Area Variance       
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Culture, Community and Business 
Services

(595) (1.9) Progress has been made in achieving the Department’s Tt2019 
savings target, resulting in the early delivery of savings of more than 
£1.5m in 2017/18.
In addition, a further planned saving of more than £2.3m has been 
achieved.  This is predominantly the result of cost savings and re-
phased planned project expenditure which will now be undertaken 
during 2018/19 (mainly the Library Service and Office 
Accommodation), vacancy management savings (Trading Standards, 
Business Support and Asbestos) and additional income generation 
(Registration, Property Direct Services and Great Hall). 
The early achievement of Tt2019 savings, other in-year savings and 
a draw of £131,000 from the accumulated Cost of Change reserve 
has allowed one-off investment of approaching £4m to be made to 
fund transformational projects across the Department to support the 
achievement of Tt2019 savings targets.
In addition, the agreed transfer of the in-year PrintSmart contract 
outturn of £0.7m has been made to a separate reserve.

P
age 46



Appendix 1

Service Area Variance       
(Under) / Over 

Budget

Reason for Variation

£’000 %
Corporate Services (4,052) (7.0) Corporate Services continues to implement a strategy of strong 

budgetary control, managing expenditure through joint working and 
generating income, for example for legal and other services.  This 
has enabled the costs to support the Tt2019 Programme to be 
absorbed and also ensured early achievement of Tt2019 savings to 
contribute to the cost of change reserve to be used for future 
investment in further transformation work.

Non Departmental Policy & Resources (804) (3.9) The saving largely reflects lower costs or additional income in a 
number of budget areas.  This includes lower members support costs 
mostly due to pensions change for members after election and lower 
Rural Affairs expenditure during 2017/18 which will be carried 
forward to match future expenditure.    

Total (5,451) (5.0)

P
age 47



Appendix 2

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2017/18

1. Summary
1.1. The County Council adopted the key recommendations of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management 
in the Public Services: Code of Practice in February 2010.  These 
recommendations include approving an annual report on treasury 
management activity after the end of each financial year.

1.2. This report fulfils the County Council’s legal obligation to have regard to the 
CIPFA Code.

1.3. The County Council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for 2017/18 was 
approved at a meeting of full Council in February 2017.  The County Council 
has borrowed and invested sums of money and is therefore exposed to 
financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of risk are therefore central to the County Council’s TMS.

1.4. Treasury management in the context of this report is defined as:
“The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.”

1.5. This annual report sets out the performance of the treasury management 
function during 2017/18, to include the effects of the decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in the past year.

1.6. Overall responsibility for treasury management remains with the County 
Council.  No treasury management activity is without risk; the effective 
identification and management of risk are integral to the County Council’s 
treasury management objectives.

1.7. All treasury activity has complied with the County Council’s TMS and 
Investment Strategy for 2017/18, and all relevant statute, guidance and 
accounting standards.  In addition the County Council’s treasury advisers, 
Arlingclose, provide support in undertaking treasury management activities.  
The County Council has also complied with all of the prudential indicators set 
in its TMS.

2. External Context
2.1. The following sections outline the key economic themes currently in the UK 

against which investment and borrowing decisions were made in 2017/18.
Economic commentary

2.2. The UK economy showed signs of slowing with latest estimates showing 
GDP, helped by an improving global economy, grew by 1.8% in 2017, the 
same level as in 2016.  This was a far better outcome than the majority of 
forecasts following the EU Referendum in June 2016, but it also reflected the 

Page 48



Appendix 2

international growth momentum generated by the increasingly buoyant US 
economy and the re-emergence of the Eurozone economies. 

2.3. The inflationary impact of rising import prices, a consequence of the fall in 
Sterling associated with the EU referendum result, resulted in year-on-year 
CPI rising to 3.1% in November before falling back to 2.7% in February 2018.  
Consumers felt the squeeze as real average earnings growth, i.e. after 
inflation, turned negative before slowly recovering.  The labour market 
showed resilience as the unemployment rate fell back to 4.3% in January 
2018.  The inherent weakness in UK business investment was not helped by 
political uncertainty following the surprise General Election in June 2017 and 
by the lack of clarity on Brexit.  The Withdrawal Treaty is yet to be ratified by 
the UK Parliament and those of the other 27 EU member states and new 
international trading arrangements are yet to be negotiated and agreed.

2.4. The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) increased the Bank 
Rate by 0.25% in November 2017.  This action was significant as this was the 
first rate increase in ten years, although in essence the MPC reversed its 
August 2016 cut following the referendum result.  The February Inflation 
Report indicated the MPC was keen to return inflation to the 2% target over a 
more conventional (18 - 24 month) horizon with ‘gradual’ and ‘limited’ policy 
tightening.  Although in March two MPC members voted to increase policy 
rates immediately and the MPC itself stopped short of committing itself to the 
timing of the next increase in rates, the minutes of the meeting suggested that 
an increase in May 2018 was highly likely, however at the meeting in May 
2018 the MPC again voted by a majority of 7-2 to maintain Bank Rate at 
0.5%. 
Credit background

2.5. The rules for UK banks’ ring-fencing were finalised by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority and banks began the complex implementation process 
ahead of the statutory deadline of 1 January 2019.  As there was some 
uncertainty surrounding which banking entities the County Council would be 
dealing with once ring-fencing was implemented and what the balance sheets 
of the ring-fenced and non ring-fenced entities would look like, in May 2017 
Arlingclose advised adjusting downwards the maturity limit for unsecured 
investments to a maximum of six months.  The rating agencies had slightly 
varying views on the creditworthiness of the restructured entities.

2.6. Barclays was the first to complete its ring-fence restructure over the 2018 
Easter weekend; wholesale deposits including local authority deposits will 
henceforth be accepted by Barclays Bank plc (branded Barclays 
International), which is the non ring-fenced bank. 

2.7. In March 2018, following Arlingclose’s advice, the County Council removed 
RBS plc and National Westminster Bank from its counterparty list for 
unsecured investments.  This did not reflect any change to the 
creditworthiness of either bank, but a tightening in Arlingclose’s recommended 
minimum credit rating criteria to A- from BBB+ for 2018/19.  The current long-
term ratings of RBS and NatWest do not meet this minimum criterion, 
although if following ring-fencing NatWest is upgraded, the bank would be 
reinstated on the County Council’s unsecured lending list. 

Page 49



Appendix 2

Local Authority Regulatory Changes
2.8. CIPFA published revised editions of the Treasury Management and Prudential 

Codes in December 2017.  The 2017 Prudential Code introduces the 
requirement for a Capital Strategy which provides a high-level overview of the 
long-term context of capital expenditure and investment decisions and their 
associated risks and rewards along with an overview of how risk is managed 
for future financial sustainability.  Where this strategy is produced and 
approved by full Council, the determination of the Treasury Management 
Strategy (TMS) can be delegated to a committee.  The Code also expands on 
the process and governance issues of capital expenditure and investment 
decisions.  The County Council will be preparing the Capital Strategy in line 
with the 2019/20 budget setting process.

2.9. In the 2017 Treasury Management Code the definition of ‘investments’ has 
been widened to include financial assets as well as non-financial assets held 
primarily for financial returns such as investment property.  These, along with 
other investments made for non-treasury management purposes such as 
loans supporting service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries, must be 
discussed in the Capital Strategy or Investment Strategy.  Additional risks of 
such investments are to be set out clearly and the impact on financial 
sustainability is be identified and reported. 
MiFID II

2.10. As a result of the second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II), 
from 3 January 2018 local authorities were automatically treated as retail 
clients but could “opt up” to professional client status, providing certain criteria 
were met which include having an investment balance of at least £10m and 
the person(s) authorised to make investment decisions on behalf of the 
authority having at least one year’s relevant professional experience.  In 
addition, the regulated financial services firms to whom this directive applies 
have had to assess that the person(s) have the expertise, experience and 
knowledge to make investment decisions and understand the risks involved.  

2.11. The County Council has met the conditions to opt up to professional status 
and has done so in order to maintain its previous MiFID status prior to 
January 2018.  The County Council will continue to have access to products 
including money market funds, pooled funds, treasury bills, bonds, shares and 
to financial advice. 

3. Local Context
3.1. At 31 March 2018 the County Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital 

purposes as measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was 
£764m, while usable reserves and working capital which are the underlying 
resources available for investment were £571m (principal invested plus gains 
on investments with a variable net asset value).  These factors and the year-
on-year change are summarised in Table 1 below:

Page 50



Appendix 2

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary
Balance 

31/03/2017
£m

Movement 

£m

Balance 
31/03/2018

£m
CFR (755.4) (8.6) (764.0)

Less: Other debt liabilities* 171.0 (6.8) 164.2

Borrowing CFR (584.4) (15.4) (599.8)

Less: Resources for investment 522.2 48.5 570.7

Net borrowing (62.2) 33.1 (29.1)

* finance leases and PFI liabilities that form part of the County Council’s debt.

3.2. Although CFR has risen as new capital expenditure was higher in comparison 
to the amount of debt paid in 2017/18, net borrowing has decreased overall 
due to an increase in usable reserves.   The increase in usable reserves is 
partly due to capital grants unapplied received in advance of spend, as well as 
an increase in the Grant Equalisation Reserve (GER) to enable the County 
Council to continue its financial strategy, and to allow delivery of the more 
complex savings to be achieved within the Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) 
Programme over the two years.

3.3. The County Council’s strategy was to maintain borrowing and investments 
below their underlying levels, referred to as internal borrowing, in order to 
reduce risk and keep interest costs low.  The treasury management position 
as at 31 March 2018 and the year-on-year change is shown in Table 2 below:

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary

31/03/17 
Balance 

£m

Movement

£m

31/03/18 
Balance 

£m

31/03/18 
Rate

%

Long-term borrowing (319.7) 39.7 (280.0) (4.59)

Short-term borrowing (13.6) 5.7 (7.9) (3.28)

Total Borrowing (333.3) 45.5 (287.8) (4.55)

Long-term investments 277.5 11.8 289.3 2.72

Short-term investments 160.1 80.4 240.5 1.30

Cash and cash equivalents 75.5 (43.1) 32.4 0.45

Total Investments 513.1 49.1 562.2 1.98

Net Investments 179.8 94.6 274.4
Note: The figures in the table above are from the balance sheet in the County Council’s statement of 
accounts, adjusted to exclude operational cash, accrued interest and other accounting adjustments.  

Page 51



Appendix 2

3.4. The County Council’s internal borrowing policy is the reason for the large 
variance between the positions shown in Tables 1 and 2.  The movement that 
has taken place during 2017/18 in net borrowing shown in Table 1 has 
translated into a rise in investment balances as shown in Table 2.  In addition, 
total borrowing in Table 2 has reduced during 2017/18 due to the early 
repayment of £32m of long-term borrowing in the form of LOBO (Lender’s 
Option, Borrower’s Option) loans and repayment upon maturity of £13.6m of 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) debt.

4. Borrowing Activity
4.1. At 31 March 2018 the County Council held £288m of loans, a decrease of 

£45m on the previous year, as part of its strategy for funding previous years’ 
capital programmes.  The year-end treasury management borrowing position 
and year-on-year change is shown in Table 3 below; which excludes 
borrowing taken out on behalf of others:

Table 3: Borrowing Position
31/03/17
Balance

£m

Movement

£m

31/03/18
Balance

£m

31/03/18
Rate

%

31/03/18
WAM*
Years

Public Works Loan Board 257.0 (13.6) 243.4 4.66 11.03

Banks (LOBO) 60.0 (40.0) 20.0 4.76 15.29

Banks (fixed term) 13.0 8.0 21.0 4.21 21.91

Total Borrowing 330.0 45.6 284.4 4.63 12.13
* Weighted average maturity
Note: the figures in the table above are from the balance sheet in the County Council’s statement of accounts, 
but adjusted to exclude borrowing taken out on behalf of others, and accrued interest.

4.2. The County Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required, with 
flexibility to renegotiate loans should the County Council’s long-term plans 
change being a secondary objective. 

4.3. Affordability and the “cost of carry” remained important influences on the 
County Council’s borrowing strategy alongside the consideration that, for any 
borrowing undertaken ahead of need, the proceeds would have to be invested 
in the money markets at rates of interest significantly lower than the cost of 
borrowing.  As short-term interest rates have remained and are likely to 
remain at least over the forthcoming two years, lower than long-term rates, 
the County Council determined it was more cost effective in the short-term to 
use internal resources instead of taking out new borrowing.  This strategy 
enabled the County Council to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk.

Page 52



Appendix 2

4.4. The benefits of internal borrowing were monitored regularly against the 
potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years 
when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise.  Arlingclose assists the 
County Council with the monitoring of internal and external borrowing. 

4.5. During 2017/18 the County Council repaid £13.6m of maturing PWLB debt, 
and did not replace this borrowing.  This will reduce the future cost of interest 
payments on the County Council’s external debt.

4.6. The County Council continues to hold £41m of market loans (£20m of which 
are LOBO loans, and £21m of which were LOBO but have now been 
converted to fixed term loans by the lender); this has reduced from the £73m 
historical balance due to the County Council having negotiated the early 
repayment of £32m of LOBO loans, and repaid these at a saving in 
comparison to the total cost expected over the loans’ lifetime.  LOBO loans 
are where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate 
at set dates, following which the County Council has the option to either 
accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  None of the 
LOBO loan options were exercised by the lender in the year.

5. Investment Activity 
5.1. The County Council holds invested funds representing income received in 

advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2017/18 the 
Council’s investment balances have ranged between £513m and £659m due 
to timing differences between income and expenditure.  The year-end 
investment position and the year-on-year change are shown in Table 4 
overleaf:

Page 53



Appendix 2

Table 4: Investment Position (Treasury Investments)
Investments 31/03/17 

Balance  
£m

Movement

£m

31/03/18 
Balance  

£m

31/03/18 
Rate         

%

31/03/18 
WAM* 
years

Short term Investments 
- Banks and Building Societies:

- Unsecured 35.7 (24.0) 11.7 0.53 0.11
- Secured 20.0 35.0 55.0 1.00 0.56

- Money Market Funds 61.7 (36.0) 25.7 0.46 0.00
- Local Authorities 116.8 43.7 160.5 1.33 0.35
- Corporate Bonds 1.3 (1.3)
- Registered Provider 20.0 20.0 2.03 0.33

235.6 37.3 272.9 1.20 0.35
Long term Investments
- Banks and Building Societies:

- Secured 70.0 8.3 78.3 0.79 2.57
- Local Authorities 97.5 (36.5) 61.0 1.41 1.94

167.5 (28.2) 139.3 1.06 2.29
Long term Investments – high 
yielding strategy
- Local Authorities

- Fixed deposits 20.0 20.0 3.96 15.97
- Fixed bonds 10.0 10.0 3.78 15.77

- Pooled Funds
- Pooled property** 45.0 10.0 55.0 4.60 N/A
- Pooled equity** 20.0 20.0 40.0 4.28 N/A
- Pooled multi-asset** 10.0 10.0 20.0 3.99 N/A

- Registered Provider 5.0 5.0 3.40 1.08

110.0 40.0 150.0 4.25 13.79
Total Investments 513.1 49.1 562.2 1.98 2.00
* Weighted average maturity
** The rates provided for pooled fund investments are reflective of the average of the most recent dividend 
return as at 31 March 2018.
Note: the figures in the table above are from the balance sheet in the County Council’s statement of accounts, 
but adjusted to exclude operational cash, accrued interest and other accounting adjustments.  

5.2. Both the CIPFA Code and the government guidance require the County 
Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and 
liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  
The County Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an 
appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring 

Page 54



Appendix 2

losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment 
income.

5.3. In furtherance of these objectives, and given the increasing risk and low 
returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the County Council 
further diversified into more secure and higher yielding asset classes during 
2017/18.  For example, the proportion of investments to liquid funds (i.e. 
invested in money market funds and unsecured call accounts) was reduced 
and instead invested in secure short-term investments with higher rates of 
return (such as local authorities).  Also £40m was added to externally-
managed funds during 2017/18 as part of the investments targeting higher 
yields. 

5.4. Security of capital has remained the County Council’s main investment 
objective. This has been maintained by following the County Council’s 
counterparty policy as set out in its Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
for 2017/18. 

5.5. Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored with reference to 
credit ratings, for financial institutions analysis of funding structure and 
susceptibility to bail-in, credit default swap prices, financial statements, 
information on potential government support and reports in the quality 
financial press. 

5.6. The County Council will also consider the use of secured investments 
products that provide collateral in the event that the counterparty cannot meet 
its obligations for repayment.

5.7. The County Council maintained a sufficient level of liquidity through the use of 
call accounts and money market funds.  The County Council sought to 
optimise returns commensurate with its objectives of security and liquidity.  
The UK Bank Rate increased by 0.25% to 0.50% in November 2017 and 
short-term money market rates have remained at relatively low levels which 
continued to have a significant impact on cash investment income.   

5.8. The progression of credit risk and return metrics for the County Council’s 
investments managed in-house (excluding external pooled funds) are shown 
in the extracts from Arlingclose’s investment benchmarking in Table 5 below:

Table 5: Investment Benchmarking (investments managed in-house)
Credit 
Rating

Bail-in 
Exposure

WAM* 
(days)

Rate of 
Return

31/03/2017 AA 22% 709 1.21%
31/03/2018 AA 8% 735 1.36%
Similar Local Authorities AA- 48% 879 0.94%
All Local Authorities AA- 55% 35 0.63%
* Weighted average maturity

Page 55



Appendix 2

5.9. As part of the 2017/18 Investment Strategy the total amount targeted towards 
high yielding investments was increased to £200m.  Investments yielding 
higher returns will contribute additional income to the County Council, 
although some come with the risk that they may suffer falls in the value of the 
principal invested. 

5.10. Of the £200m available £150m has been invested (an increase of £40m since 
31 March 2017), and an additional £10m has been committed but not called. 

5.11. The £115m portfolio of externally managed pooled multi-asset, equity and 
property funds generated an average total return of 4.9%, comprising 4.88% 
income return used to support services in year, and 0.02% of capital growth.  
As these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal 
after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting 
the County Council’s investment objectives are regularly reviewed.  

5.12. The investments in pooled funds allow the County Council to diversify into 
asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the 
underlying investments.  The funds which are operated on a variable net 
asset value (VNAV) basis offer diversification of investment risk, coupled with 
the services of a professional fund manager; they also offer enhanced returns 
over the longer term but are more volatile in the short-term.  All of the County 
Council’s pooled fund investments are in the respective fund’s distributing 
share class which pay out the income generated.

5.13. Although money can be redeemed from the pooled funds at short notice, the 
County Council’s intention is to hold them for at least the medium-term.  Their 
performance and suitability in meeting the County Council’s investment 
objectives are monitored regularly and discussed with Arlingclose. 

5.14. The 2015/16 Investment Strategy recommended that the returns from a 
pooled property fund be used to contribute £0.5m each year to a reserve in 
the County Council’s accounts as protection against the irrecoverable fall in 
value of any investments.  It is now recommended that £0.5m is added to this 
reserve in line with this strategy to further protect the County Council’s funds.  
This is prudent given the additional risk that is being taken in targeting 
investments with higher returns and will bring the total amount in the reserve 
to £2m.

6. Other Non-Treasury Holdings and Activity
6.1. Although not classed as treasury management activities the Council may also 

make loans and investments for service purposes, for example loans to 
Hampshire based businesses or the direct purchase of land or property. Such 
loans and investments will be subject to the Council’s normal approval 
processes for revenue and capital expenditure and need not comply with this 
treasury management strategy.  The County Council’s existing non-treasury 
investments are listed in Table 6 overleaf:

Page 56



Appendix 2

Table 6: Non-Treasury Investments
31/03/18 

Asset 
Value

£m

31/03/18 
Rate

%
Loans to Hampshire based business 5.75 4.00
Total 5.75 4.00

7. Compliance Report
7.1. The County Council confirms compliance of all treasury management 

activities undertaken during 2017/18 with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the 
County Council’s approved TMS.  Compliance with specific investment limits, 
as well as the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt, is 
demonstrated in Tables 7 and 8 below: 

Table 7: Debt Limits
2017/18 

Maximum

£m

31/03/18 
Actual

£m

2017/18 
Operational 
Boundary 

£m

2017/18 
Authorised 

Limit
£m

Complied

Borrowing 333 284 680 740 

Other long term 
liabilities 171 164 170 210 

Total Debt 504 448 850 950 

Table 8: Investment Limits
2017/18 

Maximum
£m

31/03/18 
Actual

£m

2017/18 
Limit
£m

Complied

Any single organisation, except 
the UK Central Government 40 23 70 

Any group of organisations 
under the same ownership 40 23 70 

Any group of pooled funds 
under the same management 30 30 70 

Registered providers 25 25 70m 

Money market funds 19% 5% 50% 

Page 57



Appendix 2

8. Treasury Management Indicators
8.1. The County Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury 

management risks using the following indicators.
Interest Rate Exposures

8.2. This indicator is set to control the County Council’s exposure to interest rate 
risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, 
expressed as the amount of net principal borrowed will be:

Table 9 – Interest Rate Exposures
31/03/18 
Actual

£m

2017/18 
Limit
£m

Complied

Upper limit on fixed interest rate 
investment exposure 90 375 

Upper limit on variable interest 
rate investment exposure 473 700 

Upper limit on fixed interest rate 
borrowing exposure 277 960 

Upper limit on variable interest 
rate borrowing exposure 8 960 



8.3. Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is 
fixed for the whole financial year.  Instruments that mature during the financial 
year are classed as variable rate.  
Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

8.4. This indicator is set to control the County Council’s exposure to refinancing 
risk.  The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing will be:

Table 10 – Maturity Structure of Borrowing
31/03/18 
Actual

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Complied

Under 12 months 3% 50% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 3% 50% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 10% 50% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 17% 75% 0% 

10 years and within 20 years 56% 75% 0% 

20 years and within 30 years 11% 75% 0% 

30 years and above 0% 100% 0% 

Page 58



Appendix 2

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days
8.5. The purpose of this indicator is to control the County Council’s exposure to 

the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  
The limits on the total principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the 
period end will be:

Table 11 – Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days
2017/18

£m
2018/19

£m
2019/20

£m
Actual principal invested beyond year end 280 227 173
Limit on principal invested beyond year end 375 300 300
Complied   

Page 59



Appendix 3

Capital Spending and Financing 2017/18

1 Introduction
1.1 This Appendix reports that:

 Capital schemes costing £221.5m were started during 2017/18 from the 
approved capital programme for the year of £355.9m.

 This left £123.1m for named projects not started by 31 March 2018 which 
will be carried forward to 2018/19, subject to Cabinet’s approval.

 Capital payments of £208.7m were incurred in 2017/18 and this can be 
financed within available resources.

 It is proposed that, under the Prudential Code for Capital Finance, new 
prudential borrowing of £33.0m is used in 2017/18 to fund previously 
approved schemes.  Government grant support will not be available to 
finance this borrowing.

 Repayments of prudential borrowing from capital receipts and other 
sources total £12.5m in 2017/18.

 £14.1m of surplus resources will be added to the capital reserve in 
2017/18 for use in funding future payments. 

 Capital receipts of £27.3m were achieved from the sale of assets in 
2017/18.

2 Capital Programme for 2017/18
2.1 Table 1 below shows that 62.2% of the capital programme for 2017/18 of 

£221.5m was started in the year.

Table 1 - Capital Schemes Committed in 2017/18
£’000 %

Approved value of the capital programme for 2017/18 355,874 100.0
Schemes committed in 2017/18 221,447 62.2
Balance of Cash Limit at 31 March 2018 134,427 37.8

Schemes for which approval to carry forward to 
2018/19 is now requested

123,058 34.6

Schemes previously approved for carry forward 11,369 3.2
Total Cash Limit to be Carried Forward to 2018/19 134,427 37.8

2.2 An analysis by service of the figures in Table 1 is included in Annex 1.  

Page 60



Appendix 3

3. Carry Forward of Schemes not Committed by 31 March 2018
3.1 The approval of Cabinet is required for proposals to carry forward schemes 

not started at 31 March 2018.  The total value of such schemes is £123.1m.  
This excludes £11.4m of Children’s Services schemes for which approval to 
carry forward to 2018/19 has previously been given during 2017/18.  These 
amounts are largely committed against named projects.

3.2 As Table 2 shows, the value of the 2017/18 programme committed in the 
year, at £221.5m, is higher than the level achieved in 2016/17 of £196.5. 
Good progress is being made given the significant size of the overall capital 
programme.  

Table 2 – Percentage of Capital Programme Committed

2016/17 2017/18
£m £m

Value of Projects
- Committed 196.5 221.5
- Carried forward 121.6 134.4

Total Programme 318.1 355.9

Percentage Committed 61.2% 62.2%

3.3 Individually, most of the schemes and provisions to be carried forward are 
relatively small amounts.  The larger schemes include:

 Adults with Disability – Accommodation Strategy (£9.4m) – A capital 
grants programme has been approved and is progressing.

 Extra care housing transformation (£20.2m) – Projects are being 
considered.

 Children’s Services contingency provision carried forward to cover future 
projects and pressures on the capital programme (£26.0m).

 Structural maintenance of roads and bridges – Future projects planned 
which are linked to the outcome of funding bids (£20.8m).

 Infrastructure and utility works (£15.7m) – Project designs are 
progressing.

 Investment in Hampshire projects – Projects are planned (£3.0m).

4. Capital Expenditure and Financing 2017/18
4.1 Total expenditure actually incurred in 2017/18, arising from the capital 

programme for 2017/18 and earlier years, was £208.7m.  This is £29.4m or 
12.4% lower than the revised estimate for 2017/18.  The timing of capital 

Page 61



Appendix 3

expenditure flows between financial years is often difficult to predict.  The 
delays in committing a fair proportion of the capital programme for 2017/18, 
as shown in Table 2, will have reduced the level of payments in the year.      

4.2 An analysis of the expenditure of £208.7m by service and type is included in 
Annex 2. 

4.3 The proposed method of financing this expenditure is summarised in Table 3:

Table 3 – Capital Financing 2017/18

Adjusted 
Revised 
Estimate

Actuals Variation

£’000 £’000 £’000
Prudential borrowing

- for capital schemes 37,097 32,959        (4,138)
- repayments of specific schemes      (10,199)       (12,553)        (2,354)

Government capital grants 92,020 93,566 1,546
Contributions from developers and 
outside agencies 59,205 66,810 7,605

Capital receipts 5,880 27,327 21,447
Revenue reserves 1,167 1,761 594
Revenue contributions
 - general corporate provision 12,947 12,947 0

Total Capital Resources 198,117 222,817       24,700

Transfers from / (to) capital reserve 41,009 0      (41,009)
- planned use of capital reserve to 

fund payments        (1,052)       (14,153)      (13,101)

Total funding for payments in 
2017/18 238,074 208,664       (29,410)

4.4 In addition to this spend, during 2017/18, the Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) invested £16.9m in Capital projects within the M3 corridor.  
This spend is included in the annual accounts, as the Council is the 
Accountable Body for the LEP. 

5. Borrowing
5.1 Since 1 April 2004, local authorities have been permitted to borrow for capital 

purposes without specific approval from the Government, provided their 
actions meet the requirements of the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
introduced by the Local Government Act 2003.  This is known as ‘prudential 

Page 62



Appendix 3

borrowing’.  It does not attract any support from the Government towards the 
repayment and interest costs, which fall wholly on the County Council’s own 
resources.  

5.2 Cabinet agreed criteria for the use of prudential borrowing in November 2003, 
with revisions in February 2006.  Since then, its use has been agreed for a 
number of capital schemes, primarily on an invest-to-save basis. It is 
proposed that a total of £33m is borrowed in 2017/18 for these schemes, in 
accordance with the approved criteria.  

5.3 Prudential borrowing of £12.5m has been repaid in 2017/18 from the use of 
capital receipts, developer and other contributions. 

5.4 The Prudential Code includes a number of indicators intended to illustrate 
whether local authorities are acting prudently.  The County Council’s latest 
position on these prudential indicators following the 2017/18 outturn is 
summarised in Appendix 2.  It shows that the County Council continues to be 
in full compliance with the requirements of the Code.

6. Capital receipts
6.1 Capital receipts from the sale of land and property in 2017/18 were £27.3m in 

total.  This has been used to fund capital expenditure in the year.   
6.2 Services’ proposed shares of capital receipts in 2017/18 are summarised in 

Annex 3.  The County Council’s policy allows services to retain 25% of capital 
receipts from the sale of their assets, with up to 100% for approved 
rationalisation schemes.   

6.3 In line with this policy, services are entitled to £12.6m of the £27.3m received 
in 2017/18. Cabinet has previously approved the addition of the majority of 
this amount to services’ capital programmes, leaving a total of £0.3m for 
which approval is now required for allocation to services, as set out in Annex 
3.  

  

Page 63



Annex 1

Analysis of Capital programme 2017/18 and Requests by Services to Carry 
Forward Capital Schemes to 2018/19

(1) (2) (3) (4)
Approved 
Value of 

Programme

Schemes 
Committed 
in 2017/18

Schemes 
for Which 

Approval to 
Carry 

Forward is 
Requested

Schemes 
Already 

Approved 
for Carry 
Forward

Total Cash 
Limit 

Carried 
Forward to 

2018/19 
(Columns 

3+4)
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Adults’ Services 55,127 24,008 31,119 31,119
Children’s Services 146,777 101,198 34,210 11,369 45,579
Economy, Transport 
and Environment 81,248 52,201 29,047 29,047

Policy and Resources 72,722 44,040 28,682 28,682

Total 355,874 221,447 123,058 11,369 134,427

100.0% 62.2% 34.6% 3.2% 37.8%

The amounts to be carried forward are largely committed against named projects

Page 64



Annex 2

Summary of Capital Expenditure in 2017/18  

Analysis by service

£’000 %
Adults’ Services 25,090 12.0
Children’s Services 62,261 29.9
Economy, Transport and Environment 74,542 35.7
Policy and Resources 46,771 22.4

208,664 100.0

Analysis by type of expenditure

£’000 %
Land 3,645 1.7
Construction work 143,089 68.6
Fees and salaries 25,622 12.3
Furniture, equipment and vehicles 17,741 8.5
Grants 14,132 6.8
Capital Loan 4,435 2.1

208,664 100.0

Page 65



Annex 3

Analysis of Capital Receipts 2017/18

Shares from in/out and 
Other Schemes

Net 
Capital 

Receipts

Costs 
of Sales

Previously 
Added to 

Programme

Now 
Available to 
be Added to 
Programme

25% Share 
of 

Qualifying 
Receipts 

Now Due to 
Services

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Adults’ Services
Children’s Services 7,445 7,445
Economy, Transport 
and Environment 113 1 113

Policy and Resources 19,769 4,999 290

27,327 1 12,557 290 0

Total Now to be Added to Services’ Programmes 290

Page 66



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Cabinet
County Council

Date: 18 June 2018
19 July 2018

Title: Looking Ahead - Medium Term Financial Strategy

Report From: Director of Corporate Resources – Corporate Services

Contact name: Carolyn Williamson, Director of Corporate Resources

Tel:   01962 847400 Email: Carolyn.Williamson@hants.gov.uk

1. Recommendations
RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET
It is recommended that Cabinet:

1.1. Notes and agrees the potential for formal decision making on the next 
transformation programme to take the County Council to 2021 being made 
during the autumn 2019.

1.2. Notes and agrees to proceed on the basis of a forecast financial gap for the 
two year period to 2021/22 of £80m.

1.3. Approves the provisional departmental targets outlined in paragraph 7.7.
1.4. Approves the timetable for the Transformation to 2021 Programme as 

detailed in paragraph 7.13
1.5. Recommends to County Council that:

a) The allocation of recurring funding totalling £19.7m from 2019/20 
onwards to be met from a further round of corporate efficiencies, 
achieved from a review of treasury management activity, inflation 
allowances, contingencies and reserves, is approved to provide for the 
following:

 £5m for the revenue consequences of the Digital Programme 
and the expanding use of technology that underpins the delivery 
of transformation.

 £1.2m to re-align the Strategic Procurement income allowing 
corporate prioritisation of this resource to take place.

 £13.5m for the forecast growth in Children Looked After 
numbers.

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



b) An initial allocation of £200m is added to the capital programme for 
Adults’ Services Bed Based Programme to be funded from prudential 
borrowing.

c) A sum of £1.8m is added to the capital programme in 2018/19 and 
£0.5m in 2019/20 to be funded from departmental reserves to proceed 
with the next phase of the Country Parks Transformation Programme 
and specific proposals for the Empire Room at Royal Victoria Country 
Park, the farm attractions at Staunton and Manor Farm and for Queen 
Elizabeth Country Park.

d) £4m is added to the capital programme to fund the replacement of the 
current social care IT system to be met from existing funding set aside 
for this purpose.

e) A sum of £9.53m is added to the capital programme to progress the 
completion of phase 1 of the Eclipse Busway from Fareham to Gosport 
and that funding of up to £2.5m is approved to underwrite the scheme 
in the event that further grant funding cannot be secured.

1.6. RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNTY COUNCIL
This single report is used for both the Cabinet and County Council meetings, 
the recommendations below are the Cabinet recommendations to County 
Council and may therefore be changed following the actual Cabinet meeting.
County Council is recommended to approve:

a) The allocation of recurring funding totalling £19.7m from 2019/20 
onwards to be met from a further round of corporate efficiencies, 
achieved from a review of treasury management activity, inflation 
allowances, contingencies and reserves, to provide for the following:

 £5m for the revenue consequences of the Digital Programme 
and the expanding use of technology that underpins the delivery 
of transformation.

 £1.2m to re-align the Strategic Procurement income allowing 
corporate prioritisation of this resource to take place.

 £13.5m for the forecast growth in Children Looked After 
numbers.

b) The addition of an initial £200m to the capital programme for Adults’ 
Services Bed Based Programme to be funded from prudential 
borrowing.

c) The addition of £1.8m in 2018/19 and £0.5m in 2019/20 to the capital 
programme to be funded from departmental reserves to proceed with 
the next phase of the Country Parks Transformation Programme and 
specific proposals for the Empire Room at Royal Victoria Country Park, 
the farm attractions at Staunton and Manor Farm and for Queen 
Elizabeth Country Park.

Page 68



d) The addition of £4m to the capital programme to fund the replacement 
of the current social care IT system to be met from existing funding set 
aside for this purpose.

e) The addition of £9.53m to the capital programme to progress the 
completion of phase 1 of the Eclipse Busway from Fareham to Gosport, 
together with funding of up to £2.5m to underwrite the scheme in the 
event that further grant funding cannot be secured.

2. Executive Summary 
2.1. The purpose of this report is to consider the medium term prospects for the 

County Council’s finances to 2021/22 and to update Cabinet on the budget 
development process for 2019/20.

2.2. The deliberate strategy that the County Council has followed to date for 
dealing with grant reductions and the removal of funding that was historically 
provided to cover inflation, coupled with continued  demand pressures over 
the last decade is well documented.  It involves planning ahead of time, 
through a two-yearly cycle, releasing resources in advance of need and 
using those resources to help fund transformational change.  This strategy 
has served the County Council, and more particularly, its services and 
community well, as it has delivered transformation programmes on time and 
on budget with maximum planning and minimum disruption. Put simply, it is 
an approach that has ensured Hampshire County Council has continued to 
avoid the worst effects of funding reductions that have started to blight other 
local authorities.

2.3. The financial position to 2019/20 was heavily impacted by the Local 
Government Finance Settlement for 2016/17 which changed the 
methodology for distributing grant and reversed the Government’s previous 
policy on council tax increases.  In February 2016 it was reported to Cabinet 
and County Council that a gap in the order of £140m would need to be 
bridged and this has been reflected in all financial updates since that date, 
leading into the Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) Programme.

2.4. The County Council’s strategy placed it in a very strong position to produce 
a ‘steady state’ budget for 2018/19 and give itself the time and capacity to 
develop and safely implement the next phase of changes through the Tt2019 
Programme.  The budget for 2018/19 was balanced through the use of the 
Grant Equalisation Reserve (GER), in line with the previous Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) approved by County Council.

2.5. The Tt2019 Programme is progressing well and to plan, but it is clear that 
bridging a further gap of £140m will be extremely difficult and will take longer 
to achieve in order to avoid service disruption.  The Chief Executive’s report 
on Transformation to 2019 – Report No. 3 was presented to Cabinet in April 
2018 and outlined the positive progress being made.

2.6. Taking up to four years to safely deliver service changes rather than being 
driven to deliver within the two year financial target requires the careful use 
of reserves as part of our overall financial strategy to allow the time to deliver 

Page 69



and also to provide resources to invest in the transformation of services.  
This further emphasises the value of our reserves strategy. 

2.7. In 2019/20 additional funding to provide for the revenue consequences of 
the Digital Programme which underpins the delivery of transformation, to re-
align the Strategic Procurement budget and also to respond to the continued 
growth in demand pressures across children’s social services is required and 
will be met from a further round of corporate efficiencies, achieved from a 
review of treasury management activity, inflation allowances, contingencies 
and reserves.

2.8. The County Council’s ability to continue to provide resources to invest in 
specific priorities, in line with the County Council’s focus on efficiency and 
service improvement, and to generate revenue benefits in future financial 
years, even in times of tight financial control, is a testament to the strong 
financial management and rigorous approach to planning and delivering 
change that has been applied; and to the benefits that can be achieved from 
working at scale.  

2.9. In this context the report also considers some specific additional capital 
investment, although overall there remains limited scope to add new 
schemes to an extensive capital programme.

2.10. This report extends the financial planning period to 2021/22 and considers 
the financial strategy that may be developed, recognising the uncertainty 
that exists beyond the period covered by the current spending review which 
runs to 2019/20.  No further settlement figures are available after 2019/20 
and there remains uncertainty nationally around the Fair Funding Review 
and the future of 100% Business Rate Retention.

2.11. Whilst the scale of Government grant reductions after 2019/20 is not 
expected to be at the same levels experienced throughout the last decade, 
the County Council must still find funding to meet inflationary and pay 
pressures within services that prior to 2010 would have been funded by 
government.  Provision must also be made for new funding to meet growth 
in services, primarily in the areas of adults’ and children’s social care with 
only partial funding provided by the Government for adults’ services and no 
national funding identified yet to begin to address the pressures for 
children’s.  Whilst council tax income provides part of the solution, the 
budget can only be balanced through reductions in spending or the 
generation of additional income by departments.

2.12. Looking ahead, the financial forecasts beyond 2020 indicate that the net gap 
over the two year period to the 2021/22 financial year is £80m, although it 
must be emphasised that this forecast is based on a wide range of 
assumptions and represents a realistic view as opposed to the worst case 
scenario.  It includes assumptions that are marginally less prudent than 
previous forecasts in order to try to mitigate the impact on services but this 
must be balanced against the greater risk that these assumptions build into 
our medium term financial planning.

2.13. The County Council gross expenditure continues to be in the region of 
£1.9bn and the authority remains in a very strong financial position, which is 

Page 70



testament to the organisation’s ability to plan and ensure that it is 
appropriately placed to deal with the future challenges that lie ahead.  
However, what is clear from the forward forecasts that have been prepared 
is that under current funding arrangements, against existing duties and 
anticipated demands, the County Council cannot maintain financial 
sustainability in the longer term.  It simply does not have the capacity to 
continue to absorb the annual inflationary and growth pressures through 
successive change programmes without the allocation of additional 
government funding.

2.14. Whilst Hampshire is as well placed as any county council to tackle these 
pressures over the medium term, the simple mathematics mean that 
ultimately there will be a tipping point and evidence would suggest that many 
local authorities are closer to that position already. 

2.15. The County Council’s workstream, cost reduction, efficiency and 
transformation programmes and the capital programme will all be reviewed 
to identify future opportunities.  The emphasis will once again be on 
efficiency and cost reduction aligned with exploiting new digital capability.  
Increasing partnerships, trading and commercial opportunities will be 
evaluated at the same time to ensure continued focus on maximising value 
from every pound spent.  However, whilst the County Council will seek to 
maximise opportunities in these areas, delivering a further £80m on top of 
the £480m removed from the budget by 2019/20 is unlikely to be achieved 
without further targeting of services and the reduction of services in some 
areas.

2.16. The County Council’s reserves strategy, which is set out in Appendix 3, is 
now well rehearsed and continues to be one of the key factors that 
underpins our ability not only to provide funding for transformation of 
services, but also to give the time for the changes to be successfully 
planned, developed and safely implemented.

2.17. The apparent lack of understanding of local authority reserves continues to 
be a national issue and in response some indicative work by the Local 
Government Association highlighted that for local government collectively, 
after earmarked or committed reserves had been excluded, the remaining 
uncommitted reserves only left enough money to run services for around 25 
days.  For the County Council the same exercise has been repeated and 
gives a figure of just over 27 days, highlighting once again that reserves 
offer no long term solution to the financial challenges we face.  Correctly 
used however, they do provide the time and capacity to properly plan, 
manage and implement change programmes as the County Council has 
demonstrated for many years now.

3. Contextual Information
3.1. It is normal practice, at this time of the year, to provide Cabinet with an 

update on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) in order to inform 
and direct work on detailed budget planning that will take place over the 
summer.

Page 71



3.2. The budget setting process for 2019/20 will be different from last year in that 
the majority of the decisions in respect of major changes to the budget were 
taken early, in the 2018/19 budget setting process.  Other factors will still 
affect the budget, such as council tax decisions and social care pressures as 
outlined later in this report, but these will not be as significant as the change 
programme that has already been put in place.

3.3. The County Council’s success in delivering its budget plans is demonstrated 
by the fact that it has been able to contain expenditure within budget and 
has achieved under spends in each of the years since 2010/11, despite 
taking significant sums of money out of the budget. 

3.4. 2017/18 represented a further milestone in this journey, given that a further 
£98m was removed from budgets in this year following the Transformation to 
2017 (Tt2017) Programme, taking the total to £340m since the grant 
reductions (including the removal of funding from government to provide for 
inflation and demand growth) began.

3.5. This further level of reduction obviously increased the risk within the budget 
and strong financial management has remained a key focus throughout the 
year to ensure that all departments stay within their cash limits, that no new 
revenue pressures are created and that the change programmes that have 
been approved are delivered.  Enhanced financial resilience monitoring, 
which looks not only at the regular financial reporting but also at potential 
pressures in the system and the early achievement of resources being 
delivered through transformation, has continued through periodic reports to 
the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and to Cabinet

3.6. The outturn position for 2017/18 is set out in the 2017/18 – End of Year 
Financial Report to Cabinet presented elsewhere on this Agenda and shows 
an overall under spend across departments.  This position is probably the 
best measure we have for demonstrating that the Tt2017 Programme has 
been successfully delivered and that the focus on strong financial 
management throughout the year has been effective.

3.7. It is too early to look at revenue monitoring information from 2018/19 but 
given that this year is in effect a ‘steady state’ position, following the decision 
to roll up all of the savings into the Transforming the Council to 2019 
(Tt2019) Programme, the potential risks are lower than in 2017/18, although 
we continue to face pressures within social care (especially children’s) along 
with most other authorities providing these services.

3.8. The Chief Executive’s report on Transformation to 2019 – Report No. 3 was 
presented to Cabinet in April 2018 and outlined the positive progress being 
made as we continue with implementation of the programme to deliver the 
required changes and service transformation.

3.9. The programme is now very much orientated to implementation and delivery.  
Where appropriate, this will include further service specific public 
consultations where proposals and options for service change will be 
debated with service users and key stakeholders.

3.10. In line with previous major cost reduction exercises, progress is being 
closely monitored and is subject to monthly review by CMT.  This ensures 

Page 72



that issues, concerns and risks are dynamically responded to and dealt with 
and also means that benefits realisation and the planned delivery is 
consistently in focus, which for this programme, given its later cash flow 
support demands, is ever more important.  In addition, it is almost certain 
that there will be further service demand pressures, particularly in the social 
care departments, and a continued squeeze on public sector funding into the 
next decade.  This puts an added premium on the Tt2019 Programme being 
delivered in full, and as quickly as it is safe to do so to put the County 
Council in the best position possible at the commencement of any successor 
programme.

3.11. Early implementation progress has been positive with some £35m of the 
£140m target secured by the end of February.  This includes the full 
achievement of the £23.2m of corporate efficiencies (including a small 
element of additional council tax income) alongside some early delivery 
across the different departmental programmes.  This combined with the 
effective management of the financial position across the authority in 
2017/18 indicates that the County Council is well placed to maintain its 
record of strong financial management and delivery through 2018/19.

3.12. The focus of this report is therefore on the position for 2019/20, the medium 
term to 2022 and the proposed strategy and high level timetable for dealing 
with the predicted gap in each of these years.

4. The Council’s Challenge
4.1. Members will be fully aware that the County Council has been responding to 

reductions in public spending, designed to help close the structural deficit 
within the economy, since the first reductions to government grants were 
applied in 2010 and then as part of subsequent Comprehensive Spending 
Reviews (CSRs).

4.2. Whilst the County Council understands the wider economic imperative for 
closing the structural deficit, the prolonged period of tight financial control 
has led to significant reductions in government grant and the removal of 
funding that was historically provided to cover inflation, coupled with 
continued underfunding for demand pressures.  At the same time the County 
Council has also had to respond to inflationary and growth driven increases 
in costs across all services, but in particular adults’ and children’s social 
care.

4.3. Reductions in government grant together with inflationary and service 
pressures highlighted above created an average budget gap of around £50m 
per annum in the early part of the decade, meaning that around £100m has 
needed to be saved every two year cycle since 2011.

4.4. This position was exacerbated following the changes announced in the Local 
Government Settlement in February 2016 which provided definitive figures 
for 2016/17 and provisional figures for the following three years to 2019/20.  
The settlement included a major revision to the methodology for distributing 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) which had a major impact on Shire Counties 

Page 73



and Shire Districts and also reflected a clear shift by the Government in 
council tax policy.

4.5. The impact on Shire Counties of a significant unexpected reduction in grant 
at a time of growing demand and cost pressures in the services they provide 
has affected the short term financial viability of some County Councils, with 
Surrey previously considering a referendum for a 15% council tax increase 
and the well publicised financial issues facing Northamptonshire whose 
Director of Finance issued a Section 114 notice in February 2018, imposing 
spending controls on the council.  

4.6. Whilst Hampshire’s forward planning and successful delivery to date have 
placed it in a strong position, the impact of the 2016/17 settlement 
significantly increased the challenge for the two years to 2019/20.

4.7. The County Council’s approach to date has served it well, exploring areas of 
cost reduction, efficiency, IT enablement and other investment in service re-
design and transformation to help make the required budget reductions.  
This approach will continue alongside a commercial strategy which 
generates over £130m of income each year.

4.8. The County Council’s commercial strategy was set out in detail in the 
previous update of the MTFS presented to Cabinet and County Council in 
October and November last year.  A summary of the strategy is outlined 
below.

4.9. There are four main areas where the County Council has sought to generate 
additional income to help close the budget deficit:

 Charging users for the direct provision of services.

 Investing money or using assets to generate a return.

 Expanding traded services to other organisations.

 Developing joint ventures that yield additional income or generate a 
return.

4.10. The County Council continues to expand on this strategy with an expected 
£11.2m income from its investment portfolio during 2017/18, further 
expansion of partnership arrangements including providing public health 
services on the Isle of Wight and on-boarding of three London Boroughs to 
the Shared Services Partnership taking place this year.

4.11. Progress on the Manydown housing development has moved to the next 
phase following the appointment of a private sector partner who has brought 
significant expertise and external investment to the joint venture 
arrangement.

4.12. By building on its existing strengths, at the same time as looking for 
innovative (but low risk and sustainable) options for  investment and 
utilisation of assets, the County Council has radically shifted its approach to 
income generation and the pursuit of commercial opportunities during the 
period of tight financial control.

4.13. The success of the County Council’s approach now means that we:

Page 74



 Will be generating fees and charges income of around £100m by 
2019/20.

 Will increase gross trading services as part of Tt2019 to £150m, 
generating a potential net contribution in the order of £19.5m.

 Have increased investment returns on cash balances from £3.5m 
per annum in 2011/12 to over £9m in the current year (budgeted).

 Will start to generate longer term savings through property 
development and joint ventures with partners that will contribute to 
future change programmes.

4.14. Total commercial based activity will contribute around £130m to supporting 
the County Council’s bottom line and to helping maintain high quality 
services, staff capacity and the retention of skills and technical expertise.

4.15. This has all been achieved through the pursuit of a range of initiatives 
targeting increased income generation but without over exposing the Council 
to excessive risk or considering radical changes that take the County 
Council into areas that are not its core business or indeed pursuing more 
niche opportunities that simply do not offer with any confidence anything like 
the scale of income to merit the effort and upfront investment.

4.16. While the organisation should and will continue to explore all further 
opportunities to extend these net incomes and identify new ones, it would be 
a grave error to reduce our planned targets for Tt2019 and beyond on the 
back of over ambitious or unsustainable income forecasts that would build 
significant risk into future financial plans.

5. 2019/20 Budget
5.1. In overall terms, even after allowing for council tax increases over the 

settlement period, an anticipated budget gap of £140m was predicted by 
2019/20 and targets based on a reduction of approaching 19% in cash 
limited spend, were allocated to departments as part of the Tt2019 
Programme.  The remaining amount, now standing at £23.2m, has been 
secured from corporate efficiencies resulting from changes in accounting 
practice in respect of depreciation and Minimum Revenue Provisions (MRP) 
and also the management of debt, inflation allowances and reserves; along 
with a small amount of additional council tax income.

5.2. The anticipated delay in some elements of the delivery of cash release for 
the Tt2019 Programme has been factored into the medium term forecasts to 
ensure that sufficient one off funding exists both corporately and within 
departments to meet any potential gap over the period.  At this stage, there 
is a high degree of confidence that this can be covered but this shift in the 
profile of the delivery of change does indicate that we are now beginning to 
be ‘behind the curve’ rather than in front of it and this will inevitably impact 
on our ability to respond to further financial pressures after 2019/20.

5.3. Whilst the majority of the decisions in respect of major changes to the 
2019/20 budget were taken early, other factors will still impact the budget, 

Page 75



such as council tax decisions and also a number of additional pressures that 
are explored below:

Costs of the Digital and Enabling Productivity Programmes
5.4. In considering the financial strategy for 2019/20 and beyond, provision 

needs to be made for the allocation of funding to address the IT revenue 
pressures resulting from the Digital and Enabling Productivity (EP) 
Programmes and the expanding use of technology which underpins the 
delivery of transformation.

5.5. Recognising that technology is fundamental to the County Council’s day-to-
day service delivery and business operations, as well as being a key enabler 
for the transformation agenda, Appendix 1 sets out in more detail the 
financial pressures to be addressed which total £5m per annum.

5.6. This includes some allowances for growth pressures that arise simply 
because of the ever expanding nature of information technology.  Growth in 
data storage and the need for greater Wi-Fi capacity and coverage place 
pressures on the IT budget in the same way as more children requiring 
home to school transport places cost pressures on Children’s Services.

5.7. Whilst the majority of the expenditure underpins the Tt2019 change 
programmes, it was not felt appropriate to try to top slice departmental 
budgets to fund the ongoing costs of the investment in IT, as that would 
simply add to their targets in a less transparent manner, and therefore these 
additional costs are being factored into the forecasts in the same way as 
those for social care pressures.

Strategic Procurement 
5.8. For many years, the procurement function operated as a trading unit within 

the County Council, which meant that it sat outside of the normal cash limit 
process and everything that it spent had to be earned as income either 
externally, internally from other departments or through ad hoc projects.

5.9. As the period of tight financial control unfolded more corporate control to 
assist the organisation in further modernising its procurement practices to 
ensure increasing efficiency in the County Council’s external spending 
became vital.  In the face of this change, the trading unit methodology 
became less effective in dealing with the corporate demands and strategy 
for procurement across the whole of the County Council.  As a result, in 
2017/18 the decision was taken to stop treating Strategic Procurement as a 
trading unit and to incorporate it as part of the cash limited services within 
Corporate Services.

5.10. However, a large element of the budget continues to be met by income 
totalling £1.2m generated from a rebate mechanism which relies on a level 
of spend across the County Council with a range of suppliers.  As the 
pressure grows to reduce spend over successive change programmes, the 
requirement to deliver this rebate income to maintain the financial position of 
Strategic Procurement has a counter intuitive impact.

Page 76



5.11. It is therefore proposed to re-align the Strategic Procurement income budget 
through an adjustment to cash limits when these are agreed in December of 
this year allowing corporate prioritisation of this resource to take place, 
coupled with the ongoing push to reduce external spend without the 
consequent impact on rebate income.  Through replacing the current internal 
income in this way the funding of Strategic Procurement will become 
regularised and less dependent on a counter-productive business model, 
while still subject to the usual stringent monitoring.

Children’s Services Pressures
5.12. Nationally there is growing attention being focused on the pressures facing 

children’s services and analysis by the Local Government Association (LGA) 
published last year highlighted that growing demand for support is leading to 
over spends in an increasing number of authorities.

5.13. The Department have applied strong focus to these pressures and the 
reported position for 2017/18 is break even, reflecting the pro-active 
management of the services together with early delivery of resources, the 
use of the departmental reserves and agreed corporate support; including an 
additional £7.2m of support approved in February as part of budget setting.  

5.14. Funding has been set aside within contingencies to provide for the projected 
growth in Children Looked After (CLA) numbers (and in turn the knock on 
impact for care leavers) and rising costs in 2018/19 and beyond.  However, it 
was previously reported to Cabinet that a further increase in recurring 
funding would be required to meet the financial consequences of updated 
growth projections and more detail is contained in Appendix 2.  Current 
numbers of CLA are around 1,500, but the projections to 2022/23 indicate 
that this could rise to over 2,000 before the impact of the Partners In 
Practice (PIP) Programme is taken into account.

5.15. In summary, it is forecast that a base budget adjustment of £13.5m is 
required in 2019/20 and then annual increases are needed to keep pace 
with projected growth to ensure the Department operates from a firmer 
financial base as work on the challenging transformation programme 
progresses.  

5.16. This forecast continues to be based on a wide range of assumptions and 
predictions and given the unpredictability of CLA numbers and costs it is 
proposed to retain these sums in contingencies and to continue to monitor 
activity and spend closely, releasing funding only as required.

5.17. The forecast will also make provision for increased legal services resources 
of £350,000 as a result of the increased activity within children’s 
safeguarding and the requirement to process Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) which have also placed a higher workload within adults’ 
and legal services alike.

Page 77



Corporate Efficiencies
5.18. Once more, activity has been undertaken to explore the potential for further 

corporate efficiencies which would remove the need for additional 
departmental savings to be found and minimise the impact on services.  This 
will include a review of treasury management activity, inflation allowances, 
contingencies and reserves and may require some elements such as future 
increases in the council tax base to be brought forward to achieve the target.

5.19. Whilst challenging, the assessment is that further savings of £19.7m can be 
achieved, albeit that these may require an element of cashflow funding in the 
earlier years.

Schools Funding
5.20. Members will be aware that for the most part spending in schools is met 

through a government grant called Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  This is 
a ringfenced grant and can generally only be used for school purposes albeit 
there is some limited flexibility that can be applied as long as this is agreed 
by the Schools Forum.

5.21. In past years, schools have managed their budgets through a combination of 
utilising schools reserves and carrying forward unspent elements of the DSG 
in order to help balance budgets in future years.

5.22. In recent years however, there has been more and more pressure on 
schools budgets caused in particular by an increasing requirement for pupils 
with Special Educational Needs (SEN), which exceeds the High Needs 
allocation within DSG.  Schools forum have agreed to transfer the maximum 
sum allowed from the general Schools allocation to the High Needs block 
but in 2018/19 there was an over spend of £4.5m after using the remaining 
carried forward DSG, which has now been exhausted.

5.23. The Department for Education (DfE) have allowed the County Council to 
carry forward this deficit and Schools Forum have agreed a plan to meet the 
£4.5m in 2018/19.  However, it is expected that there will be a further (and 
growing) pressure on SEN in 2018/19 which based on current needs is 
expected to be in the region of £8m.  Measures are being implemented to try 
to address the pressures however this is complex in that many potential 
actions contain a risk of creating greater pressures elsewhere within the 
block.

5.24. The DfE is aware of these pressures, which are reflected nationally. Some 
additional, but insufficient, increase was made to the High Needs block with 
the implementation of the national funding formula.  We are continuing to 
draw this issue to the attention of the DfE, alongside all other local 
authorities.

Business Rate Retention
5.25. The Government has long held the view that Business Rate Retention (BRR) 

should be extended beyond the current level of 50%.  Technical work 

Page 78



continues across the sector to look at options for extending BRR to 75% with 
a possible implementation date of 2020/21.

5.26. Pilot schemes have been put in place and for 2018/19 bids were requested 
from local authorities to take part in a new set of pilots.  For the County 
Council to have taken part it would have needed the agreement of all the 
Districts and Boroughs in its area, but at least two authorities immediately 
indicated their clear intention not to want to take part.  In essence therefore 
the County Council was unable to submit a bid.

5.27. There were other factors which made the pilot less attractive in any event, in 
particular the fact that the Government did not initially offer a ‘no detriment’ 
clause, meaning that local authorities could have actually lost money if 
business rate income fell, and the need to gain agreement across the 
business rate area as to how the additional income would be used and 
distributed.

5.28. Since that time, the Government did agree to a ‘no detriment’ clause for 
2018/19 and have highlighted the fact that the growth in income is applied 
retrospectively to when the business rate baseline was set in 2013/14, 
meaning that greater gains can be made by authorities who were successful 
in applying for pilot status.

5.29. Given this position Hampshire authorities are again considering the 
possibility of submitting a bid for a pilot scheme in 2019/20 if and when one 
is announced, since preliminary work would need to be undertaken to meet 
what are usually tight submission timescales.

5.30. An initial proposal based on a 30% top slice for a ‘strategic infrastructure 
fund’ and 10% for contingencies has been pulled together and will be 
considered by the HIOWLGA Chief Executives group in due course.  Under 
the scheme, the County Council could benefit up to £6.9m on a one off basis 
from business rate growth, albeit that this is based on a large number of 
different variables; notably agreement of a future tier split with the districts 
and boroughs which will be challenging.

6. Medium Term Forecasts - Beyond 2019/20
6.1. The current financial strategy that the County Council operates, works on the 

basis of a two-year cycle of departmental savings to close the anticipated 
budget gap at the end of that cycle.  This provides the time and capacity to 
safely deliver major change programmes every two years, with deficits in the 
intervening years being met from the GER and early release of resources 
retained by departments to use for cost of change purposes or to cash flow 
delivery and offset service pressures.  The model has served the authority 
well.

6.2. Given the sustained pressure on the County Council’s finances this strategy 
has been reviewed and other options have been considered.  One option is 
to move to an annual savings programme, which would remove the need to 
cashflow budget deficits in the intervening years.  This option has been 
rejected as it does not allow sufficient time to properly plan and implement 
change and given the longer time frames for transformation experienced in 

Page 79



Tt2019 which we can anticipate applying thereafter, it is likely to require 
cashflow funding anyway.  It would also have the effect of running multiple 
overlapping programmes which inevitably would become complex and 
difficult to manage.

6.3. Alternatively the County Council could look to extend the programme timing 
to three years, recognising the current challenges in delivering Tt2019.  This 
is considered to be very high risk, given the uncertainties highlighted later in 
this Section and would also require greater one off funding that does not 
currently exist to fill two years worth of budget deficits of £80m.

6.4. The warning signs around other County Council finances following the 
Northamptonshire problems would also indicate that this is not the 
appropriate time to be delaying difficult decision.  Therefore sticking to the 
discipline and strategy that has placed the County Council in an 
exceptionally strong financial position to date would seem the most logical 
conclusion.

6.5. Members will be aware that the County Council is in the process of 
addressing a budget gap of £140m by 2019/20 through the Tt2019 
Programme.  Bridging a gap of £140m after already removing £340m of 
expenditure is a massive undertaking particularly as each successive 
change programme is becoming harder to deliver and many areas cannot be 
re-visited due to the nature of the revised service models or contractual 
arrangements that will have been put in place. 

6.6. As in previous years, the County Council has responded positively to the 
transformation challenge and proposals to meet the £140m deficit were 
signed off by County Council in November last year subject to any further 
Stage 2 consultations that need to take place.

6.7. What is different to previous years however is the fact that the profile of 
delivery for the programme is back loaded, with some changes not being 
delivered at all until well after 2019/20.  Whilst sufficient resources have 
been set aside to cover this delayed implementation, it does increase the 
overall risk in the budget going forward as there will potentially be 
overlapping change programmes.

6.8. Beyond 2020 the financial landscape will be significantly different and the 
County Council will no doubt face the biggest ever challenge to its overall 
financial sustainability which will be impacted one way or another by 
government policy on fair funding, business rate retention, the future funding 
for adults’ social care and the growing financial pressure nationally on 
children’s services.

6.9. Given the nature of local government finances, uncertainties around future 
government grant reductions and the large number of variables and 
assumptions within the overall model, it is difficult to predict with any 
certainty what the position is likely to be beyond 2019/20.

6.10. There are also certain key assumptions that need to be established before 
considering what the financial landscape post 2019/20 may look like.  The 
forecasts presented later in this section therefore assume the following:

Page 80



 All Tt2019 changes and the resulting financial benefits will be 
delivered in line with current assumptions.

 Funding from the Better Care Fund (BCF) continues at 2019/20 
levels going forward. 

 No business rate income growth assumed.

 No council tax base increase assumed (other than to help meet the 
£19.7m of corporate efficiencies mentioned in paragraph 5.18).

6.11. A high level forecast based on the following range of key assumptions has 
been calculated for the period to 2021/22:

 That the referendum limit will remain at 5.00% which includes a 
continuation of the extra 2% flexibility to pay for the increasing costs 
of adults’ social care and the increase to the referendum limit for 
‘core’ council tax which for the County Council rose from 2% to 3%.

 That council tax will increase by the maximum amount permissible 
without a referendum in line with government policy.  

 Decreases of 5% per annum in government funding offset, at least in 
part, by recognition of the need for funding to address the national 
pressures in children’s social care.  Whilst we are in negative RSG 
for 2019/20 there is still the opportunity to reduce funding through 
the current Business Rate Top Up Grant.

 Annual inflation for pay and prices of around £35.5m per annum, 
including the impact of the National Living Wage; both directly on 
salaries and indirectly on care costs.

 An allowance for continuing adult’s social care growth of £10m per 
annum in line with past projections

 An allowance for the future growth in children in care up to £12.6m 
per annum as set out in Appendix 2.

 Provision of £10m per annum to ensure the continuation of the 
current Operation Resilience which is due to end in 2020/21.

 New funding of £5m per annum to support the revenue costs of the 
Digital and EP Programmes.

 An allowance for growth in pension costs of £2.5m per annum 
resulting from the next triennial pension revaluation.

 Recognition that the MRP holiday, which delivered crucial savings in 
the order of £50m as a one off sum to contribute to the cash flowing 
of Tt2019 and the GER, will end part way through 2021/22 and 
payments will need to recommence.

6.12. These assumptions recognise the challenging financial environment within 
which the County Council will be working but at the same time include 
additional funding for adults’ and children’s social care and highways 
maintenance of up to £32.6m per annum over the period.

Page 81



6.13. Taking all of these factors into account and assuming that the Council 
delivers on the plans for Tt2019, the net gap over the two year period to 
2021/22 financial year is currently forecast to be £80m.  Given that corporate 
activity will already deliver efficiencies of £19.7m by 2019/20 (as described 
in paragraphs 5.18 to 5.19), activity to meet this gap will be targeted through 
departmental budgets.  This will equate to further cash limit reductions of 
around 13% over the two years. 

6.14. As highlighted in Section 5, whilst grant reductions represent only a small 
proportion of the overall gap in resources, the County Council must still find 
ways of meeting cost pressures in the form of inflation, growth and new 
initiatives, which hitherto were also supported by increases in government 
grant.

6.15. Whilst some money is therefore added into departmental budgets before the 
gap is met, this still requires a total reduction in net spend of £80m that must 
be delivered either by reducing activity, reducing the cost of the activity that 
is provided or generating additional income.  This can be represented 
diagrammatically as follows for the two year period 2020/21 to 2021/22:

Note: Blocks are not to scale

6.16. It must be emphasised that this forecast is based on a wide range of 
assumptions and represents a realistic view as opposed to the worst case 
scenario.  There are significant risks around government funding and we are 
in effect working “blind” at this stage.  The scale of the reductions in funding 
for local government will be unknown until the next CSR is announced and 
the impact on the County Council itself will remain unclear until the 
announcement of the Local Government Finance Settlement towards the 
end of 2019.

Page 82



6.17. Given this position, it would be prudent at this stage to proceed on the basis 
that a further gap of £80m needs to be bridged by 2021/22.  It is critical that 
during the next two years the County Council is not distracted from 
delivering the Tt2019 Programme, irrespective of the financial outlook in the 
years beyond 2020.  Any failure to release recurring sustainable resources 
in a timely manner will only serve to worsen the position.  The intention is 
therefore to continue the well tested strategy of meeting any anticipated gap 
in 2020/21 from one-off resources which will be built up in the GER in the 
intervening period.

Risks in the Forecast
6.18. The current national focus on the financial sustainability of County Councils 

following the issuing of a Section 114 notice is a stark reminder that a 
balance must be struck between producing a prudent forecast that takes into 
account known pressures and issues and then building in assumptions 
which seek to reduce the impact of budget reductions that departments are 
required to meet.

6.19. The County Council has always remained on the prudent side of this 
balance, which is evident when considering our position against the 
symptoms of financial stress as outlined in Section 8.  Our reserves and 
balances stand at approaching £646m at the end of 2017/18 and whilst we 
fully understand that the majority of this is committed or earmarked for 
specific purposes as referenced in paragraph 2.17, it still acts as a general 
barometer for the relative financial health of the County Council.

6.20. The forecasts set out in this Section have followed a similar process to 
previous years and the risks faced are also common to previous MTFS 
positions.  However, what is particularly relevant for this forecast is the lack 
of any detail around the Government‘s intentions beyond 2019/20.

6.21. The key risks within the forecast can therefore be summarised as follows:

 Grant reductions or funding re-distribution are greater than expected 
following the Fair Funding Review and extended BRR.

 The assumption of ongoing council tax increases at 5%, including the 
social care precept.

 The assumption that there will be some government funding allocated 
towards children’s social care pressures.

 That growth in adults’ and children’s social care is greater than 
forecast (Appendix 2 highlights that continued growth in CLA at the 
level experienced in the last six months of 2017/18 would add a 
further pressure of £27m to this forecast).

 Potential changes resulting from the imminent Green Paper on social 
care for older people and the parallel work being undertaken looking 
at social care for working age adults.

 Pay and price inflation exceed the provisions contained in the 
forecast.

Page 83



6.22. At this stage the £80m target is deemed to be an appropriate mid-case 
scenario on which to progress.  If following the Government’s next Spending 
Review this proves to be optimistic then we would seek to temporarily 
absorb the impact of any additional deficit through the use of reserves, as 
we did for the last Spending Review, and then build the ongoing impact into 
the next change programme.

6.23. Should the position be more favourable then there are clearly more options 
available to the County Council on how it wishes to proceed.

7. Transformation to 2021/22
7.1. The high level medium term forecast to 2021/22 now requires the County 

Council to develop a transformation programme that will deliver £80m.  
Meeting this target on top of the £480m that will have been removed from 
the budget by 2019/20 clearly represents the greatest financial challenge 
yet, coming as it does at the end of a decade of funding reductions for local 
government. 

Meeting the Gap
7.2. The County Council has for some time implemented a sophisticated 

approach to developing its MTFS.  It has two strands:

 The first identifies inflationary and growth pressures across services 
and allocates funding to address these and considers the changes 
required to also address the loss of government grant income.

 It then applies a straight line target allocation to meet the 
consequential budget deficit based on net spending to all 
departments.

7.3. This means that resource allocation overall is directed to the places that 
need it but importantly it also maintains a strong corporate approach and 
discipline to delivering the required changes. 

7.4. This approach firmly focuses on delivery of resources, removing the 
distraction of debating the relative merits of different target setting 
methodologies.  This also avoids any subjective debate about the relative 
merit of specific services and it is recognised that the key pressures, felt 
within for example demand led social care services, are increasing which is 
reflected in additional growth in these budgets as appropriate.  

7.5. There has always been strong distinction made between savings targets and 
growth allocations which are made in recognition of growing demand and 
service pressures on a revenue or capital basis, for example social care, 
highways maintenance and waste disposal, and the County Council’s gross 
expenditure remains in the region of £1.9bn.

7.6. Over the period since 2010 net departmental budgets have in fact grown by 
approaching £90m as shown in the diagram below, with the majority of the 
additional funding allocated to Adults’ Health and Care:

Page 84



Growth 
Pressures - 

£245.6m

Departmental Savings 
- £306.1m

Inflation - 
£148.8m

2018/19 Departmental Budgets - £770m

2009/10 Departmental Budgets - £681.7m

Total Required Spending - £1,076.1m

Total Required Funding - £1,076.1m

7.7. Translating the £80m into departmental targets results in the following 
allocation which equates to further cash limit reductions of circa 13% over 
the two years:

Target
£'000

Adults' Health & Care (*) 43,100
Children's Services (Non-Schools) 17,202
Economy Transport and Environment 11,748
Policy &Resources 7,950
Total 80,000
(* Public Health included as ring-fence anticipated to end in 2019/20)

7.8. As part of the previous MTFS it was re-iterated that at that stage cash limits 
had been cut significantly since the period of funding reductions began as 
demonstrated in the following table:

2012/13 2 year target -16.0%
2013/14 efficiency target -2.0%
2015/16 2 year target -12.0%
2017/18 2 year target -14.5%
2019/20 2 year target -19.0%

-63.5%

7.9. In broad terms bridging a further £80m gap will take the cumulative reduction 
in cash limits to more than 76% over a ten year period.  However as 
highlighted in the diagram in paragraph 6.15 there has been and continues 
to be increases in the net departmental budgets; funded primarily from 
increased council tax income.

Page 85



7.10. This overall position is predicated on the Council’s ability to meet, on a one-
off basis, a significant gap in funding in 2020/21 in order to give the longer 
lead in time for delivery.  Even over a two year period, this is clearly a very 
challenging prospect given the value of resources that have already been 
taken out of the system and the additional effort and levels of transformation 
activity that are required to achieve further phases of change.  It is likely that 
further corporate cash flow support may be required and therefore where 
possible, the County Council will continue to direct spare one off funding into 
the GER as part of an overall longer term risk mitigation strategy, which has 
served it very well to date.

7.11. During the coming 18 months there will hopefully be further clarity around a 
range of issues, including some detail about the plans for BRR and the 
outcome of the Fair Funding Review, and this along with the future 
announcement relating to the next CSR will allow us to refine this position.

Timescales
7.12. Looking ahead to the programme to take us to 2021 we would propose a 

similar timeline to that adopted successfully for both the 2017 and 2019 
Transformation Programmes, including a similar approach to consultation.

7.13. In addition, a Budget Peer Review process has also been planned for this 
summer, which will help to inform the future savings programmes and 
options.  The key dates are set out in the table below:

MTFS to Cabinet and County Council June / July 2018
Budget Peer Review Process June / July 2018
Update on Tt2021 to be included in October 2018
regular Tt2019 report to Cabinet
Initial pre-consultation opportunities Spring 2019
identified
First stage Public Consultation Summer 2019
Executive Member decision making September 2019
Cabinet and County Council decisions October 2019
Service Specific consultations as required Winter 2019 / Spring 2020

7.14. In the past, the County Council has tackled the change programmes by:

 Planning early and ensuring that everyone understands and is 
focused on what needs to be achieved.

 Giving itself the time and capacity to achieve the changes in services 
and structures required.

 Supplementing capacity and driving out savings through Corporate 
Workstream programmes.

Page 86



 Providing investment for change by allowing departments to keep 
under spends and providing other targeted funding where 
appropriate.

7.15. This strategy has served the County Council well throughout the period of 
government funding reductions and recognising that the time, capacity and 
investment required to achieve the next phase of transformation will be even 
greater than before there is an overriding argument to maintain the proven 
formula at this stage.

7.16. Given that the future programme will increase the cumulative total of savings 
to £560m it is inevitable that some of the changes will involve more targeted 
service delivery and service reductions in addition to efficiencies and income 
generation.  As we move towards 2021 we will need to understand more 
clearly the cost of delivering our core services and therefore the “floor” for 
our operating costs and work will be undertaken to develop this knowledge 
through a series of Budget Peer Review sessions over the summer.  

7.17. Now is the time to consider the wider strategy for tackling the next phase of 
change and further detail will then be developed alongside delivery on the 
Tt2019 Programme, since achievement of that programme is as important as 
the one to come, if we are to ensure that we do not compound the potential 
deficit that we face.  

7.18. Looking ahead, although there are a number of risks, dependencies and 
external factors that will require on-going management input and attention, 
and in a number of areas risks to delivery could actually increase rather than 
reduce, at least in the immediate term, success with the Tt2019 Programme, 
over its extended time period will lay very solid and strong foundations for 
the inevitable and harder successor transformation programme.  Alongside 
this continued management it is anticipated that in the spring of 2019 we will 
start to map out the broad themes that the Transformation to 2021 
Programme may contain.

7.19. On the basis that the planning for the future programme is considered in the 
spring it would seem reasonable to give departments a period of around six 
months to develop initial proposals that can be tested and challenged in time 
for consultation over the summer before formal decision making by Cabinet 
and Council in October 2019, which follows the same time frame as all the 
previous transformation programmes.

7.20. It is important that we continue to include time for effective consultation with 
residents and stakeholders to inform planning on future proposals to bridge 
the forecast gap of £80m.  Where service specific options require further 
more detailed consultations this will also allow time for these to be carried 
out and further decisions to be made and implemented with sufficient time to 
deliver the required savings by April 2021, albeit that the eventual delivery of 
those savings may take longer depending on the complexity and nature of 
the proposals put forward by departments, which has been a feature of the 
Tt2019 Programme which we have also needed to plan for in a sensible and 
considered way.

Page 87



Options Arising from Partnerships or Requiring Legislation
7.21. The additional challenge that a further programme of savings will bring 

inevitably means that we may need to continue to pursue options that 
require some level of external intervention or changes in the law.  Many of 
these may have wider implications but they are seen as offering a solution to 
some of the financial problems that we face without requiring new funding to 
be allocated by the Government, although these are not necessarily within 
the County Council’s gift.  These include:

 Nominal charging for entry to Household Waste Recycling Centres 
which would assist in keeping sites open and would still reduce the 
net financial cost.

 Consideration of waste disposal arrangements with District and 
Borough Councils

 Closer co-operation within Local Government in Hampshire which has 
the potential to achieve efficiencies of between £40m and £100m per 
annum.

 Changes in Home to School Transport, the legislation for which dates 
back to the 1940’s.

 Use of speeding course income to fund school crossing patrols.

 Continuing to explore income generation opportunities through trading 
services and partnership arrangements in line with our commercial 
strategy.

7.22. These options may form part of the potential package that is drawn together 
for the spring before consulting with the public over the summer months.

8. Financial Sustainability and Resilience
8.1. Financial sustainability and resilience describes the ability of local authorities 

to remain viable, stable and effective in the medium to long term in the face 
of pressures from growing demand, tightening funding and an increasingly 
complex and unpredictable financial environment.  This is a key issue in light 
of events unfolding in Northamptonshire.

8.2. In the current environment in which local authorities are operating, achieving 
financial resilience is a challenge for all and the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) have called on councils to watch out for 
signs of financial stress.  In view of developments in Northamptonshire 
County Council this is particularly pertinent.  In its report entitled “Building 
Financial Resilience” CIPFA identified five key ‘symptoms’ of financial stress 
as follows:

 Running down reserves / a rapid decline in reserves.  By definition, 
using up reserves to avoid cuts can only provide temporary relief.

 A failure to plan and deliver changes in service provision to ensure 
the council lives within its resources. 

Page 88



 Shortening medium term financial planning horizons, perhaps from 
three or four years to two or even one.  A failure to plan ahead could 
indicate a lack of strategic thinking and an unwillingness to confront 
tough decisions. 

 A lack of firm objectives for savings - greater ‘still to be found’ gaps 
in financial plans.  Now, not only are planning horizons shortening, 
but some authorities have only specified how savings will be 
achieved for the next financial year and even then there may be 
some with targets rather than firm plans. 

 A growing tendency for departments to have unplanned over spends 
and / or carry forward undelivered saving into the following year.  As 
well as creating a need for greater cuts in subsequent years, 
unplanned over spends are a sign that an authority is struggling to 
translate its policy decisions into actions. 

8.3. CIPFA have highlighted key areas of focus to support financial resilience 
and these echo the approach taken to date by the County Council and 
continued in the plans to take us to 2021/22.  These include getting routine 
financial management right, having clear and realistic plans for the delivery 
of savings which are monitored and underpinned by adequate investment 
and managing reserves sensibly to ‘cushion’ the delivery of a transformation 
programme over the medium term.

8.4. In addition, the report highlights the danger, in the relentless search for 
savings, of focusing on the “gap” still to be found while failing to take the 
actions necessary to ensure all the agreed changes have been delivered.  
The County Council is alert to this potential danger and for Tt2017, and to an 
even greater extent Tt2019, has taken a very measured approach to the 
timing of moving focus from one transformation programme to the next. 

8.5. Despite the relentless financial pressure and need to deliver savings, the 
County Council has shown year after year its ability to not only follow 
through on its agreed strategy but also to respond to unforeseen pressures 
and invest in service improvements and capital spending where it is felt 
necessary (this report being a prime example of all of these things).

8.6. At the same time the County Council must not become complacent and must 
maintain its financial discipline both within the current year and in developing 
and delivering sustainable changes for the future.

8.7. As difficult as the next phase of activity is likely to be it is still worth 
reminding ourselves that the County Council remains in a very strong 
financial position, especially relative to other upper tier authorities, delivering 
on its change programmes, keeping within cash limits and having the 
financial capacity to invest in the transformation of continually high 
performing services.

9. Capital Strategy
9.1. The County Council’s capital programme has been maintained and 

expanded over recent years, continuing the trend of ensuring that we invest 

Page 89



wisely in maintaining and enhancing our existing assets and delivering a 
programme of new ones.

9.2. The capital programme is reviewed and agreed annually.  This sets out the 
levels of capital expenditure for each service and the main expectations of 
where the money will be spent, a large proportion of which is in relation to 
schools, including the provision of school places.

9.3. The County Council’s capital aspirations are dependent upon finance being 
available and the sources of finance to support the capital programme are as 
follows:

 Government capital grants – The Government has issued all of its 
support for local authorities’ capital expenditure from 2011/12 onwards 
in the form of capital grants and not as borrowing allocations.

 Prudential borrowing – Loans that the County Council may decide to 
raise in the knowledge that it will have to meet the principal repayment 
and interest charges from its own resources without any additional 
support from the Government.  The County Council has to consider the 
impact of such loans on the revenue budget and prudential indicators.

 Contributions from other bodies, which can include developers, the 
health service, other local authorities and the national lottery.

 Capital receipts from the sale of land, buildings and other assets.
 Contributions from the revenue budget including those held in the 

capital reserve. 
9.4. There is an interrelationship between capital and revenue both directly and 

indirectly.  Capital expenditure may be funded directly from revenue however 
the general pressures on the Council’s revenue budget and council tax 
levels limit the extent to which this may be exercised as a source of capital 
funding.

9.5. Prudential borrowing does provide an option for funding additional capital 
development but one which then results in costs that have to be funded each 
year from within the revenue budget or from generating additional ongoing 
income streams.

9.6. Given the pressure on the Council’s revenue budget in future years, prudent 
use has been made of this discretion to progress schemes in cases where 
there was an obvious financial benefit.  Such schemes focus on clear 
priorities, and those that generate revenue benefits in future financial years, 
in the form of clear and measurable revenue savings or longer term income 
generation either directly or through council tax or business rate yield.

9.7. Service improvement is at the heart of everything the County Council does 
and it is also important in the current financial climate that key services are 
able to continue and prosper.  Therefore, whilst it is recognised that 
prudential borrowing and the resultant impact on revenue must be a key 
consideration, where there are specific priorities in line with the County 
Council’s focus on service improvement then the programme will continue to 
be expanded where it is affordable to do so and delivers measurable 
revenue benefits.

Page 90



9.8. It was therefore considered important that there was a good corporate 
understanding of the key capital investment priorities to aid future planning in 
this area and departments were asked to identify their potential requirements 
over the medium term.

9.9. A large proportion of the capital investment related to schemes that will lead 
to reductions in revenue expenditure, for example projects within Adults' 
Health and Care who will work with health to produce short term stay hubs 
for re-abling clients so that they can return to their own homes.  The County 
Council will also consider schemes where capital investment can generate 
new or higher levels of income generation.

9.10. For all of these “Invest to Save” schemes, the expectation is that they will be 
funded from prudential borrowing (the financing costs of which would need 
to be met by departments from the savings that are generated by the 
schemes) or directly from departmental resources.

9.11. Each scheme is expected to produce a business case in its own right which 
depending on the value of the scheme will then need to be approved by 
Cabinet or County Council before it can proceed.  Schemes and 
programmes requiring approval as part of this MTFS are outlined below.

Adults’ Services Bed Based Programme
9.12. Adults’ Services supported by staff from the Transformation Practice and 

Finance have been undertaking research and analysis to look at what care 
provision will be needed by the County Council over the medium to longer 
term.  This takes account of predicted market capacity and conditions, as 
well as demographic changes and changes in the make up and complexity 
of clients (for example a greater number of dementia clients needing care).

9.13. This is obviously a very complex landscape with many variables and issues 
to consider, however, the work is important to assess what bed based 
provision we will need in the future so that we can invest in the right facilities 
in the right locations.  A range of options are being targeted including, short 
term re-ablement beds, dementia care, nursing care, extension of the extra 
care programme and the modernisation of our residential homes.  The 
number of beds and the cost will be dependent on the types of schemes 
taken forward.

9.14. At this stage, detailed work continues to be undertaken to develop an overall 
Outline Business Case for submission in the autumn but this report requests 
that an initial sum of £200m is added to the capital programme, which will 
ultimately be funded from prudential borrowing and repaid from the 
resources that are released.  

9.15. In a similar way to the Extra Care Programme, all proposed schemes will 
need to produce a Full Business Case that must be signed off by the 
Executive Member for Policy and Resources before the scheme can 
commence.  More information about the overall aims and scope of the 
programme will be presented in the autumn.

Page 91



Country Parks Transformation
9.16. The second of these is the next phase of the Country Parks Transformation 

Programme and specific proposals for the Empire Room at Royal Victoria 
Country Park, the farm attractions at Staunton and Manor Farm and for 
Queen Elizabeth Country Park.

9.17. A report entitled ’Country Park Transformation Phase 2 Business Case and 
Project Appraisal’ was presented to the Executive Member for Culture, 
Recreation and Countryside on 10 May 2018 and Cabinet is recommended 
to add £1.8m to the capital programme in 2018/19 and £0.5m in 2019/20 to 
be funded from departmental reserves.  

Replacement Social Care System
9.18. The current social care system which is used by both Adults’ Health and 

Care and Children’s Services is due to go out of support in 2019 and 
therefore a replacement system needs to be procured.

9.19. Changes in technology and the need to ensure that any new system meets 
the differing needs of adults’ compared to children’s social care will be 
important factors in looking at the options available.  Options in the market 
place that look at single or separate systems will be considered and a further 
report will be brought back to Cabinet in due course.

9.20. A provision of £4m has already been set aside to fund the procurement and 
implementation costs of any new system or systems, but this report requests 
that £4m is formally added to the capital programme to enable this work to 
continue.

Bus Rapid Transit
9.21. The completion of Phase 1 of the Eclipse Busway will provide a southern 

extension to the award winning Eclipse Busway from Fareham to Gosport.  
The Scheme is a 0.9 kilometre extension from Hutfield Link / Tichborne Way 
to Rowner Road at an estimated cost of £9.53m.  It forms the final phase of 
a planned busway forecast to deliver additional time savings, patronage 
growth, modal shift, access to key development sites and improve air quality.  
The Scheme will also facilitate a new ‘Eclipse Extra’ bus service to the 
Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus. 

9.22. The existing Eclipse Busway Phase 1A has delivered significant modal shift.  
Approximately 20% of passengers have transferred from the car, and traffic 
has reduced by up to 2% on the parallel A32.  There has been a 64% growth 
in patronage on the two Eclipse routes compared with the services they 
replaced, delivering a 12% increase in public transport use generally on the 
peninsula.  More people are using Eclipse for their daily commute, and more 
passengers are transferring to rail at Fareham rail station.  Approximately 2.4 
million journeys each year are now made on Eclipse, the busiest bus 
corridor wholly within Hampshire. 

9.23. Hampshire County Council secured £6.93m from the Government’s National 
Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) in October 2017 for the Scheme and an 

Page 92

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s16231/2018-05-10%20EMCR%20FINAL%20-%20CPT%20Phase%202%20Capital%20Approval_HF000016237230.pdf
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s16231/2018-05-10%20EMCR%20FINAL%20-%20CPT%20Phase%202%20Capital%20Approval_HF000016237230.pdf


additional £100,000 is being provided from the profit share from Phase 1A of 
the busway.  It is intended that further funding bids will be made for the 
balance of up to £2.5m of funding required.  This is likely to include bids to 
government programmes for air quality improvement, and the Transforming 
Cities Fund, whilst additional local funding may also become available 
through the Local Transport Plan capital allocations or developer funding 
contributions in the area.  This report seeks Cabinet and County Council 
approval to underwrite the funding of £2.5m in order that work can progress 
immediately on implementation of the project in advance of the outcome of 
any future Air Quality bid.  In the event that further funding is not secured the 
balance required to complete the project up to the £2.5m stated would be 
met from the Corporate Policy Reserve

9.24. Once complete, the operator will work in partnership with Hampshire County 
Council on this project.  They will invest £3m in a new fleet of seventeen 
high specification, low-emission buses to provide fast and high-frequency 
services on the busway, as well as introducing a new Eclipse Extra service 
to the Enterprise Zone.

9.25. The County Council’s ability to continue to provide significant resources to 
invest in specific priorities in line with the County Council’s focus on service 
improvement and to generate revenue benefits in future financial years, 
even in times of tight financial control, is a testament to the strong financial 
management and rigorous approach to planning and delivering savings that 
has been applied; and to the benefits that can be achieved from working at 
scale.

10. Reserves Strategy
10.1. The County Council’s reserves strategy, which is set out in Appendix 3, is 

now well rehearsed and continues to be one of the key factors that underpin 
our ability not only to provide funding for transformation of services but also 
to give the time for changes to be properly planned, developed and safely 
implemented.

10.2. Reserves are available to support:

 Funding of the capital programme.
 Investment in transformation.
 Departmental budgets in the face of pressures and timing delays in the 

release of resources.
 The overall revenue budget through the GER.

10.3. The County Council has made no secret of the fact that this deliberate 
strategy was expected to see reserves continue to increase during the 
period of tight financial control, although it was always recognised that the 
eventual planned use of the reserves would mean that a tipping point would 
come and we would expect to see reserves start to decline as they are put to 
the use in the way that they were intended as part of the wider MTFS.  

Page 93



10.4. As explained in the 2017/18 – End of Year Financial Report to Cabinet 
presented elsewhere on this Agenda, in overall terms the total value of 
earmarked revenue reserves has increased as provision is built up in the 
GER, ahead of planned draws in line with the MTFS.  

10.5. The net impact of the changes in the revenue account during 2017/18 mean 
that the GER stands at £74.9m, which is in line with the financial strategy of 
supporting the revenue spend position as plans are developed and delivered 
on a two year cycle.  Provision has been made for a draw in 2018/19 in 
order to give the County Council the time and capacity to implement the 
Tt2019 Programme and to cash flow the safe delivery of the programme so 
as we can complete the transformation to take us to 2019/20, and plan 
sensibly for future years.  

10.6. In the period to 2021/22, the unallocated amount remaining in the reserve 
will be £29.4m and in preparation for future draws beyond 2020 further 
additions will be required to the GER.  The table below summarises the 
forecast position for the GER before any requirement to balance the budget 
in 2020/21 or to provide corporate funding to cash flow the next stage of 
transformation which is likely, given the experience of Tt2019, although the 
scale is unknown at this stage:

GER
£'000

Balance at 31/03/2018       74,870
2018/19 Draw as per February Budget Setting (26,435)
Further Budgeted Additions:

MRP “Holiday”       21,000
Planned use:

Cash Flow Tt2019 (40,000)
Unallocated Balance       29,435

10.7. Other earmarked reserves have increased due to the receipt of funds in 
advance of their planned use but they will then fall as these funds are 
utilised in line with their intended purpose, in particular in funding the capital 
programme and supporting revenue spend whilst change programmes are 
put in place.  

10.8. While the overall level of reserves currently exceeds £0.5 billion it is 
anticipated that reserves will fall at the end of 2018/19 and then rise again in 
preparation for a large draw to support the budget in 2020/21 with the overall 
trend showing a decline as we move through the next decade.  In addition it 
is also important to consider the level of the available resources in the 
context of the scale and scope of the County Council’s operations and it is a 
stark fact that when expressed in terms of the number of days that usable 
reserves would sustain the authority for it would be less than 30.

Page 94



Integral Appendix A

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic
growth and prosperity: Yes/No

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent
lives: Yes/No

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse environment: Yes/No
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, inclusive 
communities: Yes/No

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.)

Document Location
Revenue Budget and Precept 2018/19 and 
Capital Programme 2018/19 – 2020/21
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionD
etails.aspx?AIId=6228

Cabinet – 5 February 2018
County Council – 22 February 2018

Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
Transformation to 2019 Savings Proposals
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionD
etails.aspx?AIId=3194

Cabinet – 16 October 2017
County Council – 2 November 2017

Page 95

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6228
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6228
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6228
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=3194
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=3194


Integral Appendix B

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS:

1. Equality Duty
1.1 The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited under the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, gender and sexual orientation) and those 
who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
a) The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing 

a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic;
b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
c) Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate 

in public life or in any other activity which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low.

1.2 Equalities Impact Assessment:
a) Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the 

proposals in this report but the Council’s budget and the services that it 
provides are delivered in a way that ensures that any impact on equalities 
issues are fully taken into account.

2. Impact on Crime and Disorder:
2.1 The proposals in this report are not considered to have any direct impact on 

the prevention of crime, but the County Council through the services that it 
provides through the revenue budget and capital programme ensures that 
prevention of crime and disorder is a key factor in shaping the delivery of a 
service / project

3. Climate Change:
a) How does what is being proposed impact on our carbon footprint / energy 

consumption?
The revenue budget and capital programme contain measures that will assist 
in reducing our carbon footprint.

b) How does what is being proposed consider the need to adapt to climate 
change, and be resilient to its longer term impacts?
The County Council in designing its services will ensure that climate change 
issues are taken into account

Page 96



Appendix 1

Recurring Costs of the Digital and Enabling Productivity Programmes

1. Introduction
1.1 This appendix provides an overview of the ongoing revenue pressures which 

have been generated as a result of the Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) 
portfolio, Enabling Productivity (EP) Programme, Digital 2 and other business 
driven demand and natural growth.

1.2 The Digital programmes and other IT enablers have formed an integral part of 
both the Transformation to 2017 (Tt2017) and Tt2019 Programmes and have 
successfully underpinned a wide range of transformation opportunities.

1.3 The ongoing costs of these enabling programmes has been built into the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as a recurring cost from 2019/20 
although some elements will need to be funded in the current year, which will 
be met from general contingencies. 

2. Contextual information
2.1 Technology is unique in its cadence of change, and organisations must move 

to keep apace with new developments in order to remain effective and 
relevant, as well as to avoid the risk associated with legacy technology.  The 
pace of change is driven as much by the business models of technology 
companies, as it is by true innovation.

2.2 As technology moves forward, the County Council seeks to exploit the 
capability offered by these advancements to drive improvements in quality, 
efficiency, and productivity in way in which services are delivered.

2.3 Tt2019 has seen a significant investment in technology.  Whilst the initial 
investment in this new technology has been funded via one-off funding from 
Corporate Reserves, there are inherent ongoing revenue costs associated 
with every technology implementation.  These costs must be borne for the 
lifespan of the technology’s use, and include IT support and maintenance 
effort, service and contract management, third party service costs, hardware 
maintenance, and annual subscriptions / software licences.

2.4 The use of technology in organisations also generates natural growth in 
demand.  This includes ever-increasing data that requires storage and 
management, extended and enhanced Wi-Fi, fixed costs associated with 
peaks in staffing and departments identifying opportunities for minor 
improvements.  This means, that as well as corporate projects, IT also face 
additional revenue costs as a result of annual growth in the demand for IT 
services from across the Council.

3. Financial implications 
3.1 There are seven key areas contributing to increased ongoing revenue costs in 

IT, which are summarised in the paragraphs below:
3.2 Enabling Productivity – This programme is deploying a range of new 

devices to staff, including a large number of hybrid laptops.  These devices 
will enable transformational changes in working practices, and facilitate staff 

Page 97



Appendix 1

to work in a diverse range of work settings. The majority of the devices will 
have a three year lifecycle and are more expensive than fixed devices, and so 
device refresh accounts for a large proportion of the additional revenue cost.  
In addition, the shift of balance away from fixed terminals towards mobile 
devices requires additional management software, and IT support time. 
Provision has also been made to refresh and maintain the technology in 
meeting rooms, pending a review that is currently being undertaken.

3.3 Mobile Telephony – As an extension to Enabling Productivity, those staff 
who have been identified as ‘field’ workers (i.e. spend more than 50% of their 
time working away from Hampshire County Council offices), are 
recommended to be deployed with a (low-mid range) smartphone.  This would 
provide telephony away from the office, as well as connectivity for a hybrid / 
laptop via ‘tethering’.  In addition, staff would benefit from other productivity 
gains offered by smartphones, such as quick access to email and calendar, 
camera and satnav.  With the anticipated growth in demand for mobile data, 
the increased revenue cost allows for 2GB per user, and also includes the 
licence costs for the phone management software required to deploy and 
secure the devices. 

3.4 Fixed Telephony – Our existing Avaya fixed telephony solution has reached 
the end-of-life, and requires replacement.  A telephony strategy has been 
produced to consider the near and future-term requirements for telephony in 
the context of modern ways of working.  The best fit and most cost effective 
solution to our requirements is to migrate to a soft-phone, using Microsoft 
Skype for Business, which will provide additional collaboration benefits such 
as peer-to-peer web and video conferencing.  The solution would require 
uplifting revenue costs to cover the third party service charge. 

3.5 Wi-Fi – The Corporate Wireless Refresh project significantly expanded the 
Wi-Fi service coverage in key locations, and provided a like-for-like 
replacement in other locations.  However, experience tells us that as building 
usage changes, we should anticipate a degree of natural growth.  The 
increased revenue cost includes a provision for this growth, incorporating the 
additional infrastructure that would be required, plus third party installation 
costs.  It also factors in the refresh of this equipment, and the equipment 
installed under the Corporate Wireless project.

3.6 Digital 2 – Following from our successful Digital project in 2016/17.  The 
project has expanded the use of SAP C4C as a case management tool into 
both the IBC and HR operations.  Our analytics platforms have been further 
enhanced to provide additional business intelligence reporting, and a new 
Robotic Process Automation (a.k.a. Robotics) platform has been acquired, 
with a number of business processes already successfully deployed.  The 
additional revenue requirement includes software licencing, and additional 
staff to support the new and expanded platforms.

3.7 Recruitment & Learning – New implementations of SAP Success Factors 
are being undertaken to significantly improve the recruitment and workforce 
development offer.  The recently live recruitment module greatly enhances 
both the candidate and manager experience, which in turn will lead to more 
successful campaigns and reduce the need to go back out to market.  The 
Learning module lays the foundation for implementing a ‘Digital Learning 

Page 98



Appendix 1

Environment’ which will more appropriately balance training delivery between 
face-to-face, online and self study.  The additional revenue costs include 
software subscriptions, and additional technical staff for support of the 
platform and its integrations. 

3.8 Natural Growth – Occurring as the organisation creates and consumes more 
data and technology in the course of conducting business.  It includes 
expanding our data storage capacity, refreshing and expanding elements of 
the data centre infrastructure, and acquiring software licenses when there are 
peaks in staffing.

3.9 At this stage a total provision of £5m has been allowed in the forward forecast, 
the majority of which relates to the cost of the EP Programme.  Given the 
timescales over which this funding will be required and the changing nature of 
the costs that we face as a County Council, this funding will only be released 
into cash limits as and when it is needed.

3.10 Whilst this funding underpins a large element of the Tt2019 programme it was 
not considered appropriate to try to top slice departmental budgets to fund the 
ongoing costs of the investment in IT, as that would simply add to their targets 
in a less transparent manner, and therefore these additional costs are being 
factored into the forecasts in the same way we do for social care pressures.

4. Conclusion
4.1 Technology is fundamental to the council’s day-to-day service delivery and 

business operations, as well as underpinning the transformation and cost 
reduction agendas.

4.2 The County Council’s reliance on technology to deliver change for Tt2017, 
Tt2019 (and beyond) comes with an associated revenue cost over its lifespan 
that allow for the refresh of equipment over time. 

4.3 Natural growth is also an unavoidable aspect of technology which brings with 
it increased ongoing costs but also the benefits of enabling the organisation to 
continue to function effectively.

Page 99



Appendix 2

Children’s Services Demand Projections and Financial Resilience to 2021/22

1. Introduction
1.1 Both nationally and locally pressures relating to the costs (and numbers) of 

Children Looked After (CLA) continue to grow.
1.2 After a period of relative stability in the 1990s, the number of children that 

need to be looked after by the state because of neglect and abuse has risen 
since the mid 2000s.  In the period from 2008/9 onwards this has been 
nationally at around the rate of 5% per year.  The Association of Directors of 
Children’s Services (ADCS) has been tracking this increase and the 
correlating increase in child protection and safeguarding: 
http://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCSSafeguardingPressuresP5R  
EPORTWebFINAL.pdf].

2 Trends and Performance
2.1 Whilst rates of increase have varied across the range of local authorities there 

is no obvious pattern to be discerned, only that relative rates of increase are 
often determined by historical rates of children in care (historically too low / 
too high) and in particular exposure to either a high profile child death (leading 
to less risk in decision making) or an inadequate Ofsted judgement (ditto). 

2.2 In both cases local authorities have had to pay a significant premium for the 
cost of failure although it should be noted that for most of these authorities, 
they then have a significant ‘cushion’ when it comes to making savings.  

2.3 Authorities that have maintained an Ofsted rating of ‘Good’ over the period 
2008 - 2017 such as Hampshire are few and far between and their costs tend 
to be lower given that there has been no premium to pay for failure.

2.4 The national increase in the number of children in care has been driven by a 
number of factors about which there is a broad consensus:

 A much better awareness and identification of child abuse and neglect 
from a range of partners.

 The better application of consistent thresholds to receive help as a result 
of government statutory guidance (‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children’).

 A growing professional aversion to risk from partners driven by national 
child care scandals (‘I don’t want it to be me...’).

 Some evidence of the impact of recession and austerity on families.
 The discovery of ‘new’ forms of abuse such as child sexual exploitation, 

child criminal exploitation and online abuse.
 The creation of a number of new policy initiatives such as ‘staying put’ 

which allow teenagers to stay in their foster care placements.
 Children remanded to custody being treated by law as children in care.
 A range of new legal processes such as the ‘public law outline’ which 

drive local authorities to put far more case decisions before the family 
courts.

Page 100

http://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCSSafeguardingPressuresP5R


Appendix 2

 A drive by the courts for all cases to conclude within 26 weeks.
 Policy drivers such as the national redistribution of Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) arriving from France.
2.5 All of these policy initiatives and changes are arguably good things but they 

have, it is argued, led to higher rates of awareness and activity across a wider 
range of risk factors leading to higher numbers of children in care both 
nationally and in Hampshire.

3 Placement Turnover 
3.1 It should also be explained that the number of children in the care of the local 

authority is never a static figure.  Every week, indeed most days, children are 
coming into our care but equally as important, children leave our care.  Every 
decision to take a child in to care is carefully considered and there is a ‘triple 
lock’ of accountable decision making.

3.2 Initially, the social worker may have concerns about neglect or abuse of a 
child based on a risk assessment.  If the social worker is sufficiently 
concerned then they will request that their team manager review the case 
and, if there are no viable family alternatives, that the child is placed in the 
care of the local authority in order to protect them.  If the team manager 
agrees then this decision is reviewed by the District Manager to ensure that 
the decision is sound, the right one for the child and that all alternatives have 
been exhausted. 

3.3 At this point there are only two options that can effectively be pursued: either 
the child can be placed within local authority care with the agreement of 
parents (under Section 20 of the Children Act) or the local authority must 
apply immediately to the court for an interim Care Order in order to safeguard 
and place the child.

3.4 In the court arena the local authority’s decision making is further scrutinised.  
Around 70% of placements are now made via the courts, a reversal of the 
situation of a few years ago, due to several practice rulings by the higher 
courts: supremecourt.uk/cases/2016-0013-judgment.

3.5 It should be noted that children’s social care are also piloting a gatekeeping 
panel to agree the non-emergency admission of children into care.  This panel 
will include partner agencies and will look to time limit periods of 
accommodation with all agencies contributing to the plan to support the child 
returning home.  If successful, this will be rolled out across the county.

3.6 Children also leave care most days.  Often this is because they have become 
18 and are classified as ‘care leavers’ and will be entitled to ongoing financial 
and practical support from the local authority.  This point about ongoing 
financial support for care leavers is another area where an undoubtedly 
positive policy development has led to significant additional costs for the local 
authority which has now become an ongoing financial pressure. 

3.7 New legislation which came into effect from April 2018 extended the local 
authority’s responsibility for care leavers until they are 25 years old.  Other 
children are adopted (and thus leave the care of the state) and some, 
particularly teenagers, return home or go to live with a family member under 

Page 101

http://supremecourt.uk/cases/2016-0013-judgment


Appendix 2

an arrangement such as a special guardianship order which still has a cost 
associated with it because of the local authority’s duty to financially support 
such arrangements.

3.8 Thus the number of children in care at any one time is always a net figure 
reflecting new entrants and leavers.  Over time the figure can be better 
understood as the charts below show:

4 Translating Numbers of Placements into Costs
4.1 Historically, officers have always tracked the number of children in care as a 

proxy measure for total spend.  There has been a long established 
approximation that the ‘cost’ of a child in care is in the region of £50,000 per 
annum.  Previous detailed trend analysis work undertaken during a period of 
significant increases in the number of CLA led to recurring base budget 
increases in Children’s Services of £12.5m in 2015/16 and £9.5m in 2017/18 
as well as a further £7.2m allocated for 2017/18 to balance the year end 
position. 

4.2 The costs in these estimations are an average of the direct costs of care (i.e. 
they do not include the costs of social workers, administration etc.).  There are 
a number of types of care placement, the most common of which is a 
placement with a local authority recruited and trained foster carer.  This tends 
to be the cheapest option at an average of £344 per week.  A mixed market 
applies in fostering and there are numerous Independent Fostering Agencies 
(IFAs) that supply placements, sometimes specialist or niche placements, 
usually at a higher average cost of £854 per week.

Page 102



Appendix 2

4.3 Similarly, there are in house residential placements and independent 
residential placements – this latter category being the most expensive with 
placement packages significantly more expensive than IFAs.  There are also a 
variety of other arrangements, in particular children in care who are placed at 
home with a parent or family member as part of a reunification plan; this 
arrangement is becoming more frequent (see below).  

4.4 The vast majority of children in care are in foster care (over 70%) with the 
smallest proportion in residential care (around 12%).  However, it is this latter 
category that is the most expensive.  Almost all of the children in these 
placements (that are not disabled children) will be teenagers – the ‘troubled 
and troublesome’ category. 

4.5 Given that the national number of children in care has increased 
incrementally and significantly over the last nine years, it should not be a 
surprise that nationally, demand has outstripped supply and that prices in the 
independent sector have risen.  Significant effort and intelligence has been 
applied to reducing the costs of contracts with the independent sector as part 
of Transformation to 2017 (Tt2017) and further work as part of Transformation 
to 2019 (Tt2019), however there is undoubtedly an element of swimming 
against the tide on this issue.

4.6 The net number of children in care has been a useful indicator in the past with 
regards to costs of placements to the County Council and has been used to 
forecast future costs with some reliability.  Alongside this forecasting, 
considerable efforts have been made to safely reduce the number of children 
in care although it should be noted that in the thorough Ofsted inspection of 
2014, the regulator noted that ‘the right children are in care’.  

4.7 This is supported by last year’s annual benchmarking data which showed that 
the rate of children in care per 10,000 of the child population in Hampshire is 
at 54, significantly below the England average of 62 and close to the 
‘expected rate’ when adjusted for Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 
(IDACI) - see graph below: 

Page 103



Appendix 2

4.8 A key measure taken to safely reduce the number of children in care has been 
through Hampshire’s involvement in the Department for Education’s (DfE) 
Partners in Practice (PIP) Programme, which underpins the Department’s 
Tt2019 target reduction in CLA costs of £18m.  

4.9 This involves focused multi disciplinary interventions with families and 
especially teenagers, ‘on the edge of care’ alongside a more family oriented 
set of interventions focused on promoting parental resilience, targeting 
parenting deficits and the presence of the ‘trigger trio’ (domestic abuse, 
parental substance misuse and parental mental health), whilst increasing the 
impact of interventions through the implementation of multi disciplinary teams.

4.10 Funding from the DfE for this programme was received in December 2016 
and will run until March 2020.  The programme is undoubtedly ambitious and 
seeks to implement an entirely new operating model based on an evidenced 
based methodology for children’s social care. 

4.11 The new framework will focus on improving the resilience of children and their 
families to reduce the numbers of children needing to come into care and 
thereby increasing the amount of children that can safely live at home.  Where 
children do need to come into the care of the local authority, there will be a 
greater focus on reuniting them with their families, where it is safe and 
appropriate to do so.  It is anticipated that by implementing this new approach 
the numbers of children in the care of the local authority will reduce by around 
410, albeit that there will be demographic growth and the continued national 
5% increase in the number of children in care.  Given the size and scale of the 
changes required it is anticipated the 410 reduction will not be achieved until 
2021/22.

4.12 Whilst there is clear evidence that the Department has been able to meet its 
Tt2017 Programme target for this item, the overall position and future 
projections are somewhat more complex.

5 Future Projections 
5.1 Between 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018 there was a net increase of 155 

children in care.  However, there are two main reasons for this.  
5.2 Of this number 32 were UASC.  Firstly the Government’s national 

redistribution of UASC from France and Kent, which commenced in 2016, has 
seen Hampshire accepting additional children over the past 18 months.  This 
trend is set to continue longer term.  

5.3 Whilst the government set target of  0.7% child population rate for UASC 
equates to 197 UASC for Hampshire, the average age of unaccompanied 
children being received 17, meaning they quickly qualify as care leavers and 
then do not count against the 197 target.  UASC now account for over 12% of 
the care leaver population.  The Government has offered additional funding 
for these children but data from ADCS (‘Safeguarding Pressures Phase 5 – 
Special Thematic Report on Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking and Refugee 
Children’, November 2016) indicates that this meets only around 50% of the 
actual costs.

Page 104



Appendix 2

5.4 The second reason is the increase (driven by changes in case law) in the 
number of children subject to interim Care Orders but who are placed with 
parents under the supervision of the courts.  There have been 115 such cases 
in the last six months, the rate prior to that being negligible.  In fact the costs 
for these children are much less than those in other forms of care as there are 
effectively no placement costs.  Therefore these two factors account for 115 of 
the increase of 155.  The key point here is that although the numbers have 
increased significantly the relationship between the net number and the 
overall cost projection is fractured when compared to past predictive models.  

5.5 The model is further fractured when the types of placement available are 
taken into account.  The flow of UASCs into the looked after system has 
strained placement resources nationally, and increasingly fewer IFA 
placements are available, forcing other placements to be made in higher cost 
residential settings.  Of note is the fact that IFAs increasingly want to receive 
UASCs, as in the main they present less challenges for their foster carers 
given the children want to be in care.  This then drives a number of local 
children into higher cost provision, such as Non-County Placements (NCP), 
simply because of the diminishing level of fostering resource that is available.

5.6 Two obvious conclusions can be drawn from this.  Firstly, that a more 
sophisticated cost prediction model for children in care is needed that takes 
account of these developing issues.  Secondly, that significant resource and 
capability is applied to reshape the way in which social work with children is 
carried out to achieve more resilience within families in order that fewer 
children, especially teenagers who now constitute around 40% of the cohort of 
children in care, need to enter the care system; and to bear down on the costs 
of care placements.  

5.7 The first aspect of this change programme – the development of a new social 
work operating model – is the subject of our innovation work as part of the 
government’s PIP Programme, whilst the latter point is the focus of Children’s 
Services Tt2019 Programme.

5.8 Following the unfavourable movements in CLA numbers that started in the 
summer of 2016, significant work has been undertaken to develop a more 
appropriate costing model to inform the budget for 2018 to 2022.  Children’s 
Services staff have worked with Finance to model scenarios that take into 
account the changing landscape and the impact that this has on the overall 
number and mix of placements.  Key to this is understanding the market for 
the different types of placements and how these align to the types of care 
placements needed (i.e. how supply and demand interact and the 
consequences for prices / costs).

5.9 Given the significant number of variables there is a danger that projections 
can become over complicated.  A more simplified approach has therefore 
been applied which initially tracks the movement between total placement 
numbers and costs for 2016/17 compared to 2017/18 for each of the care 
groups.  This helps to smooth some of the volatility inherent in the comparable 
numbers over shorter time periods.  Adjustments have then been applied, 
based on what we understand about the capacity of the care market in 
Hampshire and the impact on price / cost.

Page 105



Appendix 2

5.10 Clearly with so many variables and unknown factors it is impossible to ever 
predict future trends with certainty, but the actual costs in 2017/18 required 
£7.2m of the £7.6m additional allocated corporate funding.  This was over and 
above the base budget adjustment of £9.5m and was mainly as a result of a 
significant growth in NCP’s which took place in the year.  

5.11 The most recent activity and cost predictions provided by Children’s Services 
on a ‘central case’ basis indicate that CLA costs will continue to exceed the 
available budget and require significant further investment.  An additional 
investment of £8.3m corporate funding is anticipated in 2018/19.

5.12 At this stage central contingencies have been allocated within the budget to 
cover this amount, but inevitably this reduces the County Council’s ability to 
deal with any further financial shocks during the year.  Close monitoring of the 
position will continue throughout the year and any required funding will be 
released in line with the actual increases experienced.

5.13 Looking ahead to 2019/20 and forecasts for the MTFS, it is predicted that a 
further ongoing base budget increase of £13.5m on top of the £9.7m that had 
already been allowed for in the forward forecasts will be required and this will 
be followed by further annual increases of £8.6m in 2020/21 and £10.3m in 
2021/22.

5.14 These forecasts track the rate of increase in costs in the different care groups 
from 2016/17 to 2017/18 but do not at this stage represent a worst case 
scenario.  The rate of growth in the second half of 2017/18 outstripped that of 
the first half and were projections to be made using that growth rate, a further 
£27m per annum would need to be found by 2021/22.

6 Care Leavers
6.1 Finally, attention needs to be drawn to the budget for care leavers.  It is an 

obvious point that if we have had more children in care since 2008 then we 
will have more young people entitled to care leaver support.

6.2 An analysis of the Local Authority’s financial responsibilities towards care 
leavers highlights a wide set of statutory responsibilities covered by the 
relevant Legislation and Guidance.  There is a requirement to :

 Provide and maintain suitable accommodation.
 Provide a bursary to care leavers going to higher education.
 To give a personal allowance, whilst a benefit claim is being processed.
 To support education, employment and training expenses including travel.
 To give a Setting-up Home allowance, up to £2000 per care leaver.
 Specific requirements for care leavers whilst in custody.
 Responsibilities towards UASC care leavers who have “All Rights 

Exhausted”.
6.3 There are also varying degrees of expectation and guidance that add to the 

financial burden regarding payments that could be described as discretionary.  
Many of these payments can be categorised as best practice in terms of 
corporate parenting.

Page 106



Appendix 2

6.4 There are 759 care leavers aged 18 and over currently receiving a service 
from Hampshire Children’s Services an increase from 2016/17 of 59.  Of this 
increase UASC account for 22 (or 32%).  This number continues to rise year 
on year as a natural consequence of continuing increases in the numbers of 
children in care. 

6.5 In addition, the new extended duties for care leavers up to the age of 25 will 
further drive up this number and the associated spend.  This group of young 
people receive support from a dedicated Care Leavers service, with every 
young person having an allocated Personal Adviser whose responsibility is to 
keep in touch, to ensure that the young person is supported to access and 
maintain suitable accommodation and is engaged in meaningful employment, 
education or training, including support to access apprenticeships, and higher 
and further education

6.6 A particular challenge in Hampshire currently is to identify and support young 
people in accessing suitable accommodation, particularly where young people 
need additional support to live independently.  Several new pilots are being 
tested with the aim of better meeting the needs of care leavers and subject to 
the outcomes of the pilots, the approach will be rolled out across the county. 

6.7 In overall terms, the impact of these changes is already affecting the budget 
for Children’s Services.  Following a detailed review of costs, £1m was added 
to the budget to 2017/18 to address these pressures, in conjunction with work 
to provide efficiencies and reduce costs.  Further work is required to model 
potential costs for next year due to the extended duties to care leavers up to 
the age of 25 while longer term solutions are developed.

Page 107



Appendix 3

Reserves Strategy

1. Introduction
1.1 The level and use of local authority reserves continues to be a regular media 

topic often fuelled by comments from the Government that these reserves 
should be used to significantly lessen the impact of the measures to reduce 
the deficit that have seen a greater impact on local government than any other 
sector.

1.2 The County Council has continually explained that reserves are kept for many 
different purposes and that simply trying to bridge the requirement for long 
term recurring changes through the use of reserves only serves to use up 
those reserves very quickly (meaning that they are not available for any other 
purposes) and merely delays the point at which the recurring budget gap 
needs to be met.

1.3 At the end of the 2017/18 financial year the total reserves held by the County 
Council together with the general fund balance stand at more than £645.6m 
an increase of just under £121.5m on the previous year.  The increase in 
reserves is largely due to capital grants unapplied received in advance of 
spend, for both the County Council and the Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise 
Partnership (EM3 LEP), with the latter being part of a deliberate strategy to 
ensure that major projects are approved based on the outcomes they will 
deliver rather than the speed at which funding provided by the Government 
can be spent.

1.4 In line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) it also reflects the 
continued approach of releasing resources early and then using those 
resources to fund the next phase of change delivery.  This includes an 
increase in the Grant Equalisation Reserve (GER) ahead of a large planned 
draw in 2018/19, enabling the County Council to continue its financial strategy 
of allowing delivery of more complex changes over a longer time period to 
ensure they are planned and implemented safely.  

1.5 This Appendix sets out in more detail what those reserves are for and outlines 
the strategy that the County Council has adopted.

2. Reserves Position 31 March 2018
2.1 Current earmarked reserves together with the general fund balance totalled 

£645.6m at the end of the 2017/18 financial year.  The table overleaf 
summarises by purpose the total level of reserves and balances that the 
County Council holds and compares this to the position reported at the end of 
2016/17.

2.2 The narrative beneath the table explains in more detail the purpose for which 
the reserves are held and in particular why the majority of these reserves 
cannot be used for other reasons.

Page 108



Appendix 3

Balance Balance % of
31/03/2017 31/03/2018 Total

£'000 £'000 %

General Fund Balance 21,498 22,398 3.5

Fully Committed to Existing Spend Programmes
Revenue Grants Unapplied 17,751 21,541 3.3
General Capital Reserve 126,075 139,645 21.6
Street Lighting Reserve 26,087 26,491 4.1
Public Health Reserve 7,412 7,837 1.2
Other Reserves 1,977 1,057 0.2

179,302 196,571 30.4
Departmental / Trading Reserves
Trading Accounts 12,753 10,970 1.7
Departmental Cost of Change Reserve 85,658 88,690 13.7

98,411 99,660 15.4

Risk Reserves
Insurance Reserve 20,571 25,571 4.0
Investment Risk Reserve 1,500 2,000 0.3

22,071 27,571 4.3

Corporate Reserves
Grant Equalisation Reserve 40,755 74,870 11.6
Invest to Save 31,100 32,109 5.0
Corporate Policy Reserve 4,632 5,889 0.9
Organisational Change Reserve 2,905 2,785 0.4

79,392 115,653 17.9

HCC Earmarked Reserves 379,176 439,455 68.0

EM3 LEP Reserve 1,396 4,443 0.7
Schools Reserves 46,679 37,252 5.8

Total Revenue Reserves & Balances 448,749 503,548 78.0

Capital Grants Unapplied 75,415 142,069 22.0
Total Capital Reserves & Balances 75,415 142,069 22.0

Total Reserves and Balances 524,164 645,617 100.0

General Fund Balance
2.3 The General Fund Balance is the only reserve that is in effect not earmarked 

for a specific purpose.  It is set at a level recommended by the Chief Financial 
Officer at around 2.5% of the budget requirement and it represents a working 

Page 109



Appendix 3

balance of resources that could be used at very short notice in the event of a 
major financial issue.

2.4 The current balance stands at £22.4m which is 3.0% of net expenditure at the 
beginning of 2018/19; as projected in the budget setting report approved in 
February 2018.  The level of general fund balances has been reviewed as part 
of the wider strategy to manage the budget in the medium term whilst the 
Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) Programme is implemented and in 2018/19 a 
one-off draw of £1m is planned.  After this, general fund balances will be 
around 2.5% of net expenditure at the beginning of 2019/20, which is broadly 
in line with the current policy.

Fully Committed to Existing Spend Programmes
2.5 By far the biggest proportion of reserves are those that are fully committed to 

existing spend programmes and more than £139.6m of this funding is required 
to meet commitments in the Capital Programme.  These reserves really 
represent the extent to which resources, in the form of government grants or 
revenue contributions to capital, are received or generated in advance of the 
actual spend on the project.

2.6 These reserves increased significantly in recent years following a change to 
International Financial Reporting Standards which required unapplied 
government grants to be shown as earmarked reserves and due to the fact 
that significant revenue contributions were made to fund future capital 
investment using the surplus funds generated from the early release of 
resources (a deliberate strategy that is explained in more detail later in this 
Appendix).  

2.7 These reserves do not therefore represent ‘spare’ resources in any way and 
will be utilised as planned in the coming years.

2.8 Specifically, the street lighting reserve represents the anticipated surplus 
generated by the financial model for this Public Finance Initiative scheme that 
is invested up front and then applied to the contract payments in future years 
and the Public Health reserve represents the balance of the ring-fenced 
government grant carried forward for future public health expenditure.

Departmental / Trading Reserves
2.9 Trading services within the County Council operate as semi-commercial 

organisations and as such they do not receive specific support from the 
County Council in respect of capital investment or annual pressures arising 
from spending or income fluctuations.

2.10 Given this position, any surpluses generated by the trading services are 
earmarked for their use to apply for example to equipment renewal, service 
expansion, service improvement, innovation and marketing.  They are also 
used to smooth cash flows between years if deficits are made due to the loss 
of the customer base and provide the time and flexibility to generate new 
revenues to balance the bottom line in future years.

Page 110



Appendix 3

2.11 Departmental reserves are generated through savings in annual revenue 
expenditure and Council policy was changed in 2010 to allow departments to 
retain all of their early delivery in order to provide resources to:

 Meet potential over spends / pressures in future years without the need 
to call on corporate resources.

 Manage cash flow funding issues between years where specific projects 
may have been started but not fully completed within one financial year.

 Meet the cost of standard redundancy and pension payments arising 
from the down sizing of the work force.

 Invest in new technology and other service improvements, for example 
the IT enabling activity associated with the Tt2019 Programme.

 Undertake capital repairs or improvements to assets that are not funded 
through the existing capital programme where this is essential to 
maintain service provision or maximise income generation.

 Meet the cost of significant change programmes and restructures.
2.12 By utilising reserves in this way, and allowing departments and trading 

services to retain resources or surpluses it encourages prudent financial 
management as managers are able to ensure that money can be re-invested 
in service provision without the need to look to the corporate centre to provide 
funding.  This fosters strong financial management across the County Council 
and is evidenced by the strong financial position that the County Council has 
maintained to date.

2.13 All departments will be utilising their reserves to fund the activity to deliver the 
Tt2019 Programme and to fully cash flow the later delivery of savings if 
needed.  The exception to this is Children’s Services and to a lesser extent 
Adults’ Health and Care who will require some additional corporate support 
based on the current forecast of savings delivery, provision for which is made 
within the MTFS.

Risk Reserves
2.14 The Council holds specific reserves to mitigate risks that it faces.  The County 

Council self insures against certain types of risks and the level of the 
Insurance Reserve is based on an independent valuation of past claims 
experience and the level and nature of current outstanding claims.

2.15 The Investment Risk reserve was established in 2014/15 to mitigate the slight 
additional risk associated with the revised approved investment strategy as a 
prudent response to targeting investments with higher returns.

Corporate Reserves
2.16 The above paragraphs have explained that the majority of reserves are set 

aside for specific purposes and are not available in general terms to support 
the revenue budget or for other purposes.

2.17 This leaves other available earmarked reserves that are under the control of 
the County Council and total more than £115.6m at the end of last financial 

Page 111



Appendix 3

year.  Whilst it is true to say that these reserves could be used to mitigate the 
loss of government grant, the County Council has decided to take a more 
sophisticated long term approach to the use of these reserves, that brings 
many different benefits both directly and indirectly to the County Council and 
the residents of Hampshire.  These reserves are broken down into four main 
areas:

2.18 Grant Equalisation Reserve (GER) – This reserve was set up many years 
ago to deal with changes in government grant that often came about due to 
changes in distribution methodology that had an adverse impact on 
Hampshire compared to other parts of the country.

2.19 In 2010/11, the County Council recognised that significant reductions in local 
government spending were expected and built in contributions as part of the 
MTFS over the CSR 2010 period from the GER in order to smooth the impact 
of the grant reductions.

2.20 It has become clear that the period of tight financial control will continue into 
the next decade and the County Council has taken the opportunity to increase 
the reserve in order to be able to continue the sensible policy of smoothing the 
impact of grant reductions without the need to make ‘knee jerk’ reactions to 
offset large decreases in grant.

2.21 The GER currently stands at approaching £79.4m, but this reflects the fact 
that a significant draw will be required in 2018/19 as part of the County 
Council’s strategy of delivering changes over a two year cycle.  Where 
possible, the County Council will continue to direct spare one off funding into 
this reserve as part of its overall longer term risk mitigation strategy, which 
has served it very well to date.

2.22 In the period to 2021/22, the unallocated amount remaining in the reserve will 
be £29.4m and in preparation for future draw beyond 2020 further additions 
will be required to the GER.  The table below summarises the forecast 
position for the GER before any requirement to balance the budget in 2020/21 
or to provide corporate funding to cash flow the next stage of transformation 
which is likely, given the experience of Tt2019, although the scale is unknown 
at this stage:

GER
£'000

Balance at 31/03/2018       74,870
2018/19 Draw as per February Budget Setting (26,435)
Further Budgeted Additions:

MRP “Holiday”       21,000
Planned use:

Cash Flow Tt2019 (40,000)
Unallocated Balance       29,435

2.23 Invest to Save – This reserve is earmarked to provide funding to help 
transform services in order to make further revenue savings in the future.  

Page 112



Appendix 3

Rather than just prop up the budget on a short term basis, the County Council 
feels it is a far more sensible policy to use available reserves to generate 
efficiencies and improve services over the longer term, by re-designing 
services and investing in technology and other solutions that make services 
more modern and efficient. 

2.24 Corporate Policy Reserve – This small reserve is available to fund new 
budget initiatives that are agreed as part of the overall budget.  It offers the 
opportunity to introduce specific service initiatives that might not have 
otherwise gained funding and are designed to have a high impact on service 
users or locations where they are applied.  

2.25 Organisational Change Reserve – The County Council is one of the largest 
employers in Hampshire and inevitably large reductions in government grant, 
leading to reduced budgets, means that there is a significant impact on the 
numbers of staff employed in the future.

2.26 The County Council, as a good employer, has attempted to manage the 
reduction in staff numbers as sensitively and openly as possible and 
introduced an enhanced voluntary redundancy scheme back in 2011.  The 
scheme offered an enhanced redundancy rate for people who elected to take 
voluntary redundancy.  This has been a highly successful way of managing 
the reductions in staff numbers, whilst maintaining morale within the rest of 
the workforce who are not required to go through the stress and uncertainty of 
facing compulsory redundancy.

2.27 In fact, since the scheme was introduced, voluntary redundancies account for 
around 98% of the total number of staff that have left the organisation as a 
result of specific restructures and service re-design.

2.28 A scheme is in place, albeit adapted since first introduced, to enable the 
continued reduction and transformation of the workforce required to deliver 
the significant savings needed in the medium term with the aim of minimising 
compulsory redundancies

2.29 Departments are still responsible for meeting the ‘standard’ element of any 
redundancy package, but the Organisational Change Reserve was put in 
place to meet the ‘enhanced’ element of the payment.  The reserve has been 
reviewed in the context of the new scheme and the requirement for future 
organisational change and this will revisited in line with the implementation of 
the Tt2019 Programme and the consequent requirement for future 
organisational change.

2.30 It should be highlighted that the total ‘Corporate Reserves outlined above 
account for approximately 17.9% of total reserves and balances that the 
County Council holds and these have largely been set aside as part of a 
longer term strategy for dealing with the significant financial challenges that 
have been imposed on the County Council.  In addition, the GER which 
comprises the majority of these ‘available’ Corporate Reserves, standing at 
£79.4m at the end of 2017/18, is in reality fully committed to balance the 
budget in 2018/19 with the remainder planned to be utilised in the following 
years to cash flow the safe delivery of the Tt2019 Programme and the next 
phase of transformation.

Page 113



Appendix 3

2.31 The reserves detailed above represent the total revenue reserves of the 
County Council and amount to £503.5m as shown in the table on second 
page of this Appendix.  In addition, the County Council is required to show 
other reserves as part of its accounts which are outlined overleaf.

Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise Partnership (EM3 LEP) Reserve
2.32 The County Council is the Accountable Body for the funding of the EM3 LEP 

and has therefore included the EM3 LEP’s income, expenditure, assets and 
liabilities, (including reserves) in its accounts.  Prior to 2015/16 the County 
Council did not include transactions relating to the EM3 LEP in its accounts. 

2.33 The County Council does not control the level or use of the EM3 LEP 
Reserve.

Schools Reserves
2.34 Schools reserves account for more than £37m or 5.8% of total reserves and 

balances.  Schools are facing increasing financial pressure relating to high 
needs and early years, both at an individual school level and within the overall 
schools’ budget.  This is reflected in the fall in the value of school reserves in 
2017/18.  

2.35 These reserves must be reported as part of the County Council’s accounts, 
but since funds are delegated to schools any surplus is retained by them for 
future use by the individual school concerned.  Similarly, schools are 
responsible for any deficits in their budgets and they maintain reserves in a 
similar way to the County Council in order to smooth fluctuations in cash flow 
over several years.

2.36 The County Council has no control at all over the level or use of school 
reserves.

Capital Reserves
2.37 The capital grants unapplied reserve holds capital grants that have been 

received in advance of the matched spending being incurred.  They are not 
available for revenue purposes.

2.38 A sum of £142m is held within capital reserves and balances, although of this 
more than £36m relates to the EM3 LEP which is included in the annual 
accounts, as the Council is the Accountable Body.  EM3 LEP capital grants 
unapplied have increased as part of a deliberate strategy to ensure that major 
projects are approved based on the outcomes they will deliver rather than the 
speed at which funding provided by the Government can be spent.

3. Reserves Strategy
3.1 The County Council’s approach to reserves has been applauded in the past 

by the Government and the External Auditors as a sensible, prudent approach 
as part of a wider MTFS.  This has enabled the County Council to make 
savings and changes in service delivery in a planned and controlled way 

Page 114



Appendix 3

rather than having to make urgent unplanned decisions in order to reduce 
expenditure.

3.2 This approach is well recognised across local government and an article in the 
Municipal Journal by the Director of Local Government at the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy stated 

“What reserves do allow authorities to do is to take a more medium term 
view of savings and expenditure and make decisions that give the best 
value for money.  This is better than having to make unnecessary cost 
reductions in the short term because they do not have the money or funding 
cushion to allow for real transformation in the way they provide services.”

3.3 We are in an extended period of tight financial control which will last longer 
than anyone had previously predicted and the medium term view highlights a 
continued need for reserves to smooth the impact of reductions in funding and 
enable time for the planning and implementation of change to safely deliver 
savings.  

3.4 The County Council’s strategy for reserves is well established and operates 
effectively based on a cyclical pattern as follows:

 Planning ahead of time and implementing efficiencies and changes in 
advance of need.

 Generating surplus funds in the early part of the programme.
 Using these resources to fund investment and transformation in order to 

achieve the next phase of change.
3.5 This cycle has been clearly evident during the last four financial years, with 

surplus funds generated in advance of need as part of budget setting and then 
supplemented by further resources released in the year.  Achievement in 
advance of need within departments and efficiencies in contingency amounts 
due to the successful implementation of change has meant that the Council 
was able to provide:

 Departmental reserves to pay for the cost of change associated with their 
own transformation programmes.

 Top up funding to the Organisational Change Reserve to provide 
resources to continue the very successful voluntary redundancy 
programme as a means of releasing staff in a sensitive and controlled 
manner that has helped maintain morale across the Council.

 Funding within the Invest to Save Reserve to help support the Tt2019 
Programme and Digital 2 that will deliver the next phase of transformation.

 Additional funds for the GER to help smooth the impact of grant 
reductions, including significant funding to bridge the unexpected 
additional budget gap in 2018/19, and give the County Council maximum 
flexibility in future budget setting processes.

3.6 It is recognised that each successive change programme is becoming harder 
to deliver and the challenges associated with the Tt2019 Programme are well 
known.  The MTFS has made clear that delivery will extend beyond two years 
and provision has been made to ensure one-off funding is available both 
corporately and within departments to enable the programme to be safely 

Page 115



Appendix 3

delivered.  Taking up to four years to safely deliver service changes, rather 
than being driven to deliver within the two year financial target, requires the 
careful use of reserves as part of our overall financial strategy to allow the 
time to deliver and also to provide resources to invest in the transformation of 
services.  This further emphasises the value of our reserves strategy.
Beyond 2020 the financial landscape will be significantly different and the 
County Council will no doubt face the biggest ever challenge to its overall 
financial sustainability which will be impacted one way or another by 
Government policy on fair funding, business rate retention and the future for 
adults’ social care and the growing pressure nationally on children’s services.

3.7 This increases the potential necessity to use reserves to alleviate the initial 
and ongoing financial shocks in the coming years and we will continue to 
review all reserves on an ongoing basis to ensure that there is sufficient 
financial capacity to cope with the challenges ahead.

Page 116



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
Report

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 18 June 2018

Title: Serving Hampshire – 2017/18 Performance Report

Report From: Chief Executive and Head of Law and Governance

Contact name: Antonia Perkins, Interim Head of Insight and Engagement

Tel: 01962 835 308 Email: antonia.perkins@hants.gov.uk 

1. Recommendations
1.1. That Cabinet notes the County Council’s performance for 2017/18.

2. Report purpose
2.1. The purpose of this report is to:

 provide strategic oversight of the County Council’s performance during 
2017/18 against the Serving Hampshire Strategic Plan for 2017-21;

 summarise the findings of the 2017/18 Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman report and;

 outline progress and key achievements against the Inclusion and Diversity 
Standards Framework and action plan. 

3. Performance reporting arrangements
3.1. The County Council’s Performance Management Framework (PMF) provides 

the governance structure for performance management and reporting to 
Cabinet. The PMF specifies that Cabinet receives bi-annual reports on the 
County Council’s performance against the strategic priorities set out in the 
Serving Hampshire plan. Performance information on children’s and adults’ 
safeguarding, major change programmes, including Transformation to 2019, 
and the County Council’s financial strategy are reported separately to Cabinet. 

3.2. In order to report progress against Serving Hampshire, departments are asked 
to rate performance against success measures on a quarterly basis. For each 
measure, a simple risk-based ‘red, amber, green’ rating is applied, informed by 
the most recent data and management information. Departments are also 
asked to provide an overview of key achievements and risks/issues against 
agreed priorities, as well as the results of any recent external assessments. 

Page 117

Agenda Item 8

mailto:antonia.perkins@hants.gov.uk


4. Performance against Serving Hampshire 
Revised approach

4.1. As agreed by Cabinet in June 2017, the County Council is placing greater 
emphasis on the outcomes of external assessment and resident feedback in 
judging the organisation’s performance and areas for improvement. Appendix 1 
includes the sources of external validation which apply to the County Council’s 
performance during 2017/18. 

4.2. Alongside these sources, a robust set of core performance measures continues 
to be used. The current set of measures is set out in Appendix 2. These ensure 
alignment with the Serving Hampshire Strategic Plan and the County Council’s 
Public Health Strategy.

Performance outcomes
4.3. Overall performance against Serving Hampshire remained good during 

2017/18, evidencing strong performance in the delivery of core services against 
measures for which we currently have data. 

4.4. Performance against targets and improvement trend: overall the majority 
(62%) of measures where we have current data were reported as low 
performance risk. About half (51%) of the measures showed improvement. In 
addition to this, almost two thirds (64%) of measures had met the target set by 
the relevant department.

4.5. Based on current data, all measures are considered to present low to medium 
risk.

4.6. In cases where targets were not met, departmental improvement plans are in 
place. 

4.7. Performance highlights for 2017/18 include:

 In 2017, the Department for Education published an independent evaluation of 
the Hampshire Innovation Programme evidencing: an increase in the 
percentage of children’s social worker time spent with families from 34% to 
58%; estimated notional savings through increased productivity of social 
workers of £9k per social worker; and an increase in the percentage of time 
spent on the initial engagement of families from 30% to 70% as a result of the 
new Family Intervention Team.

 A new short-term reablement service at the Hampshire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust in Basingstoke introduced by the County Council.  The Firs, 
located within the hospital site, provides specially adapted accommodation for 
up to 17 people who receive tailored support from social care staff. This 
additional capacity is helping to reduce the number of delayed hospital 
discharges by supporting more effective patient flow and discharge through 
improved multi-professional and multi-agency working.

 98% of parents were offered a place for their child in one of their three 
preferred secondary schools for September 2018, with over 92% receiving 
their first choice of secondary school.  Almost 99% of pupils transferring from 

Page 118



Infant to Junior school received a place at one of their preferred schools – with 
97% obtaining a place at their first choice school (consistent with the previous 
year).

 65% of Hampshire’s students taking Key Stage 2 assessments in 2017 
achieved the expected level in reading, writing and mathematics, compared 
with 61% nationally. Hampshire outperformed its statistical neighbours in these 
results.

 Overall attainment in Hampshire secondary schools in 2017 remained above 
national attainment: 25% of pupils achieved the English Baccalaureate against 
24% nationally; 68% of pupils achieved “The Basics” (a grade 9 to 4 in both 
English and mathematics) against 64% nationally. 

 CO2 emissions from Local Authority operations1 have fallen to 83,992 tonnes 
in 2016/17 from 86,684 the previous year (a reduction of 33.30% since 
2011/12), keeping the County Council on track to meeting its target of 79,080 
tonnes by 2020.

 The County Council secured £12.9 million funding from Highways England 
which, together with a £6.6 million investment from the County Council, will 
enable improvements to Junction 9 of the M27 and Parkway South 
Roundabout, Whiteley.

 £2.8 million is being invested in energy programmes, including LED Lighting, 
Electric Vehicles and Battery Technology, which will deliver at least £450k of 
revenue savings. The first phase of the LED lighting installation has been 
completed in 2017/18, with the rest of the programme to be completed in the 
next two years.

4.8. A more extensive list of key performance achievements is included in Appendix 
3.

4.9. Performance Risks as reported at this time are:

 Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) – Whilst the overall number of day delays 
has reduced by 1,161 days (36%) since April 2017, numbers remain one of 
the highest in the country. The whole system of delayed transfer of care is 
complex in Hampshire and there are many reasons and factors influencing 
performance;
- The Hampshire whole system performance is based on DToC across five 

acute hospital sites, each with their own unique set of issues and 
pressures, making Hampshire one of the few councils in the country that 
operates across multiple acute sites.  

1 CO2 emissions data relate to emissions by Hampshire County Council only. This includes 
Hampshire County Council buildings (including schools, although not Academies and Foundation 
Schools), street lighting and travel (via data from staff mileage claims and the Hampshire Transport 
Management fleet).

Page 119



- Shortages of care, particular in domiciliary and nursing staff, in many parts 
of the county continue to contribute to delays, making it difficult to secure 
care within the 48 hours timeframe that is required for a delay not to be 
incurred. This is despite over two million hours of home care and 180,000 
weeks of residential and nursing care being commissioned each year. 

     Measures being taken by the County Council to minimise delays include:
- seven day a week working by adult social care staff in Hampshire’s 

hospitals, with social care staff, linked to specific wards to identify patients’ 
social care needs at the earliest opportunity

- working more closely with designated NHS colleagues, directly linked to 
reablement support in the community, to free up capacity to support 
discharge

- improvements to the availability of real time information
- supporting integrated A&E Board Plans that have been developed by each 

acute hospital to help improve patient flow and discharge
- increasing the number of staff from the NHS who are able to act on behalf 

of social care to support appropriate discharge arrangements
- addressing shortages of care and nursing staff by working closely with key 

providers to ensure competitive terms and conditions for staff including 
training and development and paid travel time 

- participation in a review by Newton Europe, sponsored by the Local 
Government Association, the Better Care Fund Team & NHS England, 
who are undertaking an analysis of how DToC are signed off and reported 
to the Department of Health to help understand how delays could be 
reduced.  

       Early findings from the recent Care Quality Commission review that was 
undertaken in March across the health and social care system outline 
numerous examples of good partnership working and service delivery that 
they witnessed during the review. 

 Pressures on secondary school places – Significant capital investment is 
required from a variety of sources to meet pressures on secondary school 
places caused by more primary pupils moving into the secondary system 
from the population bulge.  A secondary strategy is ongoing. 

 Securing a new IT system for children’s social care - This includes ‘single 
view of the child’ software for improved management information. If this new 
IT system fails to perform to its full potential, then performance could be 
compromised. To mitigate against this, there is a focus on programme 
management.

 Road defects following the recent period of cold weather – There has 
been a significant increase in the number of defects on the highway network 
this winter, with the additional damage to the network estimated to be in the 
region of £10m. The recent Government announcement of an additional 
pothole grant of £3.0m is welcomed but will not be sufficient to restore the 
network to its previous condition. Due to the prolonged period of cold weather 

Page 120



this winter, the Council was also required to undertake significantly more 
precautionary salting of the roads than usual, which, due to restrictions on 
driver hours, meant greater disruption to scheduled and routine highway 
maintenance work. This has resulted in delays to the highways maintenance 
programme and a backlog of repairs.  
A new ‘pot hole busters’ programme has started and additional resources are 
being sought to tackle the significant number of potholes now on the 
network.  Immediate changes have been made to maintenance operations, 
such as the introduction of ‘find and fix gangs’ and work is underway to 
review the provision of additional capacity, including innovative specialist 
machinery dedicated for use in Hampshire.

 Smart Motorway Scheme – A multi-disciplinary team has been established 
to manage the County Council’s engagement with the proposed schemes by 
Highways England to upgrade the southern M3 and the M27 to smart 
motorway standards. The team will liaise with Highways England to mitigate 
the risk of their works causing long-term disruption and traffic diversion onto 
the Hampshire network during the works periods which will extend over many 
months.

5. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman determinations 2017/18

5.1. There is a duty on the monitoring officer to report to the Authority / Executive on 
matters including maladministration or injustice under s5 and s5A Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 (LGHA).

5.2. Where complainants have exhausted the County Council’s complaints 
processes and remain dissatisfied, reference can be made to the Local 
Government Ombudsman (LGO). Complaints to the Ombudsman can be made 
regarding the exercise of the County Council’s administrative functions 
(maladministration), and/or its service provision (injustice in consequence of 
maladministration). Upon receipt of a complaint the Ombudsman makes a 
determination whether or not to investigate. Cases are only investigated where 
the Ombudsman has jurisdiction to do so, and where the Ombudsman 
considers it appropriate to investigate under the LGO Assessment Code.

5.3. Whist the exact number of references to the LGO regarding the County Council 
in 2017/18 is not yet known, in 2016/17 of 92 references received, only 21% of 
complaints and enquiries were upheld.  In 2015/16 of 117 references received, 
only 14% of complaints and enquires were upheld. 

5.4. In 2017/18 ten determinations were received from the LGO. In seven cases the 
LGO determined that there had been maladministration/injustice. In three cases 
the LGO determined that there had not been maladministration/injustice. More 
detail of individual decisions is provided in Appendix 4. As indicated above, the 
overwhelming majority of complaints made to the LGO regarding the County 
Council are judged by the Ombudsman to not require investigation, and it 
should be noted that the figure in relation to determinations for 2017/18 
represents only a limited number of references to the LGO.

Page 121



5.5. An annual report is published by the LGO in July each year with assessment 
decisions, including complaints received but not investigated. Evidence from the 
latest period available (2016/17) demonstrates that the LGO receives 
significantly fewer complaints regarding Hampshire County Council than those 
received relating to comparator councils, and also less findings of fault in cases 
where the Ombudsman accepts a complaint for investigation (around half the 
number of complaints received/upheld by the LGO compared to other 
comparator County Councils).

6. Equalities update
Inclusion and Diversity Standards Framework

6.1. The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on local authorities to prepare and publish 
one or more measurable and specific equality objective(s). 

6.2. The County Council’s Strategic Plan was refreshed in 2017/18 and alongside 
this the County Council’s equalities objectives were also reviewed to ensure 
alignment with the revised strategic priorities. This work included developing a 
more comprehensive set of Inclusion and Diversity Standards and establishing 
revised governance arrangements to oversee and advance work relating to 
inclusion and diversity.

6.3. Specific activities during 2017/18 include:

 The development of additional functionality in SAP to enable staff to 
record personal information relating to equalities, and for the County 
Council to run reports on the characteristics of the workforce.

 The development of a staff survey to assess staff perception of inclusivity 
and diversity, which will inform future activities. The results of the survey 
will be published in summer 2018.

 The hosting of events to progress understanding of equalities including 
the Inter-faith Lecture and an Autism Ambassadors conference 
showcasing the benefits of recruiting people on the autistic spectrum.

 The establishment of a community engagement forum to ensure that 
communities can influence strategic partnership work. This is initially 
focused on community safety and wellbeing but it is intended to widen 
the scope of the forum to other areas over time.

 The training of almost 500 Autism Ambassadors within Hampshire 
County Council departments, Hampshire schools and Hampshire 
communities to raise awareness and promote understanding of autism.  

 Hampshire County Council supported the Hampshire Pride event on 
Saturday 24 February 2018. The County Council provided market stall 
and street festival venues, as well as flying the rainbow flag. The event, 
which celebrates Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and other 
lifestyles, is in its fourth year since starting in 2014.

7. Conclusion

Page 122



7.1. This report and its supporting appendices demonstrate that the County Council 
performed well in the delivery of core public services during 2017/18, and in 
advancing work relating to inclusion and diversity. Complaints to the Local 
Government Ombudsman and findings of fault remain low in comparison to 
comparator councils.

 

Page 123



Integral Appendix A:

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic
growth and prosperity:

YES

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent
lives:

YES

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment:

YES

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities:

YES

Other Significant Links
Links to previous Member decisions:
Title Date

Serving Hampshire - Strategic Plan for 2017-2021 19 June 2017

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives 
Title Date

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.)

Document Location
None

Page 124



Integral Appendix B:

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS:

1. Equality Duty
1.1. The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 

Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited under the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, gender and sexual orientation) and 
those who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

1.2. Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
 The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing 

a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic;

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it;

 Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate 
in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low.

It is considered that this Report will have no adverse impact or cause no 
disadvantage to groups with protected characteristics.

2. Impact on Crime and Disorder:
2.1. The Serving Hampshire Plan supports reduced crime and disorder through 

priority 2 – People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent lives. 

3. Climate Change:
3.1. Priority 3 within the Serving Hampshire Plan states that People in Hampshire 

enjoy a rich and diverse environment. This will be achieved by conserving and 
using natural resources efficiently, protecting and improving Hampshire’s 
environment and quality of life, and maintaining the unique character of the 
county. 

Page 125



Appendix 1:

Appendix 1: sources of internal and external validation

The following table sets out the results of external and internal assessments and 
validations which apply to the County Council during 2017/18. 

Children’s Services
Assessment title Area External/internal Latest judgement
Inspection of 
services for 
children in need of 
help and 
protection, children 
looked after and 
care leavers

Full children’s 
social care 
inspection.

External – Ofsted Overall Good 2014.

Inspection of 
children’s homes 

Residential care 
homes inspection.

External – Ofsted All Children's 
Homes operated by 
Hampshire County 
Council which have 
undergone 
inspections in 
2017/18 have been 
rated as Good by 
Ofsted. In addition, 
all three Respite 
Homes operated by 
the County Council 
are also rated as 
Good by Ofsted. 
Hampshire County 
Council’s Secure 
Children’s Home 
requires 
improvement to be 
rated as Good.

Joint Targeted 
Local Authority 
Inspection (JTAI)

Front door and 
thematic inspection 
looking at an 
aspect of children’s 
social care and 
agency working.

External – Ofsted, 
Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of 
Constabulary, Care 
Quality 
Commission, 
Probation

No overall 
judgement given 
but positive letter of 
findings published 
February 2017: 
https://www.justicei
nspectorates.gov.u
k/hmic/publications/
joint-targeted-area-
inspection-of-the-
multi-agency-
response-to-abuse-
and-neglect-in-
hampshire/

Page 126

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-abuse-and-neglect-in-hampshire/


Appendix 1:

School Inspections Inspections of 
schools.

External – Ofsted Ongoing - as at the 
end of 2017/18, 
92% of schools 
were judged to be 
Good or 
Outstanding by 
Ofsted.

Supporting 
Families 
Programme

Independent 
evaluation.

Solent University An interim 
independent 
evaluation report of 
the programme 
published by Solent 
University in March 
2018 found 
sustained progress 
had been made by 
the programme 
since the last 
evaluation report in 
2015.

Social care self- 
assessment

Self evaluation is 
an integral element 
of inspection of the 
local authority 
children's services 
(ILACS) framework. 

Internal and 
external – shared 
with Ofsted prior to 
annual 
conversation with 
the Director of 
Children’s 
Services.

Annual – 2017 
completed.

Page 127



Appendix 1:

File audits of social 
work

Survey audit of 
case file work 
alongside the social 
worker. Undertaken 
to determine quality 
of practice and as a 
learning exercise.

Internal – however, 
it is a key element 
of the new ILACS 
framework. Ofsted 
require evidence of 
part of Annex A. 
Also multi-agency 
file audits are 
undertaken by 
Hampshire 
Safeguarding 
Children Board.

No overall 
judgement 
recorded as a 
learning exercise. 
However, findings 
in relation to quality 
of social work and 
outcomes for 
children and young 
people are 
ascertained and 
form key element 
of self assessment.
Audit actions are 
also spot checked 
and reported back 
to Children and 
Families 
Management Team 
(CFMT) and area 
District Manager. 
CFMT has a 
process of auditing 
the audits to assure 
themselves of the 
quality of audits 
being undertaken 
and address any 
issues, as well as 
providing a key 
window into social 
care practice at a 
higher level.

Social work 
observations

Observations 
carried out in year 
looking at social 
work practice and 
meeting 
observations.

Internal – however 
forms key element 
of ILACS and self 
assessment.

No individual 
judgements 
allocated.

Peer inspections Inspections based 
on the ILACS 
framework are 
carried out across 
districts on a 12 
month basis, led by 
the Area Director 
from the other area.

Internal No individual 
judgements 
allocated, but 
feedback is fed into 
district action plans 
which are 
monitored by 
CFMT.

Page 128



Appendix 1:

External 
moderation of 
Innovation 
programme

External 
moderation of 
Family Intervention 
Team as part of the 
innovation 
programme.

External – 
Department for 
Education (DfE)

Department for 
Education report 
published in March 
2017 shows an 
increased level of 
family engagement 
through the 
programme, from 
below 30% 
beforehand to 70%, 
with the 
introduction of the 
Family Intervention 
Team. 
DfE report can be 
found at 
https://www.gov.uk/
government/publica
tions/social-care-
innovations-in-
hampshire-and-the-
isle-of-wight.

Restorative Justice 
Council’s 
Restorative 
Services Quality 
Mark

Youth Offending 
Team.

External Restorative 
Services Quality 
Mark awarded
(April 2016).

Adults’ Health and Care
Adult Social Care 
Services Inspection

Inspection of in 
house provided 
service.  All 
Residential & 
nursing Homes
Community 
Response Team 
(at home 
reablement 
service)

External – Care 
Quality 
Commission

24 services were 
rated as ‘Good’, 
one as 
‘Outstanding’ and 
three as ‘Requires 
Improvement’.

Peer Review 
(ADASS sector led 
improvement)  

Peer Review 
Inspection follow-
up of Adults’ Health 
& Care Learning 
Disability 
Safeguarding 
practice

External  - SE 
ADASS

No overall 
judgement but 
services were 
found to be 
responsive with 
mature 
relationships and 
leadership.  No 
recommendations 
identified. 

Page 129

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-innovations-in-hampshire-and-the-isle-of-wight
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-innovations-in-hampshire-and-the-isle-of-wight
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-innovations-in-hampshire-and-the-isle-of-wight
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-innovations-in-hampshire-and-the-isle-of-wight
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-innovations-in-hampshire-and-the-isle-of-wight
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-innovations-in-hampshire-and-the-isle-of-wight


Appendix 1:

Court of Protection Review of council 
deputyship role – 
(management of 
the financial affairs 
of people who lack 
mental capacity) 

External – Office of 
the Public 
Guardian 

The report stated 
that the Local 
Authority is acting 
in the best interests 
of clients and has a 
system which 
should be a role 
model to other 
Local Authorities.

Economy, Transport and Environment
Accreditation to 
ISO9001:2015 – 
Quality 
Management

Economy, 
Transport & 
Environment (ETE) 
Department – 
whole department.

External – British 
Standards Institute 
(bsi)

Assessed every 
May and 
November. Last 
visit (Nov 2017) 
resulted in 
accreditation being 
successfully 
maintained.

Culture, Communities and Business Services
UKAS 
Accreditation

Hampshire 
Scientific and 
Asbestos 
Management 
services following 
an annual 
assessment.

External – UKAS 
(UK Accreditation 
Service)

UKAS provide 
accreditation that 
Hampshire’s 
asbestos testing 
and inspection 
activities are 
conducted to the 
standard set out in 
ISO 17020 and 
17025. 
The County 
Council was last 
assessed by UKAS 
in October 2016 
(accreditation 
retained).

Adventure 
Activities Licensing 
Services (AALS) 
Inspection

Hampshire Outdoor 
Centres.

External – 
Adventure 
Activities Licensing 
Authority

Calshot Activities 
Centre: Inspection 
17 May 2017; 
validation expires 
18 July 2019.
Hampshire & Cass 
Foundation 
Mountain Centre: 
validation expires 
29 June 2018.

Page 130



Appendix 1:

Learning Outside 
the Classroom 
(LOtC)

Hampshire Outdoor 
Centres.

External Calshot Activities 
Centre: issued 5 
June 2017, expires 
5 June 2019.

Adventuremark Hampshire Outdoor 
Centres.

External Calshot Activities 
Centre: issued 5 
June 2017; expires 
5 June 2019.
Tile Barn Outdoor 
Centre: expires 7 
May 2018.

National Indoor 
Climbing Award 
Scheme (NICAS)

Hampshire Outdoor 
Centres.

External Calshot Activities 
Centre: annual 
validation expires 
31 May 2018.

Green Flag Awards Outdoor 
accreditation for a 
variety of areas.

External The award was 
maintained for all 
five country parks 
in 2017. Awards 
are received on a 
staggered basis.

General Register 
Office – Stock and 
Security Audit 

Registration –
provides assurance 
to the GRO 
Compliance and 
Performance Unit.

External Latest report to 
GRO was 
November 2016 
and a ‘High’ rating 
was received.

Hyperactive 
Children’s Support 
Group (HACSG)

HC3S annual 
assessment to 
retain accreditation 
for removal of 
specific additives in 
primary school 
meals.

External Accreditation has 
been maintained, 
with the last update 
in November 2016.

Environmental 
Heath Officers 
assess the 
kitchens on a 
regular basis

HC3S. External EII Restaurant and 
Coffee Shop was 
accredited by 
Allergy UK for their 
Allergy Aware 
Scheme in January 
2017. 
(https://www.allergy
uk.org/get-
help/eating-out)

Page 131

https://www.allergyuk.org/get-help/eating-out
https://www.allergyuk.org/get-help/eating-out
https://www.allergyuk.org/get-help/eating-out


Appendix 1:

Annual kitchen 
audits

HC3S internal audit 
covering various 
aspects of catering 
operation i.e. 
health and safety, 
training, finance.

Internal Healthy Kitchen 
Assessments 
(HKA’s) are 
undertaken 
throughout the year 
and records are 
held of all those 
completed per 
academic year, 
Sept to Aug. For 
Sep 16 to Aug 17 
there were 453 
HKA’s completed. 

European Notified 
body Status for 
Non-automatic 
Weighing 
machines

Trading Standards. External - 
European Notified 
body Status for 
Non-automatic 
Weighing 
machines

Status maintained
(reported to 
Regulatory Delivery 
at the Department 
for Business, 
Energy & Industrial 
Strategy).

Corporate Services
Accreditation to 
ISO20000 Service 
Management and 
ISO27001 
Information 
Security for IT 
services 

IT services. External ISO20000 
maintained from 
February 2017 to 
February 2020. 
ISO27001 
maintained from 
August 2016 to 
August 2019.

Accreditation to 
ISO90001

Audit services. External – Institute 
of Internal Auditors

Maintained 2017-
18.

Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards

Audit services. External - Institute 
of Internal Auditors

Awarded for 2015-
2020.

Travellers audit Audits of insurance 
claim handling by 
Legal Services.

External – 
Travellers 
(insurance)

Maintained – 2018.

Data protection 
audit report

Data Protection. External - 
Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office

High Assurance – 
January 2017.

Lexcel inspection – 
law Society’s 
standard for legal 
practice

Legal Services. External – Lexcel Accredited until 
December 2018.

Page 132



Appendix 1:

Matrix award Hampshire County 
Council’s Careers 
and Employability 
Service.

External Quality 
accreditation 
awarded in 
recognition of the 
organisation’s high 
standards in 
providing education 
and careers advice 
and guidance for 
young people – 
Awarded in March 
2017.

Page 133



Appendix 2:

Appendix 2: corporate performance measures

This appendix sets out the corporate performance measures by department and 
strategic priority within the Serving Hampshire Strategic Plan. There are currently a 
total of 58 measures, of which 40 (69%) are new measures for 2017/18.

Measures will be kept under review and updated in line with departmental and 
corporate requirements. 

Adults’ Health and Care 

Outcome two: people in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent lives

 Number of clients aged 65 or over in a permanent residential or nursing care 
placement as of the last day of the quarter.

 Number of clients aged 18-64 in a permanent residential or nursing care 
placement as of the last day of the quarter.

 Number of days people were delayed within an acute hospital due to County 
Council Adult Social care (based on the monthly delayed transfer statistics 
published by NHS Digital. Outturn will be based on the performance of the last 
month in the quarter being reported).

 Percentage of clients who received a commissioned service from Adults’ 
Health and Care following hospital that started reablement (bed and home 
based) (figure will be based on the last month in the quarter).

 Percentage of calls resolved at first point of contact by the Contact 
Assessment and Resolution Team (target 70% of calls not passed on to 
teams).

 Smoking quits in routine and manual workers.
 Emergency hospital admissions for intentional self-harm.
 Percentage of NHS Health Checks delivered in eligible population (aged 40-

74).
 Prevalence of smoking in routine and manual occupation groups.
 People from routine and manual groups who have quit smoking through 

specialist smoking cessation services.
 Flu vaccine uptake based on Joint Committee on Vaccination and 

Immunisation (JCVI) recommendations.
 Proportion of children who are overweight and obese aged 4/5 years.
 Proportion of children who are overweight and obese aged 10/11 years.
 Variance for pupils in receipt of FSM GLD (Free school meals, good level of 

development) attainment compared with the national average.
 Percentage of alcohol users completing treatment.

Page 134



Appendix 2:

Outcome four: Hampshire enjoys strong, inclusive communities

 Percentage of adult carers who have as much social contact as they would 
like (Based on biannual national carers survey).

 The percentage of clients who felt they had control over their daily lives 
(Annual National user survey).

Culture, Communities and Business Services

Outcome one: Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic growth 
and prosperity

 Number of properties which have been given access to superfast broadband.

Outcome two: people in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent lives

 Monies recovered by Trading Standards on behalf of vulnerable residents.
 HC3S School Meal Take Up at Primary Schools.

Outcome three: Hampshire enjoys a rich and diverse environment

 CO2 Emissions from Local Authority operations.
 Number of visitors to principle countryside sites.

Children’s Services

Outcome one: Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic growth 
and prosperity

 Percentage Level 2 and Level 3 educational achievement at age 19.
 Percentage Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET).
 Percentage Good Level of Development.

Outcome two: people in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent lives

 Percentage of children achieving the expected standard in reading, writing 
and maths combined at KS2.

 GCSE measures - new percentage basics measure and new percentage 
Attainment 8.

 Percentage of disadvantaged pupils attaining the Basics and Attainment 8 
measures.

 Percentage of first assessment timeliness within 45 days.

Page 135



Appendix 2:

 Percentage of cases where child is seen in accordance with timescales 
specified within Child Protection Plan (14 days).

Corporate Services

Outcome one: Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic growth 
and prosperity

 Variance from the County Council's projected revenue budget (£ thousands).
 Working hours lost to sickness absence in the previous 12 months.
 Delivery of Transformation to 2019 efficiencies.

Outcome four: Hampshire enjoys strong, inclusive communities

 Number of level one and two complaints submitted electronically.
 Time taken to resolve complaints.

Economy, Transport and Environment

Outcome one: Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic growth 
and prosperity

 Percentage of the County Council's highway network requiring maintenance.
 Public satisfaction with highway maintenance.
 Value of Capital Programme spend associated with new or enhanced road 

infrastructure.
 Value of Capital investment secured in year through bidding and other 

development activities.
 Number of jobs created or safeguarded by businesses HCC has supported.
 Value of private sector investment into Hampshire secured as a result of the 

County Council’s direct support.
 Time taken to decide major planning applications.
 Customer satisfaction with Environment Services delivered as part of the 

service level agreements.

Outcome two: people in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent lives

 Number of people killed or seriously injured on Hampshire roads.
 Trend - Number of people killed or seriously injured on Hampshire roads.
 Trend - Number of cyclists killed or seriously injured on Hampshire roads.
 Trend - Number of elderly drivers killed or seriously injured on Hampshire 

roads.

Page 136



Appendix 2:

Outcome three: Hampshire enjoys a rich and diverse environment

 Percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill.
 Waste produced per household.
 Municipal recycling rate.
 Satisfaction with service received in HWRCs.
 Tonnes of waste managed by the County Council per annum.
 Tonnes of waste collected in HWRCs.
 Percentage of waste recycled in HWRCs.
 Percentage of waste landfilled in HWRCs.

Page 137



Appendix 3:

Appendix 3: 2017/18 key performance achievements

Serving Hampshire 
priority

Achievement

£12.9 million of funding was secured from Highways 
England which, together with a £6.6 million investment 
from the County Council, will enable improvements to 
Junction 9 of the M27 and Parkway South Roundabout, 
Whiteley.

Over £76 million has been committed to improving 
Hampshire’s transport infrastructure. The capital 
programme will deliver a range of schemes to benefit the 
county, covering highways and bridge maintenance, 
improvements to transport and road safety, and flood 
alleviation measures.

Outcome one: 
Hampshire maintains 
strong and sustainable 
economic growth and 
prosperity

Winchester’s Great Hall has continued to see a rise in 
total income following the introduction of an entry fee, 
with a 55% increase to overall spend per head from 
£1.97 in 2016 to £3.06 in 2017. 

Ofsted graded adult education, traineeships and 
apprenticeships 'good', following a full inspection 
(February 2018). The report confirmed that the quality of 
provision offered by the County Council and its education 
and training organisation partners is high.

The County Council, Hampshire Constabulary and the 
PA Consulting Group-led Argenti Care Technology 
Partnership have launched the GPS Tracker Scheme, 
providing an innovative way to help elderly people stay 
safe. The number of missing person ‘episodes’ for people 
taking part in the scheme has more than halved during 
the year to summer 2017, compared with previous years. 

Outcome two: people in 
Hampshire live safe, 
healthy and independent 
lives 

The Driver Skills Scheme 60+ has been recognised 
nationally, featuring on BBC’s The One Show, as well as 
the BBC’s online magazine earlier this year. The scheme 
provides a free, voluntary confidential skills appraisal to 
help people stay safe on the road for as long as possible.

Page 138



Appendix 3:

Serving Hampshire 
priority

Achievement

As part of the Argenti Telehealthcare Partnership, the 
County Council has become the first local authority to 
pilot a customised version of Amazon’s Echo device to 
help support more people to live independently. The 
technology is being trialled in the homes of 50 adult 
social care clients in Hampshire, with the project running 
throughout 2018. 

A new short-term reablement service at the Hampshire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in Basingstoke was 
introduced by the County Council. The Firs, located 
within the hospital site, provides specially adapted 
accommodation for up to 17 people who receive tailored 
support from social care staff. This additional capacity is 
helping to reduce the number of delayed hospital 
discharges by supporting more effective patient flow and 
discharge through improved multi-professional and multi-
agency working. 

All Children's Homes operated by Hampshire County 
Council inspected in 2017/18 have been rated as ‘good’ 
by Ofsted. In addition, all three Respite Homes operated 
by the County Council are also rated as ‘good’ by Ofsted. 

In 2017/18, 2,086 primary and 150 secondary places 
have been created for the academic year starting in 
September 2018 as part of the County Council’s school 
expansion programme. 

65% of Hampshire’s students taking Key Stage 2 
assessments in 2017 have achieved the expected level in 
reading, writing and mathematics, compared with 61% 
nationally. Hampshire has outperformed its statistical 
neighbours in its results.

Attainment in Hampshire secondary schools in 2017 
remained above national levels: 25% of pupils achieved 
the English Baccalaureate against 24% nationally; 68% 
of pupils achieved “The Basics” (a grade 9 to 4 in both 
English and mathematics) against 64% nationally.

Page 139



Appendix 3:

Serving Hampshire 
priority

Achievement

A-level results indicate that Hampshire students 
outperformed the national average. The percentage of A 
Level entries at Grade A*/A increased to 26% - an 
increase of one percentage point from 2016, and above 
the national average of 24%.

Over 98% of parents and carers applying for a reception 
class place for their child from September 2018 have 
been offered a place in one of their three preferred 
schools. 94% were allocated a place at their first choice 
of school, up from 91% last year. More than 14,600 
applications were received from Hampshire residents for 
school places in September 2018 reception year.

98% of parents and carers were offered a place for their 
child in one of their three preferred secondary schools for 
September 2018, with over 92% receiving their first 
choice of secondary school. Of pupils transferring from 
Infant to Junior school, almost 99% received a place at 
one of their preferred schools – with 97% obtaining a 
place at their first choice school (consistent with the 
previous year). 

CO2 emissions from Local Authority operations have 
fallen to 83,992 tonnes in 2016/17 from 86,684 the 
previous year (a reduction of 33.30% since 2011/12), 
keeping the County Council on track to meet its target of 
79,080 tonnes by 2025.

The Country Parks Transformation Programme 
successfully secured £2.85 million grant funding from the 
Heritage Lottery and Big Lottery Funds. Funding will be 
used across a range of heritage and conservation 
improvement programmes.

Outcome three: People 
in Hampshire enjoy a 
rich and diverse 
environment

All five of Hampshire’s country parks have maintained 
their Green Flag award in 2017. This international award 
demonstrates that the country parks have the highest 
possible environmental standards.

Page 140



Appendix 3:

Serving Hampshire 
priority

Achievement

The level of municipal waste sent to landfill has remained 
low in 2017/18, with the most recent data (January and 
February 2018) being 3.1%. This was better than the 
target of 5% and an improvement on the 5% level of 
municipal waste sent to landfill achieved in 2016/17, 
helping the County Council to minimise the use of landfill 
sites and the landfill tax charges that it would have 
otherwise needed to pay. 

£2.8 million is being invested in energy programmes, 
including LED Lighting, Electric Vehicles and Battery 
Technology, which will deliver at least £450k of revenue 
savings. The first phase of the LED lighting installation 
has been completed in 2017/18, with the rest of the 
programme to be completed in the next two years.

A Hampshire County Council care assistant has won 
Britain’s Best Care Home worker in the Great British Care 
Awards finals. In addition, two members of staff from 
Adults’ Health and Care were winners at the 2017 Social 
Worker of the Year Awards. 

In March 2017, the Department for Education published 
an independent evaluation of the Hampshire Innovation 
Programme evidencing: an increase in children’s social 
worker time spent with families from 34% to 58%; 
estimated notional savings through increased productivity 
of social workers of £9k per social worker; and an 
increase in the initial engagement of families from 30% to 
70% as a result of the new Family Intervention Team.

Outcome four: people in 
Hampshire enjoy being 
part of strong, inclusive 
communities

3,499 families have been identified or engaged with the 
Supporting Families Programme within Phase 2 at the 
end of March 2018. The programme remains on target to 
support 5,540 families by 2020.
An interim independent evaluation report of the 
programme published by Solent University in March 2018 
found sustained progress had been made by the 
programme since the last evaluation report in 2015. The 
latest report found evidence of systems supporting 
families being transformed and whole family working 
becoming embedded across Hampshire.

Page 141



Appendix 3:

Serving Hampshire 
priority

Achievement

Hampshire County Council Trading Standards have 
helped vulnerable residents recoup £327,230 from scams 
and mis-sold goods and services in 2017/18, contributing 
to more than £2 million that has been recovered since 
2009.

Page 142



Appendix 4:

Appendix 4: 2017/18 Local Government Ombudsman decisions 

Department Complaint Decision Remedy

Children’s 
Services

The County Council did not 
provide the complainants' 
children with the level of 
support needed. Requests for 
additional support in 2014 had 
not been actioned, and a 
reassessment of the children 
was flawed. 

Upheld Financial - £3,600.

Children’s 
Services

The County Council did not 
carry out an Annual Review of 
statement of special 
educational needs for a child. 
The County Council did not 
initiate or review a transition 
plan for post-16 education, and 
ended a statement of special 
educational needs without 
following proper procedure. 
When home educated, the 
child was not provided with 
provisions which the child was 
entitled to under the statement 
of special educational needs.

Upheld Financial - £1,750.
Apologise in writing.

Economy 
Transport 
and 
Environment

Following mineral extraction, 
the County Council had not 
applied enforceable conditions 
requiring a public footpath 
across the area and had not 
taken steps to improve water 
quality.

Partially 
upheld

(first 
element 
only)

Financial - £250.

Adults’ 
Health and 
Care

The County Council failed to 
properly assess the needs of 
two of the complainant's 
relatives for housing 
adaptations and provide a 
grant to carry them out. 

Not 
upheld

N/A

Page 143



Appendix 4:

Adults’ 
Health and 
Care

The financial contribution the 
County Council assessed the 
complainant should make 
towards their care was too 
high.

Not 
upheld

N/A

Adults’ 
Health and 
Care

The County Council failed to 
properly investigate 
safeguarding allegations 
against a care provider looking 
after the complainant's relative, 
and the County Council’s 
assessment of the relative as 
requiring nursing needs.

Not 
upheld

N/A

Children’s 
Services

The independent admission 
appeal panel that considered 
the complainant's appeal for a 
school place did not consider 
the appeal properly. 

Upheld Arrange new panel 
hearing.

Adults’ 
Health and 
Care

The County Council were 
contacted by the complainant 
in 2014 and 2015 to ask for 
support for two relatives and 
the County Council did not 
provide them with support. The 
Council started to support one 
after an assessment of her 
needs in October 2016 but 
stopped the support in May 
2017. No review was carried 
out when the support was 
stopped and there was no 
explanation given.

Upheld Undertake assessment 
and allocate social 
worker within 2 months 
of final decision.

Children’s 
Services

The County Council did not 
deliver some of the educational 
provision in the complainant's 
child's Educational, Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP).

Upheld Financial - £1600. 
Apologise to the family. 
Reassess and provide 
suitable provision. 

Page 144



Appendix 4:

Children’s 
Services

The County Council failed to 
take action to safeguard a 
family when it was reported 
that a child was putting the 
family at risk, and wrongly 
referred the complainant to the 
Disclosure and Barring 
Service.

Partially 
upheld

(second 
element 
only)

Obtain further details 
and investigate.

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 18 June 2018

Title: The Director of Culture, Communities and Business Services

Report From: Chief Executive

Contact name: John Coughlan, Chief Executive

Tel:  01962 845252 Email: john.coughlan@hants.gov.uk

1. Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that Cabinet:

1.1. Gives approval for the recruitment of a new Director of Culture, Communities 
and Business Services;

1.2. Notes that, further to this exercise, future steps may be taken, subject to 
Cabinet approval as required, for the re-configuration of certain key services 
within the Corporate Management Team.

2. Executive Summary 
2.1. The purpose of this paper is to seek Cabinet approval for the recruitment of a 

new Director of Culture, Communities and Business Services (CCBS) in light 
of the impending retirement of the current post holder. The paper also 
acknowledges that, while the case is established for the retention of the 
CCBS Department, hence the need for a replacement director, some further 
work may be required to re-position certain services in line with the future 
strategic direction of the County Council.

2. Contextual information
2.1. CCBS is an unusual department that is probably unique to Hampshire County 

Council in its scope, scale and variability. That is implied but not fully 
described by the department’s current title. The cultural services are now 
largely “outsourced” successfully to the Hampshire Cultural Trust but CCBS 
leads on the council’s “client side” oversight of the trust and its activities. The 
community element refers to a rich and complex set of services which range 
from the Library Service through to our Country Side Service (including the 
county’s exceptional network of country parks) and the separate Outdoor 
Service encompassing some significant statutory responsibilities such as 
rights of way. The business element is arguably the most transformed 

Page 147

Agenda Item 9

mailto:john.coughlan@hants.gov.uk


dimension to the department if not the council, including the Property 
Services (formerly County Architects), selling building related services to 
Hampshire and other schools and other public sector agencies, HC3S, one of 
the largest catering businesses in local government together with Hampshire 
Transport Management who work for Highways England and Skanska and 
County Supplies. These services are run on a strong commercial basis and 
have been key to the County council’s evolving business and income 
generation strategy. Most are at least self-sustaining now in their business 
models and this commercial dimension to CCBS has been central to the 
department’s success and integral to the council’s financial strategy.  The 
majority of these services make contributions to the overheads of the county 
council and generate a surplus. CCBS also encompasses Office 
Accommodation, including Facilities Management for the County Council’s 
estate and for our shared service partners in Police and Fire. CCBS is the 
organisational home for additional functions such as our responsibilities for 
the County Coroner, County Archives and Records, the Hillier Arboretum, 
Great Hall, Broadband and the Scientific Service.  In addition it manages 
Regulatory functions (much of which are statutory) such as Trading 
Standards and Registration.

2.2. The reasoning behind the establishment of this complex department is a 
matter for organisational history and has included a series of previous 
departmental mergers. However, what is clear is that the financial and 
delivery performance of the existing department has been consistently strong 
over many years. Whereas the Corporate Management Team (CMT) have 
repeatedly and closely considered the construct of the department, as should 
be expected in all circumstances but especially through the recent 
transformation programmes, CMT has concluded that in broad terms the 
structure remains fit for purpose for the County Council’s business and 
service arrangements.

2.3. The serving Director for CCBS has signalled her intention to retire towards 
the end of this calendar year, allowing time for an effective external 
recruitment campaign, subject to this decision. 

2.4. As members would expect, notwithstanding the reasoning explained in 
paragraph 2.2 for the success of CCBS, in the context of our continuing 
transformation work and the financial constraints upon the County Council, 
CMT has given prolonged and careful consideration as to whether this 
director post can be deleted. This is an exercise that applies to any new 
vacancy, with proportionately and necessarily more rigour applied to more 
senior posts. The reasoning is as follows.

2.5. Firstly, as described above, the unique scope and scale of the services 
included do require focussed leadership. In particular, that leadership requires 
a consistency of commercial acumen that can secure and progress the 
existing and future outward facing and commercial services that are 
increasingly key to the County Council’s medium term financial strategy. 
Secondly, the capacity of CMT as it stands would struggle to absorb the 
redistributed responsibilities that would follow the deletion of the post. CMT 
has seen a number of recent reductions in its size, the most recent being the 

Page 148



effective shift of the Director of Governance and Transformation into a part-
time capacity in order to absorb additional duties as the Deputy Director of 
Adults’ Health and Care. There is no question that if required to do so then 
CMT will absorb the redistributed responsibilities. There is also no question 
that in doing so future performance would be compromised and service and 
financial risks increased, through denuded senior capacity. Clearly this is a 
judgement call in the face of unprecedented financial challenges. However, it 
remains the case that the County Council, through CMT, continues to run an 
increasingly complex set of businesses to the value of circa £2 billion per 
annum and the removal of such core capacity in this way at this time would 
represent a false economy.

2.6. There remains one qualification to the proposal to retain a general status quo 
in the shape of CCBS pending recruitment. The nature of the changing shape 
of local government and our transformation work suggests that further work 
may be required in due course to amend the shape of existing departments. 

3. Finance
3.1.  There are no additional financial implications to this report as the proposed 

decision would work within existing costs. 

4. Consultation and Equalities
4.1. [EIA to be inserted].

Page 149



Integral Appendix A

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision for the good governance of the County Council.

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.)

Document Location
None

Page 150



Integral Appendix B

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS:

1. Equality Duty
1.1. The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited under the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, gender and sexual orientation) and those 
who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
a)  The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 

relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic;
b)  Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
c)  Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 

public life or in any other activity which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low.

1.2. Equalities Impact Assessment:
It is considered that this Report will have no adverse impact or cause no 
disadvantage to groups with protected characteristics. 

2. Impact on Crime and Disorder:
2.1. There is no direct impact as a result of this decision

3. Climate Change:
a) How does what is being proposed impact on our carbon footprint / energy 

consumption?
b) How does what is being proposed consider the need to adapt to climate 

change, and be resilient to its longer term impacts?

c) 3.1. There is no direct impact as a result of this decision

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Cabinet

Date: 18 June 2018

Title: Responsibilities for Executive Functions

Report From: Chief Executive

Contact name: Barbara Beardwell

Tel:   01962 845157 Email: barbara.beardwell@hants.gov.uk

1. Recommendations
1.1. That the allocation of responsibility for Executive Functions at Appendix One 

of this Report is noted by Cabinet, and reported to the County Council at the 
County Council meeting on 19 July 2018.

1.2. That the revised allocation of responsibilities for Scrutiny Functions contained 
at Appendix Two of this Report is recommended by Cabinet for approval by 
the County Council.

1.3. That composition of the Cabinet Advisory Sub-Committee for Economic 
Development also include the Executive Member for Education and Skills, 
Human Resources and Performance.  

2. Executive Summary 
2.1. Part 1, Chapter 17, Paragraph 1.3 of the County Council’s Constitution 

requires that changes to the Constitution consequential upon the allocation of 
responsibility for Executive Functions decided by the Leader, be reported to 
the Cabinet and then to the County Council.  The Leader has revised the 
appointment of elected Members to Cabinet.  This Report identifies their 
portfolios and the issues around which they can make decisions.

2. Contextual information
2.1. By virtue of Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) (‘the 

2000 Act’), and by virtue of operation of a Leader and Cabinet form of 
Executive Arrangements, Members of Cabinet are appointed by the Leader.  
Allocation of Executive Functions between individual Members of Cabinet is 
also the responsibility of the Leader

2.2. Responsibility for Executive Functions as allocated by the Leader is set out in 
Part 2, Chapter 3 of the Constitution.  Attached at Appendix One to this 
Report is a revised Part 2, Chapter 3 of the Constitution consequential upon 

Page 153

Agenda Item 10



the revised allocation of Executive Functions as determined by the Leader.  
Also attached at Appendix Two to this Report is a revised Part 2, Chapter 5 of 
the Constitution detailing allocation of responsibilities for Scrutiny Functions, 
consequential upon the revised allocation of Executive Functions.  

2.3. Consequential upon the revised Executive portfolio of the Executive Member 
for Education and Skills, Human Resources and Performance, in respect of 
skills, it is considered appropriate for the composition of the Cabinet Advisory 
Sub-Committee for Economic Development to include this portfolio 
accordingly.  

Page 154



Integral Appendix A

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION:

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision for the good governance of the County Council.

Other Significant Links
Links to previous Member decisions:
Title
None

Date

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives 
Title
None

Date

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.)

Document Location
None

Page 155



Integral Appendix B

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS:

1. Equality Duty
1.1. The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited under the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, gender and sexual orientation) and those 
who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
a)  The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 

relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic;
b)  Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
c)  Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 

public life or in any other activity which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low.

1.2  Equalities Impact Assessment:

It is considered that this Report will have no adverse impact or cause no 
disadvantage to groups with protected characteristics.

2. Impact on Crime and Disorder:
2.1. This Report raises no issues related to Crime and Disorder.

3. Climate Change:
a) How does what is being proposed impact on our carbon footprint / energy 

consumption?  N/A

b) How does what is being proposed consider the need to adapt to climate 
change, and be resilient to its longer term impacts?  N/A

Page 156



Appendix One

Part 2:  Chapter 3

Executive Functions
1. Responsibility for Executive Functions

1.1 The following table sets out the allocation of responsibilities within the 
Executive.  The portfolios are expressed in broad terms and may be 
varied, as provided for in the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 3 
Chapter 2 of this Constitution.

1.2 The principles of responsibility are as follows:

1.2.1 unless a function, power or responsibility is specifically reserved 
to the County Council or a Committee of the County Council, the 
Executive is authorised to exercise the function or power.

1.2.2 the Executive collectively will be responsible for those decisions 
falling appropriately to it.

1.2.3 all decisions will be recorded.

1.2.4 if a decision is made by an individual Member of the Executive, 
this will be stated openly and clearly.

1.2.5 the Executive or individual Members of the Executive will normally 
be making Key Decisions, as defined at Part 3, Chapter 2, 
Paragraph 3 of this Constitution, or decisions which are significant 
(even though they may not be Key Decisions).

Responsible Person Functions
Leader and Executive 
Member for Policy and 
Resources

Leader of the County Council and Chairing and 
managing the Executive and its work.

Overall strategy (including Serving Hampshire -
Strategic Plan), policy and co-ordination ‘across the 
board’, and the direction and utilisation of resources.

Primary departmental links – Corporate Services, 
and Culture, Communities and Business Services 
departments. 

Service area responsibilities – services within the 
above departmental remit areas; except where any 
area has been specifically allocated within the remit 

Page 157



Appendix One

of another Executive Member.

Functional areas – policy; strategic overview; overall 
performance; budget strategy; and personnel 
policies, including strategy for pay and 
remuneration, asset management, and IT services.

Monitoring and developing the sustainability of the 
natural environment and heritage of rural 
Hampshire.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with minority 
parties.

Executive Member for 
Economic Development

To assist the Executive Member for Policy and 
Resources.

Primary department links – Corporate Services, 
Economy, Transport and Environment  and Culture, 
Communities and Business Services Departments.

Service area responsibilities – within the remit of the 
above departments, and otherwise where relevant to 
the role. 

Functional areas – Procurement policies and 
outcomes; Corporate Services and Culture, 
Communities and Business Services business units 
and trading arrangements; business and trading 
arrangements in other departments where relevant; 
development of income generation policies across 
the board, energy related matters.

Monitoring and developing the County Council’s 
economy; co-ordinating and developing the County 
Council’s involvement in European projects 
sponsored or led by the Economy, Transport and 
Environment Department.

Advisory areas – to advise the Executive Member 
for Policy and Resources on revenue and capital 
related matters, property matters, and major land 
policy and disposal matters and programmes; to 
develop with the Director of Corporate Resources 
relevant financial plans for approval by the Executive 
Member for Policy and Resources.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on 
a proportional basis in consultation with minority 
parties.

Page 158



Appendix One

N.B.  This Executive Member is also Chairman 
of the Buildings, Land and Procurement Panel. 
(BLAPP).

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Lead Member 
for Children’s Services

Deputy Leader and Designated Lead Member for 
Children’s Services pursuant to Section 19 of the 
Children Act 2004.

Overall strategy and policy for all Children’s matters, 
i.e. Education, Children and Families pursuant to 
the requirements of the Children Act 2004.  
Approval of the Children and Young People’s Plan.

Primary departmental link – Children’s Services 
Department.

Service area responsibilities – all services within the 
remit of the above department.

Functional areas – statutory Social Services 
functions of the County Council relating to children, 
and all education functions exercisable by the 
County Council as Local Education Authority.

Responsibility for building relationships with 
businesses in Hampshire, the Corporate 
Apprenticeship Programme.  

Primary Department links – Corporate Services and 
Culture, Communities and Business Services 
Departments.

Service area responsibilities – services within 
Corporate Services and Culture, Communities and 
Business Services Departments relevant to the role 
and relevant external and International links.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with the minority 
parties.

Executive Member for 
Education and Skills, 
Human Resources and 
Performance

To support the Executive Lead Member for 
Children’s Services because of the breadth of the 
portfolio, by providing additional capacity at 
Executive level to drive improvements in school 
standards and educational attainment and liaising 
with schools, academies, colleges and other 
representatives of the education sector.

Overall strategy for human resources and corporate 
performance matters.

Page 159



Appendix One

Primary departmental links – Children’s Services 
and Corporate Services Departments.

Service area responsibilities – education and 
schools; co-ordination of post 16 skills policies and 
initiatives, human resources services within the 
remit of Corporate Services, including strategic 
workforce development and corporate performance.

Functional areas – working with the Executive Lead 
Member for Children’s Services to develop policy 
and strategy in relation to school improvements and 
educational standards; where agreed with the 
Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services 
determining infrastructure and school organisation 
matters, in accordance with policies and strategies 
agreed by the Executive Lead Member for 
Children’s Services, the Children and Young 
People’s Plan, and where relevant the Children’s 
Services Capital Programme.

Personnel policy formulation and skills development 
in relation to the County Council’s directly employed 
workforce (excluding schools), and review of 
corporate performance through the Annual 
Performance Report.

Determining appeals in respect of exceptions to 
school transport policies, other than appeals relating 
to the safety of walking routes.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with the minority 
parties.

N.B.  This Executive Member is also Chairman of 
the Education Advisory Panel, and Chairman of the 
Employment in Hampshire County Council 
Committee (EHCC)

Executive Member for 
Recreation and 
Heritage

Overall strategy and policy for libraries, museums, 
archives, arts, outdoor activities and leisure.

Primary departmental link – Culture, Communities 
and Business Services Department

Service area responsibilities – Recreation and 
Heritage Services within the Culture, Communities 
and Business Services Department

Page 160



Appendix One

Functional areas – libraries, museums, archives and 
records, country parks,countryside sites and nature 
reserves, sport and culture community support, 
recreation and all ancillary activities.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies, not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with the minority 
parties.

Executive Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health

Overall strategy and policy for all Adult Social Care 
matters.

Primary departmental links – Adults, Health and 
Care Department.

Service area responsibilities – all services within the 
remit of the above department including all duties 
relating to adult social care including safeguarding, 
including under (inter alia), the Care Act 2014, the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the Mental Health 
Act 1983.  Primary responsibility for liaison with the 
National Health Service.  

Functional areas – services for adults, including 
older people, learning disability, physical disability, 
mental health and all ancillary services. 

Appointments to relevant outside bodies – not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with the minority 
parties.

N.B.  This Executive Member is also Chairman of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Executive Member for 
Public Health 

Overall strategy and policy for Public Health matters 
and emergency planning.

Primary Department links – Adults’, Health and 
Care, and Children’s Services Departments.

Service area responsibilities - all services within the 
remit of the County Council’s public health 
responsibilities pursuant to the National Health 
Service Act 2006.

All duties relating to the County Council’s 
responsibilities to improve public health.  

Functional areas – Development of the County 
Council’s strategy and policy in relation to public 
health.  Functions related to the Supporting 
Troubled Families Programme.  Emergency 

Page 161



Appendix One

Planning functions pursuant to the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004.   

Appointments to relevant outside bodies – not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with the minority 
parties.

Executive Member for 
Communities, 
Partnerships and 
External Affairs including 
Brexit

Primary departmental links – Culture, Communities 
and Business Services and Corporate Services 
Departments.

Service area responsibilities – services within 
Corporate Services and Culture, Communities and 
Business Services Departments relevant to the role.

Functional Areas - Co-ordinating County Council 
representation on District Local Strategic Partnerships 
(LSP’s) and Community Safety Partnerships (CSP’s); 
Functions related to Community Safety, and Equalities.

Corporate oversight of the County Council’s Grant 
Management System.

Responsibility for the County Council’s relationships 
with the Interfaith Network, the Voluntary and 
Community Sector, and other partners. 

Corporate oversight of external and International 
policy and activities; championing the County 
Council’s relationship with external and 
international/national bodies.

Responsibility for the County Council’s relationship 
with the Armed Forces.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with minority 
parties.

Executive Member for 
Environment and 
Transport

Overall strategy and policy for all environmental 
matters (including planning and transportation, and 
mineral and waste), but excluding regulatory 
matters within the remit of the Regulatory 
Committee.

Primary departmental link – Economy, Transport 
and Environment Department.

Service area responsibilities – within the remit of the 
above department.

Functional areas - Transport strategy; spatial 

Page 162



Appendix One

planning; minerals and waste planning; waste 
management, re-cycling; highways and bridges; 
highway maintenance; winter maintenance; 
structural maintenance; passenger transport; traffic 
and road safety; highways lighting; integration of 
public and private transport; environmental and 
information services; flood and coastal erosion risk 
management; and all ancillary activities.

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on a 
proportional basis in consultation with the minority 
parties.

NB: This Executive Member is also the County 
Council’s Executive appointment to Project Integra 
Strategic Board Joint Committee and Solent 
Transport. 

Executive Member for 
Countryside and Rural 
Affairs

Overall strategy for promoting the Hampshire rural 
estate and partnerships with the focus on rural 
initiatives, to the benefit of Hampshire.  

Primary departmental links – Culture, Communities 
and Business Services and all departments of the 
County Council relevant to the responsibilities.

Service Area Responsibilites – Countryside 
(excluding Country Parks, Countryside Sites and 
Nature Reserves), Rural Affairs and Rights of Way.

Functional Areas – development of rural initiatives 
into the formulation of major policy.

Developing links with other agencies and other local 
authorities regarding the development of rural 
activity.  Overall responsibility for the County 
Council’s relationships with Parish, Town and 
District and Borough Councils.

Promoting Hampshire rural interests, countryside 
estate and partnerships with the focus on rural 
initiatives, to the benefit of Hampshire.  

Appointments to relevant outside bodies not on a 
proportionate basis in consultation with the minority 
parties

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Part 2:  Chapter 5

Scrutiny
Select (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committees

1. Responsibilities for Scrutiny Functions

1.1. The following table sets out the allocation of responsibilities within the 
Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees.

Committee Scope
Policy and Resources Coordinating Scrutiny:

To ensure resources of all scrutiny functions are 
being effectively targeted.

To ensure the outputs and outcomes of Scrutiny 
are having impact and being evaluated.

To prioritise topics for scrutiny task and finish 
groups (thematic reviews). 

To create an annual work programme.

To identify where each thematic review on the 
work programme should be considered.

To provide an annual report to the County 
Council outlining the effectiveness, outcomes 
and learning of the scrutiny function (i.e. Select 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committees and 
overall work programme).

To monitor the operation of the provisions 
relating to call-in and urgency submitting a 
report to Cabinet if necessary.

Scrutinising Corporate functions:

Page 165



Appendix 2

Reviewing how policies, services and decisions 
ensure effective use and management of all 
resources; how effectively is cross-
cutting/corporate policy developed, 
implemented and performance evaluated and 
improved.
 
Efficiency; Human Resources; Skills; 
Partnership Working (internal and external); 
Procurement; Relevant Financial Management 
(e.g. budget setting and monitoring final 
accounts, capital programme, capital receipts); 
asset and estate management; information 
management (including records management);  
communications; use of IT; Health and Safety; 
corporate policy and performance; Business 
Units; crime prevention; crime and disorder; 
Regulatory Services; Emergency Planning.

Reviewing and scrutinising decisions made, or 
other actions taken, in connection with the 
discharge of crime and disorder functions by the 
authorities responsible for crime and disorder 
strategies in relation to the County Council’s 
area, and making reports or recommendations 
with respect to the discharge of those functions.

Makings reports or recommendations to the 
County Council with regard to any matter which 
is a local crime and disorder matter in relation to 
a member of the County Council (i.e. a matter 
concerning crime and disorder which affects all 
or part of the electoral Division for which the 
Member is elected or any person who lives or 
works in that area).

Departments covered;

-  Corporate Services

-  Culture, Communities and Business Services

-  County Council as a corporate entity.

- Any other relevant functions in other 
Departments

Children and Young People Reviewing how the needs and interests of 
children and young people are met by all 
Departments, policies, services and decisions; 

Page 166



Appendix 2

and how performance is evaluated and 
improved.

Universal, targeted and specialist services for 
children and young people:  prevention and 
management of risk; social care; children’s and 
young people’s wellbeing; education – 
supporting and enabling learning for all children 
and young people; internal and external 
partnership working re Children and Young 
People; supporting parents and families; 
relevant financial management.

Departments covered:

- Children’s Services

- Culture Communities and Business Services

- Any other Department doing work with or 
impacting on children or young people.

Health and Adult Social 
Care

Reviewing how policies, services and decisions 
support safe, well, independent and 
continuously developing people (adults and 
older persons) and Public Health; how they are 
implemented and how performance is evaluated 
and improved.

Focus on how the County Council is contributing 
to delivering the Wellbeing agenda for adults; 
adult social care; promoting independence and 
quality of life for older people; healthy and safe 
families; Public Health: the integration of Health 
and Care services and relevant financial 
management.

Scrutiny of the provision and operation of health 
services in Hampshire. 

Departments covered:

- Adults’ Health and Care

- Culture, Communities and Business Services

- Any other relevant functions in other      
Departments

Page 167



Appendix 2

Culture and Communities  Reviewing how policies, services and decisions 
support thriving culture and sustainable, 
inclusive communities and rural Hampshire; 
how they are implemented and how 
performance is evaluated and improved.

Culture and recreation; heritage; community 
development; countryside and rights of way; 
developing sustainable communities; supporting 
diversity and inclusion; community engagement 
and consultation; lifelong learning for adults; 
relevant financial management.

Departments covered:

- Culture Communities and Business Services

- Corporate Services

- Adults’ Health and Care

- Environment

- Any other relevant functions in other 
Departments.

Economy, Transport and 
Environment

Reviewing how policies, services and decisions 
support a positive and sustainable environment, 
accessibility to services for all and effective 
management of natural resources; how they are 
implemented and how performance is evaluated 
and improved.

Passenger transport; transport policy; road 
infrastructure; access; protection of the 
environment; flood and coastal erosion risk 
management; economic development; 
sustainable development; climate change; land 
management; waste management; relevant 
financial management. 

Departments covered:

- Environment

- Culture, Communities and Business Services

- Children’s Services

Page 168



Appendix 2

- Any other relevant functions in other Depts   

Specific Functions

1.2. Policy development and review

Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees may:

1.2.1. assist the County Council and the Executive, at their request, to 
develop the budget and policy framework by in-depth analysis 
of policy issues

1.2.2. conduct research in the analysis of policy issues and possible 
options

1.2.3. question members of the Executive or Senior Officers, about 
their views on issues and proposals affecting their remit

1.2.4. liaise with external organisations as appropriate

1.3. Scrutiny

Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees may:

1.3.1. review and scrutinise Executive decisions

1.3.2. review and scrutinise the County Council’s service delivery and 
performance, performance concerning its policy objectives, 
performance targets and particular service areas

1.3.3. question members of the Executive or Senior Officers about 
their decisions and performance; whether compared to service 
plans and targets, or related to particular decisions, initiatives or 
projects

1.3.4. make recommendations to the Executive or County Council 
arising from the scrutiny process

1.3.5. review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in 
the area; invite reports from them by asking them to address the 
relevant Select Committee

1.3.6.  question and gather evidence from people and organisations 
that can inform the scrutiny process.

1.4. Health Scrutiny Functions of the Health and Adult Social Care 
Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee

Page 169



Appendix 2

The Health and Adult Social Care Select (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee will have the following additional roles and functions in 
relation to health matters:

1.4.1. To review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, 
provision and operation of the health service in Hampshire.

1.4.2. To make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies 
and to relevant health service providers (as defined in the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Board and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013) on any matter that it has reviewed 
or scrutinised.

1.4.3. To act as consultee to relevant NHS bodies or relevant health 
service providers on issues of:

a) Substantial developments of the health service in Hampshire;             
and

b) Any proposals to make any substantial variation to the provision 
of such services.

1.4.4. Subject to the approval of the County Council to report 
contested proposals for major health service changes to the 
Secretary of State;

1.4.5. To scrutinise the social care services provided or commissioned 
by relevant NHS bodies or relevant health service providers 
exercising local authority functions under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006;

1.4.6. To review or scrutinise health services commissioned or 
delivered in Hampshire within the framework set out below:

a) Arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies or relevant health 
service providers to secure hospital and community health 
services to the inhabitants of Hampshire;

b) The provision of such services to those inhabitants;

c) The provision of family health services, personal medical 
services, personal dental services, pharmacy and NHS 
ophthalmic services;

d) The public health arrangements in Hampshire; e.g. 
arrangements by the County Council for public health promotion 
and health improvement (including addressing health 
inequalities) in Hampshire.

Page 170



Appendix 2

e) The planning of health services in Hampshire, including plans 
setting out a strategy for improving both the health of the local 
population and the provision of health care to that population; 
and

f) The arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies and relevant 
health service providers for consulting and involving patients and 
the public.

1.5. Delegation of Health Scrutiny Functions 

1.5.1. The County Council may delegate health scrutiny powers to a 
joint Scrutiny Committee and appoint Members to that 
Committee when there is an intention by a relevant NHS body 
or relevant health service provider to consult on a substantial 
variation or development to health services that extend beyond 
Hampshire.

1.5.2. The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chairman of the 
County Council and the Chairman of the Health and Adult 
Social Care Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee, may 
agree to the formation of such a committee, its membership and 
terms of reference, if there is insufficient time for that decision to 
be taken by the County Council, subject to the details being 
submitted for approval to the next meeting of the County 
Council.

1.5.3. Any joint committee so convened should work to a specific 
proposal and with clear terms of reference, which would be 
restricted to consideration of and agreeing a response to the 
proposal on which the committee had been consulted.

1.6. Petitions

Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees must, when required to do 
so by a petition organiser, review the adequacy of the steps taken or 
proposed to be taken in response to a petition.

1.7. Finance

Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees may exercise overall 
responsibility for any money made available to them.

1.8. Annual Reports

1.8.1. The Policy and Resources Select (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee will submit to the County Council as soon as 
reasonably practicable in each financial year an account of the 
activities and outcomes of the scrutiny function for the last year 
and a tentative list of intended scrutiny inquiries for the following 

Page 171



Appendix 2

year.

1.8.2. The Health and Adult Social Care Select (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee will submit to the County Council as soon 
as reasonably practicable in each financial year an account of 
the activities and outcomes of the health scrutiny function for 
the last year and a tentative list of intended health scrutiny 
inquiries for the follow year.

1.9. Proceedings of Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees

Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committees will conduct their 
proceedings in line with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure, set out 
in Part 3, Chapter 3 of this Constitution.

Page 172


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	Cabinet DR - Item 6 - Transformation to 2019 Report No. 3
	Cabinet DR - Item 7 - Adults, Health and Care - Vision and Strategy
	Cabinet DR - Item 8 - Developing a Strategic Partnership for Public Health between HCC and the IOW Council
	Cabinet DR - Item 9 - Supporting Children's Services in Buckinghamshire
	Cabinet DR - Item 10 - Constitutional Matters

	6 End of Year Financial Report 2017/18
	7 Medium Term Financial Strategy
	8 Serving Hampshire - 2017/18 Performance Report
	9 The Director of Culture, Communities and Business Services
	10 Changes in Responsibilities for Executive Functions
	Responsibility for Executive Functions - Appendix 1
	Responsiblity for Executive Functions - Appendix 2


